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i s s u e s . I f NS R a i l were so a f f e c t e d , i t c o u l d r e c e i v e d a i l y 
i n d e m n i t i e s from n o n - a f f e c t e d p a r t i e s ; i f p a r t i e s o t h e r t h a n NS R a i l 
were a f f e c t e d , i t c o u l d be r e q u i r e d to pay i n d e m n i t i e s v.o t h o s e 
p a r t i e s . I f NS R a i l were r e q u i r e d to pay the maximum aunount of 
i n d e m n i t i e s r e q u i r e d of i t under these agreements - -am event c o n s i d e r e d 
u n l i k e l y a t t h i s t i m e - - s u c h l i a b i l i t y s h o u l d not exceed a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
$85 m i l l i o n . 

OPERATING REVENUES - NS R a i l ' s t o t a l r a i l w a y o p e r a t i n g 
revenues w e r e $4 ,1 b i l l i o n i n 1996. Revenue, sh ipments and revenue 
y i e l d by p r i n c i p a l r a i l w a y o p e r a t i n g revenue s o u r c e s f o r t h e p a s t f i v e 
y e a r s a r e s e t f o r t h i n the f o l l o w i n g t a b l e : 

Year Ended December 31, 

Pr inc ipal Sources of 
Railway Operating 
Revenues 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

(Revenues i n mi l l i ons , shipments i n thousands, revenue y i e l d in do l lars per shipments) 

COAL 
Revenues 

% of to ta l revenues 
Shipments 

% of to ta l shipments 
Revenue Y i e l d 

$ 1 ,304.7 
31.8% 

,309.6 
28.8% 

996 

$ 1,267.8 
31.6% 

1,266.8 
28.5% 

$ 1,001 

$ 1,290.2 
32.9% 

1,274.2 
29.6% 

$ 1.013 

$ 1,239.2 
33 .3% 

1,208.7 
30.0% 

$ 1.025 

$ 1,324.1 
35.7% 

1,291.9 
32.7% 

$ 1,025 

CHEMICALS 
Revenues 
% of t o t a ] revenues 

Shipments 
% of t o t a l shipments 

Revenue Y i e l d 

555.9 
13.6% 

378.6 
8.3% 

$ 1,468 

536.5 
13.4% 
368.3 

8.3% 
$ 1,457 

534.7 
13.7% 

370.7 
8.6% 

$ 1,442 

499.0 
13.4% 
341.6 

8.5% 
$ 1,461 

498.9 
13 .4% 

327.4 
8.3% 

$ 1,524 

PAPER/FOREST 
Revenues 
% of t o t a l revenues 

Shipments 
% of t o t a l shipments 

Revenue Y i e l d 

$ 513.0 
12.5% 

438.2 
9.6% 

$ 1.171 

$ 537.3 
13.4% 

459,1 
10.3^6 

$ 1.170 

$ 521.8 
13.3% 

464.2 
10.8% 

$ 1.124 

$ 522.2 
14.0% 

466.3 
11.6% 

$ 1.120 

$ 517.2 
13 .9% 

465.4 
11.8% 

$ 1.111 

AUTOMOTIVE 
Revenues 
% of t o t a l revenues 

Shipments 
% of t o t a l shipments 

Revenue Y i e l d 

4 8 8 . 7 
11.9% 

354.3 
7.8% 

1,379 

449.1 
11.2% 

328.4 
7.4% 

1,368 

$ 429.0 
11.0% 

317.2 
7.3% 

$ 1,352 $ 1 

425.8 
11.4% 

317.8 
7.9% 

,340 

$ 391.6 
10.6% 

287.7 
- .3% 

$ 1,361 

AGRICULTURE 
Revenues 
% of t o t a l revenues 

Shipments 
% of t o t a l shipments 

Revenue Y i e l d $ 1 

393 .3 
9.6% 

376.3 
8.3% 

, 045 

$ 393.7 
9.8% 

391.1 
8.8% 

$ 1,007 

379.5 
9.7% 

382,5 
8.9% 

992 

357.0 
9.6% 

359.1 
8.9% 

994 

344.4 
9.3% 

352.4 
8.9% 

977 
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Year Ended December 31, 
Principal Sources of 
Railwav Operating 
Revenues 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

{Revenues in millions, shipments in thousands, revenue y i e l d in dollars r,er shipments) 

METALS/CONSTRUCTION 

Revenues $ 358.0 $ 353 .1 $ 334.2 S 310.9 $ 289.4 
% of total revenues 8.7% 8.8% 8.5% 8.3% 7.8% 

Shipments 364.9 372.3 371.3 339.6 312.8 
% of total shipments 8.0% 8.3% 8.6% 8.4% 7.9% 

Revenue Yield $ 981 $ 948 $ 900 $ 915 $ 925 

INTERMODAL 
(Trailers, Containers and 
RoadRailers) 
Revenues $ 487.4 $ 474.3 $ 428.7 $ 373.5 $ 343.5 
% of total revenues 11.9% 11.8% 10.9% 10.0% 9.3% 

Shipments 1,331.0 1,262.6 1,127.3 994.7 916.2 
% of total shipments 29.2% 28.4% 26.2% 24.7% 23.1* 

Revenue Yield $ 366 $ 376 $ 380 $ 376 $ 375 

Total Railway Operating 
Revenues $4,101.0 $4,011.8 $3,918.1 $3,727.6 $3,709.1 

Total Railway Shipments 4,552.9 4,448.6 4,307.4 4,027.8 3,953,8 

Note: Revenues previously reported as 'other railway revenues' (principal ly 
switching and demurrage) have been allocated to revenues reported for each 
commodity group. 

Shipments include general merchandise and coal r a i l carloads, intermodal r a i l 
and RoadRailer(RT) units . 

COAL TRAFFIC - Coal, coV.e amd iron ore—most of which i s 
bituminous coa l - - i s NS R a i l ' s principal commodity group, NS Rai l 
originated 116,8 mill ion tons of cocl , coke and iron ore in 1996 amd 
hamdled a total of 130.2 million tons. Originated tonnage increased 
2 percent from 114.2 million tons in 1995, and total tons hamdled 
increased 4 percent from 125.1 million tons in 1995. Revenues from 
coal, coke and iron ore account for about 32 percent of NS R a i l ' s total 
operating revenues. 

The following table shows total coal, coke amd iron ore 
tonnage originated on l ine, received from connections amd hamdled for 
the past f ive years: 

Originated 
Received 

Handled 

Tons of Coal, Coke and Iron Ore (Millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

116.8 114.2 114,8 111,9 117. 9 
13.4 10.9 11.1 6.1 6.5 

130.2 125.1 191 ̂ 25.9 118.0 124,4 



Of the 116.8 m i l l i o n tons of coal, coke and i r o n ore 
o r i g i n a t e d on NS Rail's lines i n 1996, the approximate breakdown by 
o r i g i n state was as follows: 

O r i g i n State 

West V i r g i n i a 
V i r g i n i a 
Kentucky 
klabaitta 
I l l i n o i s 
Tennessee 
Indiama 
Ohio 

New York 

To t a l 

M i l l i o n s of Tons 

40, 
35, 
26.8 
5,4 
5 
1, 
0, 
0.5 
0.2 

116.8 

Of t h i s o r i g i n a t e d coal, coke amd i r o n ore, approximately 
26.9 m i l l i o n tons moved f o r export, p r i n c i p a l l y through NS Rail's p i e r 
f a c i l i t i e s at Norfolk (Lamberts Point), V i r g i n i a ; 19.7 m i l l i o n tons 
moved to domestic and Canadiam steel industries- 62.5 m i l l i o n uons of 
steam coal moved t o e l e c t r i c u t i l i t i e s ; and 7.9 m i l l i o n tons moved to 
other i n d u s t r i a l and miscellaneous users. 

NS R a i l moved 8.7 m i l l i o n tons of originated coal, coke and 
i r o n ore to various docks on the Ohio River and 3.6 m i l l i o n tons to 
various Lake Erie p o r t s . Other than coal for export, v i r t u a l l y a l l coal 
handled by NS R a i l was terminated i n states s i t u a t e d east of the 
M i s s i s s i p p i River. 

Total coal handled through a l l system ports i n 1996 was 
41.7 m i l l i o n tons. Of t h i s t o t a l , 71 percent moved through the p i e r 
f a c i l i t i e s at Lamberts Point, I n 1996, t o t a l tonnage hamdled at 
Lamberts Point, I n c l u d i n g coastwise t r a f f i c , was 29.5 m i l l i o n tons, a 
2 percent increase from the 28.9 m i l l i o n tons hamdled i n 1995, 

The quamtities of NS R a i l export coal hamdled through Lamberts 
Point f o r the past f i v e years were as follows: 

Export Coal through Lamberts Point 
( M i l l i o n s of tons) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Originated 26.3 25,4 
Hamdled 26.4 25.5 

23,9 
24,1 

24,6 
24,9 

30.8 
31.2 

See the discussion of coal t r a f f i c , by type of coal, i n 
Part I I , Item 7, "Mamagement' s Discussion and Analysis," on page 26 
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MERCHANDISE RAIL TRAFFIC - The merchamdise t r a f f i c group 
consists of Intermodal amd five major commodity groupings (Paper/Forest; 
Chemicals; Automotive; Agriculture; and Metals/Construction), Total 
NS Rai l merchandise revenues in 1996 were $2.8 b i l l i o n , a 2 percent 
increase over 1995. Merchandise carloads handled in 1996 were 
3.24 million, compared with 3.18 million handled in 1995, am increase of 
2 percent. 

In 1996, 106.2 million tons of merchamdise freight, or 
approximctely 68 percent of total r a i l merchandise tonnage hamdled by 
NS Rail, originated on lintj. The balamce of NS Rail's merchamdise 
t r a f f i c was received from connecting carriers (mostly railroads, with 
some truck, water amd highway as well), usually at i n t e r t e r r i t o r i a l 
gateways. The principal interchange points for NS Rail-served received 
t r a f f i c included Chicago, Memphis, New Orleanis, Cincinnati, Kamsas City, 
Detroit, Hagerstown, St, Louis/East St. Louis, and Lo u i s v i l l e . 

Revenues in four of the six market groups comprising 
merchamdise t r a f f i c improved in 1996 over 1995. The biggesc gains were 
in Automotive, up $39 6 million; Chemicals, up $19,4 million; amd 
Intermodal, up $13.1 million. 

See the discussion of merchandise r a i l t r a f f i c by commodity 
group in Part I I , Item 7, "]«amagement's Discussion and Analysis,' on 
paje 26, 

OPERATING STATISTICS - The following taOjle sets forth certain 
s t a t i s t i c s relating to NS Rail's operations for the past five years: 

Year Ended December 31, 

1995 1994 1993 1996 1992 

Revenue ton miles 
(billions) 

Freight t r a i n miles 
traveled (millions) 

Revenue per ton mile 
Revenue tons per t r a i n 
Revenue ton miles 
per man-hour worked 

Percentage ratio of 
railway operating 
expenses to railway 
operating revenues 

129.8 

49.4 

126.'6 

48.5 
$0,0316 $0,0317 
2,625 2,611 

2,764 

71.6 

2,679 

73.5 

122.3 

46,0 
$0,0320 

2,655 

2,579 

73.2 

111,6 

43 ,3 

107.6 

41.1 
$0,0334 $0.0345 
2,577 2,618 

2,304 

75.3 

2,184 

75.0 

FREIGHT RATES - In 1996, NS Rail continued i t s reliamce on 
private contracts and exempt price quotes as the predominamt pricing 
mechamism. Thus, a major portion of NS Rail's freight business i s not 
economically regulated by the govemment. In general, market forces 
have been sxibstituted for govemment regulation and now are the primary 
determinant of r a i l service prices. 
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In 1996, NS Rail was found by the STB to be "revenue 
adequate" based on results for the year 1995. A railroad i s "revenue 
adequate" under the applicadjle law when i t s retum on net investment 
exceeds the r a i l industry's composite cost of capital. 

The revenue adequacy measure i s one of several factors 
considered by the STB when i t i s called upon to rule on the 
reasonaU:>leness of regulated rates. 

PASSENGER OPERATIONS - Regularly scheduled passenger 
operations on NS Rail's railroads' lines consist of Amtrak trains 
operating between Alexandria amd New Orleans, amd between Charlotte amd 
Selma. North Carolina, Former Amtrak operations between East St, Louis 
amd Centralia, I l l i n o i s , were discontinued by Amtrak on November 3, 
1993. Commuter trains continued operations on the NS Rail line between 
Mamassas amd Alexamdria under contract with two transportation 
commissions of the Commonwealth of Virginia, providing for rental amd 
for reimbursement of related expenses incurred by NS R a i l . During 
1993, a lease of the Chicago to Manhattam, I l l i n o i s , line to the 
Commuter Rail Division of the Regional Transportation Authority of 
Northeast I l l i n o i s replaced am agreement under which NS Rail had 
provided commuter r a i l service for the Authority, 
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RAILWAY PROPERTY: 

EQUIPMENT - As of December 31, 1996, NS Rail owned or leased 

the f o l l o w i n g u n i t s of equipment: 

Number of Units 
Capacity 

of Equipment Owned* Leased Total 
Capacity 

of Equipment 

Type of Equipment 

Locomotives: 
M u l t i p l e purpose 
Switching 
A u x i l i a r y u n i t s 

1,974 
119 
65 

0 
0 
0 

1.974 
119 
65 

(Horsepower) 
6,149,850 

174,450 
0 

Total locomotives 2,158 0 2,158 6,324,300 

Freight Cars: 
Hopper 
Box 
Covered Hopper 
Gondola 
Fl a t 
Caboose 
Other 

24,933 
19,976 
12,489 
24,170 
4,078 

231 
1,111 

41 
428 

2,272 
105 
819 

0 
4 

24,974 
20,404 
14,761 
24,275 
4,897 

231 
1,115 

(Tons) 
2,643,019 
1,584,306 
1,549,737 
2,584,134 

352,762 
0 

88,728 

Total f r e i g h t cars 86,988 3,669 90,657 8,802,686 

Other: 
Work equipment 
Vehicles 

6,959 
3,698 

5 
0 

6,964 
3,698 

Highway t r a i l e r s 
and containers 

Miscellameous 
2,348 
1,518 

3,181 
1,199 

5,529 
2,717 

Total other 14,523 4 ,385 
S » S S S 3 S 3 

18,908 
: s s s s s s s 

Includes equipment leased to outside parties and equipment subject to 
equipment t r u s t s and capitalized leases. 
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The following ta±>le indicates the number and year of purchase 
fo r locomotives and f r e i g h t cars owned by NS Rail at December 31, 1996: 

Yeivr B u i l t 

1986- 1980- 1979 & 
1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 1985 Before Total 

Locomotives: 
Number of 

u n i t s 120 125 25 31 55 452 426 924 2,158 
Percent of 

f l e e t 5.6 5.8 1.2 1.4 2.6 21.0 19.7 42.7 100.0 

Freight cars: 
Number of 

u n i t s 871 932 778 930 579 4,918 10 210 67,770 86,988 
Percent of 

f l e e t 1.0 1.1 0.9 1.1 0.7 5.7 11.7 77.8 100.0 

The average age of the f r e i g h t car f l e e t at December 31, 1996, 
was 22,3 years. During 1996, 7,485 'reight cars were r e t i r e d . As of 
December 31, 1996, the average age of the locomotive f l e e t was 
15.4 years. During 1996, 105 locomotives, the average age of which was 
24,4 years, were r e t i r e d . Since 1988, more tham 23,000 coal cars have 
been rebodied. As a r e s u l t , the remaining serviceadsility of the f r e i g h t 
car f l e e t i s greater tham may b^ i n f e r r e d from the high percentage of 
f r e i g h t cars b u i l t i n e a r l i e r years. 

Ongoing f r e i g h t car amd locomotive maintenamce prograuns are 
intended to ensure the highest standards of safety, r e l i a t b i l i t y , 
customer s a t i s f a c t i o n and equipment marketaJaility, I n past years, the 
bad order r a t i o r e f l e c t e d the storage of certaix» types of cars which 
were not i n high demamd. The r a t i o has declined more recently as a 
r e s u l t of a d i s p o s i t i o n prograun for u n d e r u t i l i z e d , unservicea±>le amd 
over-age revenue cars. I n t h i s connection, am orderly d i s p o s i t i o n of 
17,000 f r e i g h t cars, begun i n October 1994, was substamtially conplete 
at the end of 1996. 

Annual Average Bad Order Ratio 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Freight Cars (excluding cabooses): 
NS R a i l 4.8% 5.8% 6.7% 7.3% 7.6% 
A l l Class I r a i l r o a d s 5.0* 6.0* 7.3 7.1 7.5 

Locorotives: 
NS R a i l 4.5 4.7 4,7 4.3 4,4 

* I n 1996 amd 1995, the industry bad order r a t i o was as of June 1. 
P r i o r years' industry r a t i o s were based on a monthly average,^ 
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TRACKAGE - A l l NS Rail trackage i s stamdard gauge, and the 
r a i l i n approximately 95 percent of the main line trackag^e (including 
f i r s t , second, third and branch mam tracks, a l l excluding trackage 
rights) ranges from 100 to 140 pounds per yard. Of the 22,369 miles of 
track maintained as of December 31, 1996, 15,877 were laid with welded 
r a i l , 

The density of t r a f f i c on running tracks (main line trackage 
plus passing tracks) during 1996 was as follows: 

Gross tons of 
freight carried 
per track mile 

(Millions) 
Track miles Percent 

of running tracks* of total 

0-4 
5-19 
20 a.nd over 

4,837 
4,682 
6,529 

30 
29 
41 

100 16,048 

* Excludes trackage rights. 

The following table summarizes certain information about track 
roadway additions and replacements during the past five years: 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Track miles of r a i l i'-.stalled 401 403 480 574 660 
Miles of track surfac-sd 4,686 4,668 4,760 5,048 5,690 
New crossties installed (millions) 1.9 2.0 1.7 1.6 1.9 

MICROWAVE SYSTEM - The NS Rail microwave system, consisting of 
6,960 radio path miles, 398 active stations and 5 passive repeater 
stations, provides communications between most operating locations. The 
m.icrowave system i s used principally for voice ^ smmunications, VHF radio 
control c i r c u i t s , data amd facsimile tramsmissions, t r a f f i c control 
operations, AEI data tramsmissions amd relay of intelligence from 
defective equipment detectors. 

TRAFFIC CONTROL - Of a total of 12,762 road miles operated by 
NS R a i l , excluding trackage rights over foreign lines, 5,400 road miles 
are governed by centralized t r a f f i c control systems (of which 23 0 miles 
are controlled by data radio from 14 microwave s i t e locations) amd 
2,600 road miles are equipped for automatic block system operation. 

COMPUTERS - Data processing f a c i l i t i e s connect the yards, 
terminals, transportation offices, rolling stock repair points, sales 
offices amd other key system locations to the central computer complex 
in Atlamta, Ga. Operating amd t r a f f i c data are compiled and stored to 
provide customers with information on their shipments throughout the 
system. Data processing f a c i l i t i e s are capable of providing current 
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infonnation on the loc a t i o n of every t r a i n and each car on l i n e , as we l l 
as related w a y b i l l and other t r a i n and car movement data. A d d i t i o n a l l y , 
these f a c i l i t i e s a f f o r d substamtial capacity f o r , and are u t i l i z e d to 
assist mamagement i n the performance of, a wide v a r i e t y of functions and 
services, including p a y r o l l , car and revenue accounting, b i l l i n g , 
material management a c t i v i t i e s and controls, amd special studies. 

OTHER - NS Rail has extensive f a c i l i t i e s for support of 
railx-oad operations, including f r e i g h t depots, car construction shops, 
maintenamce shops, o f f i c e buildings, and signals and communications 
f a c i l i t i e s . 

ENCUMBRANCES - Certain r a i l equipment i s subject to the p r i o r 
l i e n of equipment finamcing obligations amounting to $589.9 m i l l i o n as 
of December 31, 1996, amd $540.4 m i l l i o n as of December 31, 1995. I n 
addition, a portion of NS Rail's properties i s subject to lie n s 
ser-uring as of December 31, 1996, amd 1995, approximately $1.5 m i l l i o n 
and $27.5 m i l l i o n of mortgage debt, respectively. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES - Capital expenditures f o r road, 
equipment and other property f or the past f i v e years were as follows: 

Capital Expenditures 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Railway property 
Road 
Equipment 

Other property 

Total 

$428,4 
325.6 

(I n m i l l i o n s of doll a r s ) 

$379,5 
332.6 
1,2 

$382.3 
235.0 
22.3 

$411.0 
218,1 

0.1 

$425,1 
187.8 
4,2 

$754,0 $713,3 $639.6 $629.2 $617.1 

Capital spending and maintenamce prograuns are and have been 
designed to assure the a b i l i t y to provide safe, e f f i c i e n t amd r e l i a b l e 
t r a n s p o r t a t i o n services. For 1997, NS Rail i s plamning $781 m i l l i o n of 
c a p i t a l spending. Looking f u r t h e r adiead, t o t a l c a p i t a l spending i s 
expected to be s i m i l a r to 1995 amd 1996 le v e l s . A substamtial p o r t i o n 
of future c a p i t a l spending i s expected to be funded through i n t e r n a l l y 
generated cash, although debt finamcing w i l l continue as the primary 
funding source for equipment accjuisitions. 

Acquisition by NS of a l l or part of Conrail (see page 4) 
could cause a chamge i n thT. p'amned c a p i t a l spending for NS R a i l . 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTJJRS - Conpliamce w i t h federal, state and 
l o c a l laws amd regulations r a l a t i n g to the p r o t e c t i o n of the 
environmenc i s a p r i n c i p a l NS Rail goal. To date, such conpliamce has 
not affected .materially NS Rail's c a p i t a l additions, eamings, 
l i c [ u i d i t y or competitive p o s i t i o n . 

See the discussion of "Environmental Matters" i n Part I I , 
Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis," on page 26, and i n 
Note 16 to the Consolidated Finamcial Statements on page 61. 
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EMPLOYEES - NS Rail employed am average of 23,361 employees in 
1996, compared with am average of 24,488 in 1995 (including Norfolk 
Southern Corporation's employees whose primary duties relate to r a i l 
operations). The approximate average cost per employee during 1996 was 
$46,423 in wages and $18,943 in enployee benefits. Approximately 
81 percent of these employees are represented by various labor 
organizations. As of the end of 1996, NS Rail he.d negotiated labor 
agreements with a l l of i t s unions, except the American Train Dispatchers, 
which represents about 200 enployees. The accords with the 12 other union 
organizations, which include conpensation settlements in line with other 
major industries, w i l l not be due for chamge until after Jamuary 1, 2000, 

GOVERNMENT REGULATION - In addition to environmental, safety, 
securities amd other regulations generally applicable to a l l businesses, 
NS Rail i s subject to regulation by the STB, which succeeded the ICC on 
Jamuary 1, 1996, The STB has jurisdiction over some rates, routes, 
conditions of service, amd the extension or aibamdonment of r a i l lines. 
The STB also has j u r i s d i c t i o n over the consolidation, merger or 
acquisition of control of amd by r a i l common carriers. The Department 
of Tramsportation regulates certain track and mechamical equipment 
stamdards. 

The relaucation of economic regulation of railroads, begun over 
a decade ago by the ICC under the Staggers Rail Act of 1980, i s expected 
to continue under the STB. Thus i t appears that additional r s i l 
business w i l l be exenpted from regulation in the future. Sigr.ificant 
exemptions are TOFC/COFC ( i . e . . "piggyback") business, r a i l boxcar 
t r a f f i c , lumber, manufactured steel, automobiles and certain bulk 
commodities such as samd, gravel, pulpwood and wood chips for paper 
mamufacturing. Tramsportation contracts on regulated shipments, which 
no longer require regulatory approval, effectively remove those 
shipments from regulation as well. Over 80 percent of NS Rail's freight 
revenues come from either exenpt t r a f f i c or t r a f f i c moving under 
tramsportation contracts, 

COMPETITION - There i s continuing strong competition aunong 
r a i l , water amd highway c a r r i e r s . Price i s usually only one factor of 
importance as shippers and receivers choose a transport mode and 
specific hauling conpamy. Inventory carrying costs, service 
r e l i a b i l i t y , ease of hamdling, and the desire to avoid loss and damage 
during tramsit are increasingly inportamt considerations, especially 
for higher valued finished goods, machinery amd consumer products. 
Even for raw materials, semi-finished goods amd work-in-process, users 
are increasingly sensitive to tramsport arramgements which minimize 
problems at successive production stages. 

NS R a i l ' s primary competitor i s the CSX system, both operate 
throughout much of the same territory. Other railroads also operate i n 
parts of the t e r r i t o r y . NS Rail also conpetes with motor carriers and 
water c a r r i e r s , and with shippers who have the .additional option of 
handling their own goods in private carriage. Consummation of the 
proposed merger agreement between Conrail and CSX (see page 4) could 
result in a serious imbalance in r a i l competition in the East--an 
outcome NS i s r e s i s t i n g vigorously on a number of fronts and that the 
negotiations with CSX could prevent. 
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Certain cooperative strategies between railroads and between 
railr o a d s and motor c a r r i e r s enable c a r r i e r s to compete more 
e f f e c t i v e l y i n s p e c i f i c markets. A subsidiary of NS, which i s not part 
of NS R a i l , entered i n t o such a strategy w i t h a Conrail subsidiary 
forming a partnership i n 1993 which offered intermodal service using 
RoadRailer (Registered Trademark) equipment. NS Rail provides some of 
the r a i l l i n e - h a u l f o r t h i s partnership. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 

None, 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders, 

There were no matters submitted to a vote of s e c u r i t y holders 
during the f o u r t h cjuarter of 1996. 
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Executive Officers of the Registrant. 

Norfolk Southern Railway's officers are elected aimually by 
the Board of Directors at i t s f i r s t meeting held after the amnual 
meeting of stockholders, amd they hold offic until their successors 
are elected. There are no faunily relationships aunong the officers, nor 
any arremgement or understamding between an^ officer and any other 
person pursuant to which the officer was selected. The following table 
sets forth certain information, as of March 1, 1997, relating to these 
officers: 

Name, Age, Present Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

David R. Goode, 56, 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer 

Present position since September 
1992, Also, Chairmam, President 
amd Chief Executive Officer of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation since 
September 1992, and prior thereto 
as President. Served as Vice 
President of Norfolk Southem 
Railway from February to September 
1992, amd prior thereto was Vice 
President-Administration. 

Paul N. Austin, 53, 
Vice President-Personnel 

Present position since June 1994, 
Also, Vice President-Personnel of 
Norfolk Southem Corporation since 
June 1994. Served as Assistamt 
Vice President-Personnel of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation from 
February 1993 to June 1994, and 
prior thereto was Director 
Compensation. 

Williaun B, Bales, 62, 
Vice President 

Present position since October 
1995, Also, Senior Vice 
Pres ident-Intemational of 
Norfolk Southem Corporation 
since October 1995, Served as 
Vice President-Coal Marketing of 
Norfolk Southem Railway amd 
Norfolk Southern Corporation from 
August 1993 to October 1995, and 
prior thereto was Vice President-
Coal amd Ore Traffic, 

James C, Bishop, J r , , 60, 
Vice President-Law 

Present position since March 1, 
1996. Also, Executive Vice 
President-Law of Norfolk Southem 
Corporation since March 1, 1996, 
and prior thereto was Viee 
President-Law. 
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Naune, Age, Present Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

R. Alan Brogan, 56, 
Vice President-
Transportation Logistics 

Present position since December 
1992. Also, Executive Vice 
President-Transportation 
Logistics of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation since December 1992, 
and prior thereto was Vice 
President-Quality Mamagement. 

David A. Cox, 60, 
Vice President-Properties 

Present position since December 
1995. Also, Vice President-
Properties of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation since December 1995, 
amd prior thereto was Assistamt 
Vice President-Industrial 
Development. 

Thomas L. Finldainer. 44, 
Vice President-Intermodal 

Present position since August 1993. 
Also, Vice President-Intermodal 
of Norfolk Southern Corporation 
since August 1993. Served as 
Senior Assistant Vice President-
Intemational amd Intermodal of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation from 
April to August 1993, and prior 
thereto was Assistant Vice 
President-International and 
Intermodal. 

Robert C. Fort, 52, 
Vice President-
Public Relations 

Present position since December 
1996. Also, Vice President-
Public Relations of Norfolk 
Sout'iem Corporation since 
Decei.Tber 1996, amd prior thereto 
was Assistant Vice President-
Public Relations. 

John W. Fox, J r . , 49, 
Vice President-
Coal Marketing 

Present position since October 
1995. Also, Assistant Vice 
President-Coal Marketing of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation from 
August 1993 to October 1995, and 

, prior thereto was General Mamager 
Eastern Region. 

Thomas J . Goliam, 63, 
Vice President 

Present position since October 
1995. Also, Executive Assistant 
to the Chairmam, President and 
CEO of Norfolk Southem 
Corporation from April 1993 to 
October 1995, amd prior' thereto 
was Special Assistant to the 
President. 
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Ncune, Age, Prc»sent Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

James A. Hixon, 43 
Vice President-Taxation 

Present position since June 1993. 
Also, Vice President-Taucation of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation 
since June 1993, and prior 
thereto was Assistamt Vice 
President-Tax Counsel. 

Jon L. Manetta, 58, 
Vice President-
Tramsportation & Mechanical 

Harold C. Mauney, Jr,, 58, 
Vice President-Operations 
Plamning amd Budget 

Donald W. Mayberry, 53, 
Vice President-
Research amd Tests 

James W. McClellam, 57, 
Vice President-
Strategic Planning 

Present position since December 
1995, Also, Vice President-
Tramspox. nation & Mechamical of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation 
since December 1995. Served as 
Vice President-Transportation of 
Norfolk Southern Railway and 
Norfolk Southern Corporation from 
June 1994 to December 1995, 
Assistamt Vice President-
Tramsportation from October 1993 
to June 1994, Assistant Vice 
President-Strategic Plamning from 
January to October 1993, amd 
prior thereto was Director Joint 
F a c i l i t i e s amd Budget. 

Present position s i n c j December 
1996. Also, Vice President-
Operations Plamninc; amd Budget of 
Ncrfolk Southem Corporation 
since December 1996, amd prior 
thereto was Vice President-
Quality Management. 

Present position since December 
1995. Also, Vice President-
Research amd Tests of Norfolk 
Southem Corporation since 
December 1995, and prior thereto 
was Vice President-Mechamical. 

Present position since October 
1993. Also, Vice President-
Strategic Plamning of Norfolk 
Southem Corporation since 
October 1993, amd prior thereto 
was Assistant Vice President-
Corporate Plamning. 
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Name, Age, Present Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

Kathryn B, McQuade, 40, 
Vice President-
Internal Audit 

Present position since December 
1992. Also, Vice President-
Internal Audit of Norfolk 
Southern Corporation since 
December 1992, amd prior thereto 
was Director-Income Tax 
Administration. 

Charles W. Moormam, 45, 
Vice President-
Information Technology 

Present position since October 
1993. Also, Vice President-
Information of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation since October 1993. 
Served as Vice President-Employee 
Relations of Norfolk Southern \ 
Railway and Norfolk Southern 
Corporation from December 1992 to 
October 1993, amd prior thereto 
was Vice President-Personnel amd 
Laibor Relations. 

P h i l l i p R. Ogden, 56, 
Vice President-Engineering 

Present position since December 
1992. Also, Vice President-
Engineeri ig of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation since December 1992, 
amd prior thereto was Assistamt 
Vice President-Maintenamce. 

L. I . Prillaunam, Jr., 53, 
Vice President amd 
Chief Traffic Officer 

Present position since October 
1995. Also, Executive Vice 
President-Marketing of Norfolk 
Southem Corporation since 
October 1995. Served as Vice 
President-Properties of Norfolk 
Southem Railway amd Norfolk 
Southem Corporation from 
December 1992 to October 1995, 
amd prior thereto was Vice 
President and Controller. 

John P. Rathbone, 45, 
Vice President amd 
Controller 

Present position since December 
1992. Also, Vice President and 
Controller of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation since December 1992, 
amd prior thereto was Assistamt 
Vice President-Internal Audit. 

Williaun J . Romig, 52, 
Vice President 

Present position since December 
1992. Also, Vice President amd 
Treasurer of Norfolk Southem 
Corporation since December 1992, 
and prior thereto was Assistamt 
Vice President-Finamce. 
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Name, Age, Present Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

Donald W. Seale, 44, 
Vice President-
Merchamdise Marketing 

Robert S. Spenski, 62, 
Vice President-
Labor Relations 

Present position since August 1993, 
Also, Vice President-Merchandise 
Marketing of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation since August 1993. 
Served as Assistamt Vice 
President-Sales and Service of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation from 
May 1992 to August 1993, amd 
prior thereto was Director-
Metals, Waste and Construction. 

Present position since June 1994. 
Also, Vice Pres ident-Laibor 
Relations of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation since June 1994, amd 
prior thereto was Senior 
Assistant Vice Pres ident-Ladsor 
Relations. 

Rashe W, Stephens, Jr, 
Vice President-
Quality Mamagement 

55, 

Stephen C, Tobias, 52, 
Vice President 

Henry C. Wolf, 54, 
Vice President-Finamce 

Present position since December 
1996. Also, Vice President-
Quality Management of Norfolk 
Southem Corporation since 
December 1996. Served as 
Assistamt Vice President-Public 
Afrairs of Norf'olk Southem 
Corporation from February 1993 to 
December 1996, and prior thereto 
was Director, EEO amd Mampower 
Plamning. 

Present position since October 
1993. A.iso, Executive Vice 
President-Operations of Norfolk 
Southem Corporation since July 
1994, and Senior Vice President-
Operations from October 1993 to 
July 1994. Served as Vice 
President-Strategic Planning of 
Norfolk Southem Railway amd 
Norfolk Southem Corporation from 
December 1992 to October 1993, 
and prior thereto was Vice 
President-Tramsportation, 

Present position since June 1993. 
Also, Executive Vice President-
Finamce of Norfolk Southem 
Corporation since June 1993, amd 
prior thereto was Vice President-
Taxation. 
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Naune, Age, Present Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

Sandra T. Pierce, 42, 
Corporate Secretary 

Present position since June 1995. 
Also, Assistant Corporate 
Secretary of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation since June 1995. 
Served as Assistant Corporate 
Secretary-Planning of Norfolk 
Southem Corporation from October 
1993 to June 1995, and prior 
thereto was Assistant to 
Corporate Secretary. 

Ronald E. Sink, 54, 
Treasurer 

Present position since September 
1987. 
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PART I I 

Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Stock and Related 

Stockholder Matters. 

COMMON STOCK 

Since June 1, 1982, NS has owned a l l the common stock of 
Norfolk Southern Railway Conpamy, The common stock i s not publicly 
traded. 

SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK 

There are 10,000,000 shares of no par value s e r i a l preferred 
stock authorized. This stock may be issued in series from time to time at 
the discretion of the Board of Directors with amy series having such voting 
and other powers, designations, dividends amd other preferences as deemed 
appropriate at the time of issuance. 

The $2.60 Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series A (Series A Stock), 
of which 1,197,027 shares were issued and 1,096,907 shares were held other 
tham by subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996, has no paur value but has a 
$50 per share stated value. As indicated in the t i t l e , the stock pays a 
dividend of $2,60 per share auinually, payaJsle quaurterly on March 15, 
June 15, September 15 and December 15. Dividends on this stock are 
cximulative amd in preference to dividends on a l l other classes of stock. 
Except for amy shares held by Norfolk Southern Railway Conpamy^s 
subsidiaries and/or in a fiduciary capacity, each share i s entitled to one 
vote per share on a l l matters, voting as a single class with holders of 
other stock. Should dividends become delinquent for six quarters, this 
class of stock, voting as a class, may elect two directors so long as any 
default in dividend payments continues. The Series A Stock i s redeemable at 
the option of Norfolk Southem Railway Conpamy at $50 per share plus 
accrued dividends. On liquidation, the stock i s entitled to $50 per share 
plus accrued dividends before amy aunounts are paid on amy other c l a s s of 
stock. 

In June 1989, NS amnounced i t s intention purchase up to 
250,000 shares of the outstanding Series A Stwck .^.cring the subsequent two-
year period. Since then, NS extended the stock purchase program through 
1996 As of December 31, 1996, NS had purchased 176,608 shares of Series A 
Stock at a total cost of $6.7 million; as of the same date, NS held a total 
of 176,703 shares. 
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Item 6 Selected Financial Data. 

NOR:-'OLK SOUTHERN FJ^ILWAY COMPANY AND S U B S I D I A R I E S 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Five-Year F i n a n c i a l Review 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS: 
Railway operating revenues 
Railway operating expenses 

Income from 
r a i l w a y operations 

Other income - net 
I n t e r e s t expense on debt 

Income before income taxes 

Provision f o r income taxes 

Income before 
accounting changes 

Cumulative e f f e c t of 
accounting changes 

Net income 

FINANCIAL POSITION: 
Tota l assets 
To t a l long-term debt, 

i n c l u d i n g current 
m a t u r i t i e s 

Stockholders' e q u i t y 

OTHER: 
Capi t a l expenditures 
Number of stockholders 

at year-end 
Average number of 
ertqployees (2) 

1996 1995 1994 1993(1) 1992 

(S i n m i l l i o n s ) 

$ 4,101.0 
2,936.3 

$ 4,Oil. 8 
2,948.5 

$ 3,918.1 
2,869.2 

$ 3,727.6 
2,805.9 

$ 3,709.: 
2,781 

1,164 .7 1,063.3 1,048.9 921.7 92- ; 

39.1 
33.9 

43.3 
33.0 

46.6 
28.3 

57.6 
32.3 

49.e 
ii i 

1,169.9 1,073.C 1,067.2 947.0 9 2 : .: 

401.4 371.9 385.2 412.8 325 . ? 

768.5 701*. 7 682.0 534.2 606 .5 

— — — 247.8 --

$ 768.5 
sssESsasaes 

$ 701.7 $ 682.0 $ 782.0 $ 606 . 5 

$ 11,053.3 $ 10,752.3 $ 10,289.2 $ 9,760.4 S 9,675.5 

$ 597.9 
$ 5,771.8 

$ 
$ 

574.4 
5,645.4 

$ 539.8 
$ 5,440.5 

$ 
$ 

604.9 
5,184.9 

$ 
$ 

714 .5 
4,734.3 

$ 754.0 $ 713.3 $ 639.6 S 629.2 $ 617 .1 

2,763 3,025 3,281 3, 517 3.725 

23,361 24,488 24,710 25,531 25,650 

(1) 1993 r e s u l t s include a $60.8 m i l l i o n increase i n the p r o v i s i o n f o r income taxes 
r e f l e c t i n g a 1% increase i n the f e d e r a l income tax rat e . The cumulative e f f e c t of 
accounting changes increased 1993 earnings by $247.8 m i l l i o n . The change i n 
accounting f o r income taxes increased net income by $470.4 m i l l i o n , w i t h a 
corresponding reduction i n deferred taxes. The changes i n accounting f o r 
postretirement and postemployment b e n e f i t s decreased net income by $222.6 m i l l i o n . 

(2) The employee count includes Norfolk Southern Corporation's employees whose primary 
d u t i e s r e l a t e t o r a i l operations. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finamcial 

Condition amd Results of Operations. 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUB.-JIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition \nd Results of Operations 

The following discussion and analysis (which--with the exceptior of "Proposed 
Acquisition of Conrail'--is identical to what i s contained in the Corporation's 1996 
Annual Report to Stoc)cholders) should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated 
Finemcial Statements and Notes beginning on page 40 and the Five-'ear Financial Review 
on page 25. 

SUMMARIZED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

1996 Compared with 1995 

Net income in 1996 was $768.5 million, an increase of 10%. However, results m 
1995 were affected by a $33.6 million early retirement charge, which reduced net incof^ 
by $20.4 mil l i o n . 

Absent the effects of that charge, 1996 net income was up 6%. The improvement wai 
due to increased income from railway operations of $67.8 million, or 6%, reflecting 
higher operating revenues, up 2%, and generally f l a t operating expenses, up l«»ss than 
(excluding the early retirement charge). 

1995 Compared with 1994 

Net income in 1995 was $701.7 million, up 3%. Excluding the 1995 early retirement 
charge, net income rose 6%. These results were driven primarily by improved income froir 
railway operations, up $48.0 million, or 5% (excluding the early retirement charge). 
Railway operating revenues increased 2%, v h i l e railway operating expenses, excluding the 
early retirement charge, were up 2%. Interest expense on debt was up $4.7 million, 
largely due to a lower level of capitalized interest. 

RAILWAY OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES 
(Shotm as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stockholders) 

($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Revenues 
Expenses 

$4,101.0 
2,936.3 

$4,011.8 
2,948.5 

$3,918.1 
2,869.2 

$3,727.6 
2,805.9 

$3,709.1 
2,781.7 

DETAILED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Railway Operating Revenues 

Railway operating revenues were $4.1 b i l l i o n i n 1996, compared with $4.0 b i l l i o n 
in 1995 and $3.9 b i l l i o n i n 1994. The $89.2 million improvement in 1996, compared with 
1995, was the r e s u l t of improvements in a l l market groups except paper/forest and 
agriculture. The $93.7 million in?>rovement in 1995, con5>ared wich 1994,̂ ^ was primarily 
attributable to increases i n the intermodal, automotive and metals/consCruction market 
groups. 
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I tem 7. Management's D i s c u s s i o n and A n a l y s i s of F i n a m c i a l 

C o n d i t i o n and R e s u l t s of O p e r a t i o n s , ( cont inued) 

The following table presents a three-year comparison of revenues by market group. 

RAILWAY OPERATING REVENUES BY MARKET GROUP 
(Also Shown as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stockholders) 

($ in mil l ions) 

1996 1995 1994 

Coal 
Chemicals 
Paper/forest 
Automotive 
Agriculture 
Metals/construction 
Intermodal 

Total 

$ 1,304.7 $ 1,267.8 $ 1,290.2 
555, 
513. 
488 . 
393, 
358, 
487, 

536.5 
537.3 
449.1 
393.7 
353.1 
474.3 

534,7 
521.8 
429 .0 
379.5 
334.2 
428.7 

$ 4,101.0 $ 4,011.8 $ 3,918.1 

Note: Revenues previously reported as "Other railway revenues* 
(pr i n c i p a l l y switching and demurrage) have been reclassified 
into each of the commodity groups. 

In 1996, increases i n coal, automotive, intermodal and chemicals t r a f f i c offset 
decreases i n the remaining market groups. For 1995 improvements in automotive, 
agriculture, metals/construction and intermodal t r a f f i c offset declines in the other 
groups. The t r a f f i c volume gaii.s i n both years accotonted for most of the revenue 
improvement as shown i n the table below. Average revenue per unit rose i n both 1996 and 
1995 due to moderate rate increases. 

RAILWAY OPERATING REVENUE VARIANCE ANALYSIS 
Increases (Decreases) 

($ i n millions) 

1996 vs, 1995 1995 vs. 1994 

Tr a f f i c volume 
Revenue per unit 

Total 

$ 72.6 
16.6 

$ 89.2 

$ 62.6 
31.1 

$ 93.7 
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Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finamcial 

Condition amd Results of Operations, (continued) 

COAL traffic volume increased 4%, and revenues increased 3% in 1996, primarily due 
to increased u t i l i t y and export coal tonnage. Coal revenues represented almost 32% oi 
total railway operating revenues in 1996, and 90% of coal shipments originated on NS 
Rail's lines. Coal traffic volume declined 1%, and revenues were down 2% in 1996, 
compared with 1994, as coal tonnage by type remained relatively stable. 

TOTAL COAL, COKE AND IRON ORE TONNAGE 
(In millions of tons) 

1996 1995 1994 

U t i l i t y 74.7 70.3 71.6 
Export 27.0 25.8 25.2 
Steel 20.6 22.1 21.6 
Other 7.9 6.9 7.5 

Total 130.2 125.1 125.9 

Note: Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year presentation. 

Utility coal traffic increased 6% in 1996, compared with 1995. Several u t i l i t y 
customers in the NS Rail service region shifted more generation to coal-fired plants, as 
many nuclear power plants experienced downtime. In addition, NS Rail gained market share 
at several Southeastem u t i l i t i e s . 

In 1995, u t i l i t y coal traffic decreased slightly due to moderate weather 
throughout much of the NS Rail service region during the f i r s t half of the year and to 
sustained periods of maximum generation from several Southeastem nuclear power plants. 
Partially mitigating these declines were increased shipments of both NS Rail- and 
foreign-line-originated, low-sulfur coal related to u t i l i t i e s ' compliance with Phase I 
of the Clean Air Act Amendments, which took effect on January 1, 1995. 

The near-term outlook for u t i l i t y coal is positive, as a significant number of the 
mines served by NS Rail produce coals that satisfy both Phase I amd the more stringent 
Phase I I requirements, which take effecv; on January 1, 2000. However, adoption of 
tighter restrictions on nitrous oxide particulate emissions, as proposed by the 
Environmental Protection Agency, could impose added cost burdens on some coal-fired 
plants. 

U t i l i t i e s in the Southeast, NS Rail's largest steam coal market, are expected to 
increase their demand for Central Appalachian coal. Ut i l i t y deregulation is likely to 
affect the structure and development of that market. Specifically, i t is widely 
amticipated that U.S. u t i l i t i e s will have greater f l e x i b i l i t y in selling electricity to, 
and buying i t from, other regional markets. At present, however, transmission line 
capacity i s somewhat strained on the lines leading to and from the Southeastern U.S., 
and resistance by environmentalists anc the high cost of adding new line capacity could 
deter i t s development. Less certain is the outlook for demand for Cenzral Appalachiam 
coal from u t i l i t i e s in the Midwest, as the delivered cost of Western coal tends to be 
lower. However, NS Rail expects to participate in the movement of any Western coal that 
displaces NS Rail-originated deliveries. 

Export coal traffic increased 5% in 1996, compared with 1995, as NS Rail benefited 
from increased steam coal exports to Italy and greater metallurgical shipments to 
Ge-mamy, a result of reduced subsidies to German coal producers that enhanced the 
competitiveness of U.S. coal. Increased exports of U.S. coal to Brazil also contributed 
to the improvement. 
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Item 7. Mana..7ement' s D i s c u s s i o n amd A n a l y s i s of F i n a n c i a l 

C o n d i t i o n and R e s u l t s of Operations, (continued) 

Export coal t r a f f i c increased 2% m 1995, benefiting t.-om the continued recovery 
of European s t e e l production. Demand from other parts of the vorld also improved. 
Bra z i l , Belgium, France, Romania and Japan took increased 2unounts of NS Rail coal. In 
addition, NS Rail began handling metallurgical coal for steel oroduction in Mexico. 
Congestion and high barge rates on the Mississippi River caused an increase in movements 
over NS Ra i l ' s coal piers in Norfolk, Va. 

Metallurgical coal exports are expected to experience slight to modest growth 
through the year 2000, as continued reductions in European government subsidies to coal 
producers should benefit NS Rail-served exporters. A gradual decline i s projected m the 
long term, as new steel-making technologies replace those requiring coking coal. Demand 
for export steiun coal i s expected to increase, and NS R a i l i s working to increase i t s 
participation in t h i s market. 

Steel coal domestic t r a f f i c was down 7%, as aggressive producer pricing of higher 
v o l a t i l e metallurgical coals not located on NS Rail's lines resulted in a loss of 
t r a f f i c . In 1995, t r a f f i c was up 2% due to completion of extended coke oven work at one 
f a c i l i t y and continued strong demand for domestic coke for making s t e e l . Advanced 
technologies that allow production of steel with l i t t l e or no coke could cause this 
market to decline slowly over the long term. However, NS Rail could participate in the 
movement of non-coking coal used by technologies such as pulverized coal injection. 

Other coal t r a f f i c , primarily steam coal shipped to manufacturing plants, 
increased 14% in 1996, compared with 1995, reflecting gains from other modes of 
transportation and more seasonal weather conditions in 1996. T r a f f i c volume declined 8% 
in 1995, compared with 1994, resulting from lower demand for in-plant use of e l e c t r i c i t y 
due to mild weather. In addition, some industries have switched to natural gas as a fuel 
source. This market i s expected to remain stedile in coming years, as growth through 
innovative packaged delivery services offsets losses from natural gas conversions. 

MERCHANDISE t r a f f i c volume in 1996 decreased s l i g h t l y , compared with 1995, as 
increases in automotive, intermodal and chemicals t r a f f i c were more than offset by 
declines in the remaining commodity groups. However, increased average revenues for most 
commodity groups resulted in a 2% improvement in revenues. In 1995, merchandise t r a f f i c 
volume increased 5%, driven by increases in intermodal, automotive and agriculture 
t r a f f i c . Merchandise revenues in 1995 increased 4%, compared with 1994. 

CHEMICALS t r a f f i c and revenues grew 3% and 4%, respectively, for 1996. F e r t i l i z e r 
and p l a s t i c s markets strengthened during 1996, which resulted in increased t r a f f i c and 
revenues tor these two groups. In addition, the harsh winter resulted in greater 
movements of l i q u i d petroleum gas, and industrial chemicals remained strong throughout 
the year. These 1996 r e s u l t s con?>ared favorably with r e l a t i v e l y f l a t carloads and 
revenues in 1995, as increases for general chemicals were overshadowed by weakness in 
the p l a s t i c s and f e r t i l i z e r markets. The chemicals market group i s expected to continue 
to show moderate growth through 1997, as NS Rail expands i t s Thoroughbred Bulk 
Distribution f a c i l i t i e s and chemicals production nationwide i s expected to increase. 

PAPER/FOREST t r a f f i c and revenues each declined 5% in 1996, due to the overall 
downturn in the paper and forest products industry. Early in 1995, the paper industry 
enjoyed record price levels and associated volumes, but growth slowed and inventories of 
paper products swelled in late 1995 and into 1996. To correct the inventory problems, 
many large paper producers operated mills well below capacity and shut down m i l l s to 
balance capacity with demand. This compares to a 1% decrease in volume and a 3% increase 
in revenues for 1995. Paper and pulpwood products t r a f f i c in 1995 was about even with 
1994, while lumber t r a f f i c suffered from weak housing s t a r t s . These markets are expected 
to begin a s l i g h t turnaround by mid-1997. 
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AUTOMOTIVE traffic rose 8%, and revenues increased 9%, both the highest in this 
group's history. Auto parts provided the majority of the growth as volume increased 21%, 
while vehicle traffic increased 3%. NS Rail opened two just-in-time (JIT) r a i l centers 
at Hagerstown, Md. , and near Buffalo, N.Y., in 1996 for distribution of vehicle parts 
for GM. Also, GM awarded NS Rail another JIT r a i l center to be constructed in 1997 near 
Dayton, Ohio. These three centers are expected to hauidle over 23,000 carloads annually 
by 1998. 1996 also marked the f i r s t time in several year.' that a l l NS Rail-served 
assembly plants were on-line. GM's Wentzville, Mo., assembly plant returned to 
production early in the year after a two-year retooling, and GM's Doraville, Ga., plant 
returned midyear from a one-year retooling. In 1996, BMW's new plauit at Greer, S.C., 
reached full production. In 1995, automotive traffic increased 4%, and revenues were up 
5%. Strong production at selected plants that produce popular cars and trucks mitigated 
the effects of several plants' being shut down or operated at reduced capacity. 

Good market growth is expected in 1997, supported by the new JIT r a i l centers, 
full production levels at existing plants, the start of production at the new Mercedes 
plamt in Tuscaloosa, Ala., and the expamsion of Toyota's plamt in Georgetown, Ky. 
Supporting long-term growth. Ford awarded NS Rail a 12-year contract in 1996 to handle 
approximately 3 million new vehicles amnually through four mixing centers to be built in 
1997. When operational in 1998, NS Rail expects to increase i t s motor vehicle business 
with Ford by 60%. In addition, Toyota's new Princeton, Ind., truck plamt may add to 
1998-1999 traffic. For the automotive industry as a whole, emnual production increases 
are forecast through 2002, as transplants bring production to North America, exports 
continue to rise and the Mexican and Canadian economies improve, 

AGRICULTURE t r a f f i c declined 4% and revenues were flat in 1996. Despite strong 
demand for feed grains in the Southeast, grain traffic suffered, as poor crops and 
strong export demand left NS Rail receivers competing for limited supplies. Slight 
average revenue growth occurred, resulting primarily from longer hauls, as receivers 
reached farther west for grair supplies. In 1995, agriculture traffic rose 2%, and 
revenues increased 4%, due tc higher grain shipments from the Midwest to the Southeast 
poultry industry. 

Moderate growth i s expected in 1997, as 1996 crops should provide abundant 
supplies throughout the year, emd demand from t^ie poultry market for feed grain 
continues to grow. Also for 1997, a full year of new 'jusiness i s expected from two feed 
mills which were remqping up production in 1996, and from a new major grain elevator 
located on a line purchased during 1996 from Conrail. 

METALS/CONSTRUCTION traffic declined 2%, but revenues were up 1% for 1996. 
Construction carloads f e l l behind in early 1996 due to inclement weather and were flat 
che rest of the year; however, higher average revenues more than offset the volume 
decline. In the metals market, NS Rail's shipments remained strong due to a healthy 
domestic steel market, which has added capacity through improved efficiency at 
integrated mills amd new mini-mills. In 1995, metals/construction traffic was up 
slightly, and revenues increased 6%, as increases in the steel and aluminum markets were 
somewhat offset by reduced demand for construction products. 

Moderate growth is expected for 1997. Nev. steel production f a c i l i t i e s in Decatur, 
Ala., and Memphis, Tenn., are expected to contribute to growth in late 1997. Although 
construction starts are expected to decrease in 1997 versus 1996, projects already 
begun, such as at the Chesapeake Bay Bridge Tunnel, the opening of new cement terminals 
and the expamsion of various on-line plemts, are expected to produce moderate growth for 
construction in 1997 and beyond. 

213 



31 

Item 7. Management's Discussion amd Analysis of Finamcial 
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INTERMODAL traffic volume increased 5% and revenues increased 3%, both reaching 
record levels in 1996, driven by increased domestic container and Triple Crown Services 
Company (TCSC) volume. 

EMP, the container equipment-sharing arrangement with Union Pacific and Conrail, 
contributed significantly to domestic growth. International container volume declined 
only slightly, despite an industry slowdown that began in the spring and lasted until 
the f a l l . NS Rail's overall market share inqproved slightly due to new international 
business emd the continued domestic container emd TCSC growth. 

Intermodal volume rose 12%, and revenues increased 11% in 1995. Although 
intermovial traffic levels nationwide declined in 1995, NS Rail intermodal achieved 
record level.'; of volume, revenues emd profitability, led by container shipments in both 
domestic and intemational service. 

During 1995, a seven-year agreement with Hanjin Shipping Compemy was signed under 
which NS Rail w i l l handle nearly a l l of Hemjin's international container business in NS 
Rail's terTJtory east of the Mississippi River. 

EMP contributed significantly to domestic growth. Almost a l l the increase in 
intemational container business was attributable to new services, thereby increasing NS 
Rail's market share. Domestic business also was augmented by growth in the trucking 
segment, as both truckload and less-than-truckload companies increased their use of NS 
Rail intermodal. Additionally, intermodal marketing companies increased their ]:>usiness 
on NS Rail. 

NS Rail's intennodal volume i s expected to remain strong, resulting from continued 
domestic container and TCSC volume growth and the recovery in the intemational market. 
Higher wages in the trucking industry may encourage shippers to use NS Rail's intermodal 
and TCSC networks. In addition, growth of steamship companies' use of Suez Canal 
services may have a positive impact on intemational container shipments into and out of 
Southeast ports. 

Railway Operating Expenses 

Railway operating expenses in 1996 decreased slightly; however, 1995's expenses 
included a $33.6 million charge for an early retirement progreun (see Note 12). Excluding 
that early retirement charge, railway operating' expenses increased 1%, despite a 2% 
increase in tr a f f i c volume. Railway operating expenses in 1995 were up 3% (up 2%, 
excluding the early retirement charge) on a 3% increase in traffic volume. 

As a result, the NS Rail railway operating ratio, which measures the percentage of 
railway revenues consumed by expenses, was a record 71.6 in 1996, conpared with 73.5 
(72.7 excluding the early retirement charge) in 1995 emd 73.2 in 1994. NS Rail's railway 
operating ratio continues to b« the best among the major railroads in the United States. 

RAILWAY OPERATING RATIO 
(Shown as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stoclcholders) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

71.6% 73.5% 73,2% 75.3% 75,0% 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion amd Analysis of Finamcial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

The following table shows the changes in railway operating expenses sumnarized by 
major classifications. 

RAILWAY OPERATING EXPENSES 
Increases (Decreases) 

($ in millions) 

1996 vs. 1995 1995 vs. 1994 

Compensation emd bentifits $ ( f l 3)* $ 108.9 • 
Materials, services and rents 6 3 (45.4) 
Depreciation 20 1 22.3 
Diesel fuel 43 6 1.5 
Casualties emd other claims 2 1 (13.7) 
Other (3 0) 5.7 

Total $ (12 .2) $ 79.3 
3 S X S S S X S 

•Includes the $33.6 million early retirement charge in 13*95. 

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS, which represents about half of total railway operatir.3 
expenses, decreased 5% in 1996 and increased 8% in 1995. Excluding the 1995 early 
retirement charge, compensation and benefits expenses were down 3% in 1996 and up 5% ir. 
1995. 

The 1996 decrease 'excluding the effect of the 1995 early retirement charge) was 
principally attributable to: (1) reduced employment resulting from the 1995 early 
retirement program and productivity improvements due to ongoing reductions in train crew 
sizes and train efficijncies and (2) lower costs for fringe loenefits, principally 
medical costs for salaried employees. These decreases were somewhat offset by increases 
attributable to higher volume and increased wage rates resulting from new labor 
agreements. 

The 1995 increase was primarily a result of: (1) higher wages; (2) increased 
performance-based compensation accruals, particularly those linked to the market price 
of NS stock, which rose nearly $19 per share in 1995; and (3) higher health care costs 
for agreemtmt employees 

As of the end of 1996, NS Rail had negotiated labor agreements with a l l of its 
unions, except the American Train Dispatchers which repr-ssents about 200 employeez The 
accords with the 12 other union organizations, which include compensation settlements in 
line with other major industries, will not be due for change until after January 1, 
2000. ^ ^ 

MATERIALS, SERVICES AND RnJTS includes items used for the maintenance ot the 
railroads' lines, structures and equipment; the costs of services purchased from outside 
contractors, including the net costs of operating joint (or leased) fa c i l i t i e s with 
other railroads; and the net cost of equipment rentals. This category of expenses 
increased 1% in 1996 and decreased 7% in 1995. 

The increase in 1996 resulted from higher intermodal expenses due to increased 
volume, as well as higher equipment rent costs, that more than offset lower locomotive 
and car repair costs. , . , ^-i 

Equipment rents, which represent the cost to NS Rail of using equipment (mostly 
freight cars) owned by other railroads or private owners, less the rent paid to NS Rail 
for the use of i t s equipment, were up 10% in 1996. This increase was due to a variety of 
factors including increased intermodal container traffic, lower receipt** from short-
term leases of locomotives to various railroads and increased freight car leases to meet 
customer requirements. These increased costs were somewhat offset by lower net costs for 
multilevel equipment. 
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Locomotive repair costs crntinued to be reduced as a result of the replacement of 
older units with newer ones. NS Rail expects to acquire 120 new locomotives m 199/_ 
Freight car repair costs continued to benefit from the effects of i n i t i a t i v e s launcnea 
i n 1995 to improve asset u t i l i z a t i o n that resulted i n the re-engineering of maintenance 
practices, f a c i l i t a t i n g the closure of two repair f a c i l i t i e s i n 1995 and the disposition 
of 17,000 excess freight cars, which was substantially completed m 1S96. 

The decrease i n "Materials, services and rents' i n 1995 reflected i n i t i a l resvlts 
from the i n i t i a t i v e s to improve asset u t i l i z a t i o n , as well *.s reduced locomotive repair 
costs and lower net equipment rental expense. The reduction in equipment rents in l i ^ b 
was due to the short-term leasing of certain older locomotives to other railroads and 
the deregulation of car-hire rates among railroads, which began m 1994. These favorable 
results were somewhat offset by increased expenses related to the 12% growth i n 
intei-modal t r a f f i c . 

DEPRECIATION expense (see Note 1, "Properties," for NS Rail's depreciation policy) 
was up 5% i r 1996 and 6% i n 1995. Both increases were due to property add.tions, 
re f l e c t i n g substantial levels of capital spendir.y over the last several i-ears. 

DIESEL FUEL costs rose 23% i n 1996, but were up less than 1% i n 1995. The increase 
in 1996 was due to a 20% increase i n the average price per gallon, as prices reached 
levels unseen since 1991 during and following the Persian Gulf Crisis. Consumption was 
up 3% on a similar increase i n carloadings. The 1995 increase was primarily due to a 
small increase i n the average price per gallon. 

CASUALTIES AND OTHER CLAIMS (including estimates of costs related to personal 
injury, property damage and environmental matters) increased 2% i n 1996, but declined 
10% i n 1995. In 1996, higher accruals for environmental remediation costs more than 
offset reduced accruals for personal injury l i a b i l i t i e s and the effects of a 
nonrecurring l i a b i l i t y insurance premium refund. The 1995 decrease was primarily 
attributable to environmental costs i n 1994 associated with a tankcar leak. 

T'he largest component of "Casualties and other claims' is personal in:ury expense. 
NS Rail continued to benefit from a reduction i n the number of reportable inDuries i n 
1996- however, as i n prior years, much of that benefit was offset by an increase m the 
cost'of third-party i n j u r y claims and by the continuing costs associated with the 
handling of non-accidental "occupational* claims. NS Rail continues to work activel> to 
reduce the r i s k of a l l accidents. 

The r a i l industry remains uniquely susceptible to l i t i g a t i o n involving Dob-related 
accidental i n j u r y and occupational claims because of an outmoded law, tht Federal 
Employers' L i a b i l i t y Act (FELA), o r i g i n a l l y passed i n 1908 and applicabJ* only to 
railroads. This law, which covers employees' claims for on-the-job i n j u r i e s , promotes an 
adversarial claim settlement environment and produces results that are unpredictable and 
inconsistent, at far greater cost to the r a i l industry than the no-fault workers 
^ompeniatton system to which non-rail competitors are universally sub.ect^ The railroads 
have been unsuccessful so far i n e f f o r t s to persuade Congress to replace FELA with a no-

^^^'^ 0 ? S r : x p : n : ^ r r e r r S o r 2 r i n 1>96, but were up 4% i n 1995. The 1995 increase was 

'°NS^£!I r x i : : t s " r o l l V l l ' ^ ^ ' l l l t i r ^ k e i t s software year-2000 compliant by the 
end of 1998. I t i s anticipated that the t o t a l cost of conversion w i l l not be material to 
NS Rail's fi n a n c i a l statements. 

Income Taxes 

Income tax expense i n 1996 was $401.4 m i l l i o n for an effective rate of 34.3%, 
w ? ! h ^ effectiv.. rate of 34.6% i n 1995 and 36.1% i n 1994. 

"°"^"?Se effe«ive rates'in 1996 and 1995 were below the statutory federal and ..tate 
,-»f-*.c as a -esult of investments i n corporate-owned l i f e insurance and coal-seam gas 
properties 'and from favorable adjustments upon f i l i n g the prior year tax returns. In 
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Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

addition, 1996 benefited from favorable adjustments resulting from settlement of federal 
income tax years 1990-1992. The effective rate in 1994 also was below the statutory 
federal and state rates due to favorable adjustments resulting from settlement of 
federal income tax years 1988 and 1989, em adjustment to the valuation allowance for 
deferred tax assets and a favorable adjustment upon filing the 1993 tax return. Deferred 
tetx expense was em unusually high portion of total tax expense in 1994. A corresponding 
reduction is reflected in 1994's current tauc expense for the effects of expenditures 
that affect book and tax accounts in different years, priinarily in the areas of 
compensation and property. 

Accounting Chamges and New Accounting Pronouncements 

As discussed in Note 1 under "Required Accounting Changes,' effective January 1, 
1996, NS Rail adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, "Accounting 
for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets amd for Long-Lived Assets to be Di.sposed Of 
(SFAS 121), which had no material effect on NS Rail's finemcial statements. 

Effective January 1, 1994, NS Rail adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities' 
(SFAS 115). The principal result was a significant write-up of NS Rail's investment in 
NS stock. This non-cash adjustment had no income statement effect but increased 
"Investments' and "Stoc)cholders' equity' in the Consolidated Balance Sheets (see also 
Note 14). 

On October 10, 1996, the AICPA issued Statement of Position 96-1, "Environmental 
Remediation L i a b i l i t i e s ' (SOP 96-1), which is effective for f i s c a l years beginning after 
December 15, 1996. SOP 96-1 provides guidance with respect to recognition eind 
measurement of environmental remediation lieOsilities emd disclosure of such l i a b i l i t i e s 
in finemcial statements. SOP 96-1 i s not expected to have a material effect on NS Rail's 
finemcial statements. 

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

FINANCIAL CONDITION refers to the assets, l i a b i l i t i e s and stockholders' equity of an 
organization (see Consolidated Balance Sheets on page 41) . LIQUIDITY refers to the 
ability of an organization to generate adequate arooxints of cash, principally from 
operating results or through borrowing power, to meet i t s short-term and long-term cash 
reguirements (see Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows on page 42). CAPITAL RESOURCES 
refers to the ability of an organization to raise funds tlirough the sale of either debt 
or equity (stock) securities. 

($ in millions) 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Cash and short-term 
mvec-tments $-15.5 $230.0 $180.9 $152.0 $ 64.0 

Current assets to 
current lieUsilities 1.2 1.0 1.1 1.3 1.2 

Debt to total 
capitalization 9.8% 9.6% 9.4% 10.9% 13.4% 

Return on average 
stockholders' equity 13.5% 13.0%* 12.8% 12.0%* 13.1% 

• Excluding unusual items: In 1995, the early retirement charge; and, in 
1993, the cumulative effects of required accounting changes and %̂e prior 
years' effect of the federal income tax rate increase. 
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cash provided by operating a c t i v i t i e s , NS Rail's principal source of liquidity, 
decreased $49.9 million, or 4%, in 1996 and increased $96.4 million, or 8%, in 1995. 
Since the consolidation in 1982, cash provided by operating a c t i v i t i e s has been 
E f f i c i e n t to fund dividend requirements, debt repayments and a significant portion ot 
caoital spending. The decrease ir. 5 596 was largely attributable to lump-sum wage 
payments associated with labor co'..tract settlements and higher income tax payments 
r e l i e d to the settlement of federal income tax years 1990-1992. The improvement in 1995 
was primarily a result of increased income from operations (excluding the early 
retirement charge, a non-cash item) .md improved b i l l i n g and collection of receivables. 

^ a s h used for investing a c t i v i t i e s decreased 7% in 1996 and w « up 56% m 1995. 
property additions account for most o,= the spending in th i s categor>-. In ̂ 994, large 
borrowings on corporate-owned l i f e insurance offset much of the use ot cash for property 

additions spending, track and equipment s t a t i s t i c s for the 

past five years. 

CAPITA.:, EXPENDITURES 

(Also Sho*m as a Graph in t-ie Annual Report to Stockholders) 

($ in millions) 

Road 
Equipment 
Other property 

Total 

1996* 1995* 1994 1993 1992 

$428.4 
325.6 

$379.5 
332.6 
1.2 

S382.3 
235.0 
22.3 

$411.0 
218.1 

0.1 

$425,1 
187.8 
4.2 

$754.0 $713.3 
s s s s s a c 

$639.6 $629.2 $617.1 

Includes non-cash equipment expenditures of $107.8 million in 
1996 and $104.5 million in 1995 (see Note 8 on page 51). 

TRACK STRUCTURE STATISTICS (CAPITAL AND MAINTENANCE) 

Track miles of 
r a i l i n s t a l l e d 

Miles of track 
surfaced 

New crossties 
i n s t a l l e d 
(millions) 

1996 

401 

4,686 

1,9 

1995 

403 

4, 668 

2.0 

1994 1993 

480 574 

4,760 5,048 

1.7 1.6 

1992 

€<0 

5,690 

1.9 

AVERAGE AGE OF RAILWAY EQUIPMENT 

(Years) 

Freight cars 
Locomotives 
Retired 

locomotives 

1996 

22.3 
15.4 

24.4 

1995 

22.0 
15.7 

22.6 

218 

1994 

21.9 
15.8 

23 .6 

1993 

21.3 
15.1 

24.7 

1992 

20.9 
14.5 

24.0 
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Since 1988, NS R a i l has rebodied about 23,000 coal cars and plans to continue that 
program, although at a slower rate, in 1997. This work, performed at NS Rail's Roanoke 
Car Shop, converts hopper cars into high-capacity s t e e l gondolas or hoppers. As a 
result, the remaining service l i f e of the freight car fleet i s greater than may be 
inferred from the increasing average age shown in the table aibove. 

Efforts to hold down capital spending while increasing, business are ongoing as NS 
Rail seeks to maximize u t i l i z a t i o n of i t s assets. In this connection, NS R a i l began an 
orderly disposition of approximately 17,000 freight cars in October 1994. This was 
substantially completed i n 1996 with total proceeds of $92 million included in "Property 
sales and other transactions' in the 1996 and 1995 Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Fl.,ws. In 1996, this l i n e item also reflected proceeds from large land sales (see 
Note 3) . 

For 1997, NS R a i l i s planning $781 million of capital spending. Barring unforeseen 
events, t o t a l c a p i t a l spending i s expected to continue to k.e similar to 1995 and 1996 
le v e l s . 

Cash used for financing a c t i v i t i e s decreased 18% in 1996 and 14% in 1995. The 
higher uses' in 1995 and 1994 were due to s i g n i f i c a n t advemces made to NS. In addition, 
1994 debt repayments were high due to the maturity of a large mortgage. 

Hedging A c t i v i t i e s 

As discussed under "Capital Leases' i n Note 8, NS R a i l has made limit5*d use of 
interest rate swaps in connection with certain equipment financings. 

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL BY NS 

As discussed in Note 16, NS commenced an a l l - c a s h tender offer for a l l Shares of 
Conrail Inc. (Conrail), on October 24, 1996, in response to the October 15, 1996, 
announcement that Conrail had entered into a merger agreement with CSX. 

On February 11, 1997, NS acquired 8.2 million Shares of Conrail stock 
(approximately 9.9%), representing the approximate maximum number of Shares NS can buy 
without triggering Conrail's current anti-takeover defenses, at a cost of $115 per 
Share, or $943 mi l l i o n i n the aggregate. The purchase was financed with commercial paper 
backed by a portion of the debt commitments secured for the transaction. These Shares 
have been placed i n a voting trust and under certain circumstances might have to be sold 

at a l o s s . • 
On February 12, 1997, NS commenced a second tender offer for the remaining Shares 

and has n o t i f i e d Conrail of i t s intention to conduct a proxy contest in connection with 
Con-ail's 1997 Annual Meeting of shareholders, cxirrently scheduled for December 19, 
1997, seeking, among other things, to remove certain of the current members of the 
Conrail Board and to e l e c t a new sl a t e of nominees desigrated by NS. 

Pursuant to an amendment to the merger agreement between CSX and Conrail announced 
on March 7, 1997, CSX has offered to purchase a l l Shares for $115 per Share in cash and 
CSX i s permitted to enter into negotiations with other parties, including NS, concerning 
"he acquisition of the s e c u r i t i e s or assets, or concessions relating to the assets or 
operations of Conrail. NS and CSX are negotiating a comprehensive resolution of the 
issues confronting the eastem railroads based on the proposal submitted by NS to both 
CSX and Conrail on February 24, 1997. Such a resolution could involve a ^omt 
acquisition of Shares by NS and CSX. However, unless and u n t i l such negotiations are 
successfully concluded, NS intends to continue i n effect i t s tender offer for a l l Shares 
not owned by NS. 
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For a d d i t i o n a l information concerning NS' pending tender o f f e r f o r Shares not 
owned by NS, reference i s made to NS' Tender Offer Statement on Schedule 14D-1, together 
with the e x h i b i t s thereto, i n i t i a l l y f i l e d w i t h the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on February 12, 1997, as amended. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 

NS R a i l i f t subject to various j u r i s d i c t i o n s ' environmental laws and r e g u l a t i o n s . 
I t i3 NS Rail's p o l i c y to record a l i a b i l i t y where such l i a b i l i t y or loss i s pi bable 
and can be reasonably estimated. Claims, i f any, against t h i r d p a r t i e s f o r recovery of 
clean-up costs incurred by NS R a i l are r e f l e c t e d as receivables i n the balance sheet and 
are not netted against the associated NS R a i l l i a b i l i t y . Environmental engineers 
p a r t i c i p a t e i n ongoing evaluations of a l l i d e n t i f i e d s i t e s , and--after c o n s u l t i n g w i t h 
counsel---emy necessary adjustments t o i n i t i a l l i a b i l i t y estimates are made. NS R a i l also 
has esteOslished an Environmental Policy Council, conposed of senior managers, to oversee 
and i n t e r p r e t i t s environmental p o l i c y . 

Operating expenses f o r environmental p r o t e c t i o n t o t a l e d approximately $25 m i l l i o n 
i n 1996 and are amticipated to increase somewhat i n 1997. C a p i t a l expenditures f o r 
environmental p r o j e c t s amounted to approximately $6 m i l l i o n i n 1996 and are expected to 
be at the seune l e v e l i n 1997. As of Decemlier 31, 1996, NS Rail's balance sheet included 
a reserve £or environmental exposures i n the aunount of $53 m i l l i o n (of which $12 m i l l i o n 
i s accounted f o r as a current l i a b i l i t y ) , which i s NS Rail's estimate of the probable 
costs based on availeible information at 111 i d e n t i f i e d l o c a t i o n s . On t h a t date, nine 
s i t e s accounted f o r $19 m i l l i o n of the reserve, emd no i n d i v i d u a l s i t e was considered to 
be m a t e r i a l . NS R a i l a n t i c i p a t e s t h a t much of t h i s l i a b i l i t y w i l l be paid out over f i v e 
years; however, some costs w i l l be paid out over a longer period. 

At many of the 111 l o c a t i o n s , NS R a i l and/or c e r t a i n of i t s s u b s i d i a r i e s , usually 
i n conjunction w i t h a number of other p a r t i e s , have been i d e n t i f i e d as p o t e n t i a l l y 
responsibla p a r t i e s by the Environmental P r o t e c t i o n Agency (EPA) or s i m i l a r s t a t e 
a u t h o r i t i e s under the Conprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and L i a b i l i t y 
Act of 1980, or comparable s t a t e s t a t u t e s , which o f t e n inpose j o i n t and several 
l i a b i l i t y f o r cleam-up costs. 

At one such s i t e , the EPA alleged i n 1995 t h a t The Alajoemva Great Southern Railroad 
Company (AGS), a s u b s i d i a r y of NS R a i l , i s responsible, along w i t h several other 
e n t i t i e s b e l i eved t o be f i n e m c i a l l y solvent, f o r past and f u t u r e clean-up and monitoring 
costs at the Bayou Bonfouca NPL Superfund s i t e located i n S l i d e l l , La. The EPA bases i t s 
claim of NS R a i l ' s r e s p o n s i b i l i t y p r i m a r i l y on the alleged a c t i v i t i e s i n the 1880s of a 
company not at the time owned or c o n t r o l l e d by an NS R a i l subsidiary, but acquired i n 
1916. L i a b i l i t y has been contested. Because the amount of l i a b i l i t y t h a t the EPA may 
assert against NS R a i l or AGS i s not )cnown, the m a t e r i a l i t y of such amount to NS Rail's 
f i n a n c i a l p o s i t i o n , r e s u l t s of operation or l i q u i d i t y i n a p a r t i c u l a r quarter or year 
cannot be assessed at t h i s time. The EPA has i n d i c a t e d that i t has expended or expects 
to expend a t o t a l of approximately $130 m i l l i o n at the s i t e . 

With respect t o known environmental s i t e s (whether i d e n t i f i e d b^ NS R a i l or by the 
EPA or comparablt; s t a t e a u t h o r i t i e s ) , estimates of NS Rail's u l t i m a t e p o t e n t i a l 
f i n a n c i a l exposure f o r a given s i t e or i n the aggregate for a l l such s i t e s are 
necessarily in^iprecise because of the widelv varying costs of c u r r e n t l y a v a i l a b l e clean­
up techniques, the l i k e l y development of new '•leam-up technologies, the d i f f i c u l t y of 
determining i n advance the nature and f u l l extent of contamination and each p o t e n t i a l 
p a r t i c i p a n t ' s share of amy estimated loss (and t l . a t p a r t i c i p a n t ' s a b i l i t y to bear i t ) 
and e v o l v i n g s t a t u t o r y and r e g u l a t o r y standards gviverning l i a b i l i t y . 
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Item 7. Management's D i s c u s s i o n and A n a l y s i s of F i n a n c i a l 

C o n d i t i o n amd R e s u ] t s of Operations, (continued) 

The r i s k of incurring environmental l i a b i l i t y — f o r acts and omissions, past, 
present and future--is inherent in the railroad business. Some of the commodities, 
particularly those c l a s s i f i e d as hazardous materials, in NS Rail's t r a f f i c mix can pose 
special risks that NS Rail and i t s subsidiaries work diligently to minimize. In 
addition, NS R a i l owns, or has owned in the past, land holdings used as operating 
property, or which are leased or may have l>een leased and operated by others, or held 
for sale. Because certain conditions may exist on these properties related to 
environmental problems that are latent or undisclosed, there can be no assurance that 
NS Rail w i l l not incur l i e i b i l i t i e s or costs with respect to one or more of them, the 
amount and materiality of which cannot be estimated reliably now. Moreover, lawsuits emd 
claims involving these and other now-unidentified environmental s i t e s and matters are 
l i k e l y to a r i s e from time to time. The resulting l i a b i l i t i e s could have a significant 
effect on finemcial condition, results of operations or liquidity in a particular year 
or quarter. 

However, based on i t s assessments of the facts and circumstemces now known and, 
after consulting with i t s legal counsel. Management believes that i t has recorded the 
probable costs based on available information for those environmental matters of which 
the Corporation i s aware. Further, Management believes that i t i s unlikely that any 
identified matters, either individually or in aggregate, w i l l have a material adverse 
effect on NS R a i l ' s financial position, results of operations or liquidity. 

INFLATION 

Generally accepted accounting principles require the use of h i s t o r i c a l cost in 
preparing f i n a n c i a l statements. This approach disregards the effects of inflation on the 
replacement cost of property. NS R a i l , a capital-intensive conpemy, has approximately 
$13 b i l l i o n invested in such assets. The replacement cost of these assets, as well as 
the related depreciation expense, would be substemtially greater them the amounts 
reported on the basis of h i s t o r i c a l cost. 

TRENDS 

- U t i l i t y Deregulation—The potential deregulation of the e l e c t r i c a l u t i l i t y industry 
i s expecteo to increase competition among e l e c t r i c power generators; deregulation in 
time would permit wholesalers emd possibly r e t a i l e r s of e l e c t r i c power to s e l l or 
purchase increasing quantities of power to or from far-distemt generators. The 
effects of deregulation on NS Rail and on i t s patrons cemnot be predicted with 
certainty; however, NS Rail serves a number of e f f i c i e n t power producers and i s 
working d i l i g e n t l y to assure that i t s customers remain competitive in this evolving 
environment. 

- FELA--NS R a i l and the r a i l industry are continuing their efforts to replace the FELA 
with no-fault workers' conpensation laws comparable to those covering en^ployees in 
other industries. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Mamagement's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
operations emd other sections of this Annual Report contain forward-looking statements 
that are based on current expectations, estimates and projections. Thes*. statements are 
not guarantees of future performance emd involve r i s k s , uncertainties and assumptions 
that are d i f f i c u l t to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes emd results may differ 
materially from what i s expressed in such forward-looking statements. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements amd Supplementary Data. 

NO.RFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southem Corporation) 

Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended 

March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 

($ in mi l l ions , except per share amounts) 
1996 

Railway operating revenues $1,016.7 $1,038.0 $1,020.1 $1,026.2 
Income from railway operations 261.8 300.0 300.3 302.6 
Net income 163.1 190.6 208.8 206.0 
Dividends per s e r i a l preferred share $ 0.65 $ 0.65 $ 0.65 $ 0.65 

1995 

Railway operating revenues $ 999.2 $1,016.4 $ 996.0 $1,000.2 
Income from rai lway operations 250.4 284.3 277.9 250.7 
Net income 153.3 180.3 193.9 174.2 
Dividends per s e r i a l preferred share $ 0.65 $ 0.65 $ 0.65 $ 0.65 

Index to Finamcial Statements: Page 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 amd 1994 40 

Consolidated Balamce Sheets 
As of December 31, 1996 and 1995 41 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 amd 1994 42 

Consolidated Statements of Chamges in 
Stockholders' Equity 

Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 amd 1994 43 

Notes to Consolidated Finamcial Statements 44 

Independent Auditors' Report 65 

The Index to Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule appears in 
Item 14 on page 67. 

222 



40 

Item 8, F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Consolidated Statements of Income 

Railway operating r«v«nu«s 

Railway operating expenses: 
Condensation and benefits (Note 12) 
Materials, services and rents 
Depreciation 
Diesel fuel 
Casualties and other claims 
Other 

Railway operating expenses 

Income from railway operations 

Other income - net (Note 3) 
Interest expense on debt (Note 6) 

Income before income taxes 

Provision for income taxes (Note 4) 

Net income 

Years ended December 31 
1996 1995 1994 

($ in mil l ions) 

$ 4,101.0 $ 4,011.8 $ 3,918 .1 

1,398.7 1,480.0 1,371 .1 
629.5 623,2 668 .6 
403.0 382.9 360 .6 
233.4 189.8 188 .3 
123.4 121.3 135 .0 
148.3 151.3 145 ,6 

2,936.3 2,948.5 2,869 .2 

1,164.7 1,063.3 1,048 .9 

39.1 43.3 46 ,6 
33.9 33.0 28 .3 

1,169.9 1,073.6 1,067 2 

401,4 371.9 385 2 

$ 768.5 $ 701.7 $ 682 0 
s s i e s a t a c s s x s S 9 > 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southem Corporation) 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

As of December 31, 
1996 1995 

Assets 
Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Short-term investments (Note 14) 
Accounts receiveUole net of allowance for doubtful accounts 

of $3.6 million emd $2.8 million, respectively 
Materials emd supplies 
Deferred income taxes (Note 4) 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 

Due from NS - net (Note 2) 
Investments (Notes 5 emd 14) 
Properties less accumulated depreciation (Note 6) 
Other assets 

Total assets 

Liei b i l i t i e s emd stockholders' equity 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s : 
Short-term debt (Note 8) 
Accounts payable (Note 7) 
Income and other taxes 
Due to NS - net (Note 2) 
Other current l i a b i l i t i e s (Note 7) 
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 8) -

Total current l i a b i l i t i e s 

Long-term debt (Note 8) 
Other l i a b i l i t i e s (Note 10) 
Minority interests 

Deferred income taxes (Note 4) 

Total l i a b i l i t i e s 

StocJtholders' equity: 
Serial preferred stock (Note 11) 
Common stock (Note 11) 
Other capital 
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (Note 14) 
Retained income 

Total stockholders' squity 

Total l i a b i l i t i e s and stockholders' equity 

($ in millions) 

$ 172.1 $ 49 .3 
143.4 180 .7 

545.7 542 .1 
61.2 59 .8 
95.3 98 .8 

119.8 92 .1 

1,137.5 1,022 .8 

186 .8 
870.7 771 .0 

9,014.9 8,750 .4 
30.2 21 .3 

$ 11,053.3 S 10,752 3 

S 27.2 $ 27 2 
549.8 567 2 
158.3 179 4 
64.9 

109.0 124 3 
54,3 79 7 

963,5 977 . 8 

543.6 494. 7 
886.0 870. 8 
2.4 2.3 

2,886.0 2,761. 3 

5,281.5 5,106. 9 

54.8 54. 8 
166.7 166. 7 
525.5 525. 5 
397.8 337. 3 

4,627.0 4,561. 1 

5,771.8 5,645. 4 

$ 11,053.3 S10,752. 3 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements, 
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Item 8. Finamcial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31, 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income 
Reconciliation of net income to net cash 
provided by operating activities: 
Special charge payments 
Depreciation 
Deferred income taxes 
Nonoperating gains on property sales 
Chemges in assets and l i a b i l i t i e s 
affecting operations: 
Accounts receivable 
Materials emd supplies 
Other current assets 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s other them debt 
Other - net 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Property additions 
Property sales and other tremsactions 
Investment purchases 
Investment sales and other transactions 
Short-term investments - net 

Net cash used for investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Dividends (Note 2) 
Due to/from NS - net (Note 2) 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 
Long-term debt repayments 

Net cash used for financing activities 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents: 
At beginning of year 

At end of year 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 
Cash paid durinc the year for: 
Interest (net ot amounts capitalized) 
Income taxes 

1996 1995 1994 

($ in millions) 

768 5 $ 701 7 $ 682 0 

(18 .0) (29 3) (41 9) 
404 .2 383 8 361 3 
89 .4 43 2 114 .2 
(25 5) (8 .7) (7 .8) 

(3 6) 10 .6 (29 .8) 
(1 .4) (1 .3) 7 .4 

(13 .5) (2 3) (12 ,5) 
(33 .6) 104 .5 6 .7 
34 .4 48 6 74 .8 

1,200 .9 1 ,250 .8 1,154 .4 

(646 .2) (603 .8) (639 .6) 
96 .0 80 .4 52 .9 
(59 .7) (65 6) (45 .9) 
22 .0 29 .4 249 .2 
36 .1 (31 3) 1 .0 

(551 .8) (595 .9) (382 .4) 

(288 .6) (291 .5) (279 .4) 
(162 .3) (285 .1) (394 .2) 

9 ,6 7 .6 41 .4 
(85 .0) (70 .4) (108 .3) 

(526 .3) (639 .4) (740 .5) 

122 .8 15 ,5 31 .5 

49 .3 33 ,8 2 ,3 

172 .1 $ 49 .3 $ 33 .8 

66 .7 $ 48 .9 $ 49 .1 
351 .3 $ 272 .5 $ 252 .2 

Sec accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity 

Balance December 31, 1993 
Net income - 1994 
Cash dividends: 
Serial preferred stock, 
S2.60 per share 

Common stock, 
$16.59 per share 

Non-cash dividends on 
common stock (Note 2) 

Unrealized gain on 
investments 

Balemce December 31, 1994 
Net income - 1995 
Cash dividends: 
Serial preferred stock, 
$2.60 per share 

Common stock, 
$17.31 per share 

Non-cash dividends on 
common stock (Note 2) 

Contribution from NS 
(Note 2) 

Unrealized gain on 
investments (Ncte 14) 

Balance DecemJoer 31, 1995 
Net income - 1996 
Cash dividends: 
Serial preferred stock, 
$2.60 per share 

Common stock, 
$17. *4 per share 

Non-cash dividends on 
common stock (Note 2) 

Unrealized gain on 
' investments (Note 14) 

Unrealized 
Serial Gain on 

Preferred Common Other Marketable Retained 
Stock Stock Capital Securities Income Total 

$ 54.8 $166.7 

($ in mil l ions) 

$515.0 $ — 

54.8 166.7 515.0 

10.5 

54.8 166.7 525.5 

Balemce December 31, 1996 $ 54.8 $ 166.7 
= % s a s s s 

$ 525.5 

253.1 

253.1 

64.2 

337.3 

60.5 

$ 397.8 

$ 4,448.4 $ 5,184.9 
682.0 682.0 

(2.9) 

(276.5) 

(400.1) 

4,450.9 
701.7 

(2.9) 

(288.6) 

(300.0) 

(2,9) 

(285.7) 

(414.0) 

(2.9) 

(276.5/ 

(400.1) 

253.1 

5,440.5 
701.7 

(2.9) 

(288 .6) 

(300.0) 

10.5 

84.2 

4,561.1 5,645.4 
768.5 768.5 

(2.9) 

(285.7) 

(414.0) 

60.5 

$4 ,627 .0 $ 5,771.8 

See accompamying notes to consolidated f inanc ia l statements. 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Norfolk Southern Corporation) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

The following notes (which--with the exception of Note 17--are identical to those 
contained in the Corporation's 1996 Annual Report to Stockholders) are an integral part 
of the consolidated financial statements. 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Description of Business 

Norfolk Southem Railway Compemy, together with i t s consolidated subsidiaries 
(collectively, NS R a i l ) , i s engaged principally in the transportation of freight by 
r a i l , primarily in the Southeast and Midwest. The consolidated finemcial statements 
include Norfolk Southem Railway Company, Norfolk and Western Railway Conpemy and their 
majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries. A l l significant intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation (see Note 15 for the Norfolk emd 
Western Railway Company and Subsidiaries (NW) summarized consolidated financial 
information). 

Rail freight consists of raw materials, intermediate products and finished goods 
c l a s s i f i e d in the following market groups: coal, chemicals, paper/forest, automotive, 
agriculture, metals/construction and intermodal. A l l groups are approximately equal in 
size leased on revenues except for coal, which accounts for almost one third of total 
railway operating revenues, ^xtimate destinations for some of the freight and a portion 
of the coal shipped are outside the United States. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and lieUsilities„ the disclosure of contingent assets and 
l i a b i l i t i e s at the date of th i financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Cash Equivalents 

"Cash equivalents' are highly liquid investments purchased three months or less 
from maturity. 

Investments 

Marketable equity and debt securities are reported at eunortized cost or fa i r value 
depending upon thei-- c l a s s i f i c a t i o n as held-to-maturity, trading or available-for-sale 
securities. At December 31, 1996 and 1995, a l l "Short-term investments,' consisting 
primarily of United States government and federal agency securities and a l l marketable 
equity securities consisting principally of NS stock, were designated as available for 
sale. Accordingly, unrealized gains emd losses, net of taxes., arc recognized in 
"Stockholders' equity' (see also Note 14). 

Materials and Supplies 

"Materials and supplies,' consisting mainly of fuel o i l emd items for maintenance 
of property and equipment, are stated at average cost. The cost of materials and 
supplies expected to be used in capital additions or improvements i s included in 
•Properties.' 227 
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^!?!!'.?' Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Properties 

Properties' are stated principally at cost and are depreciated using group 
depreciation Rail is primarily depreciated on the basis of use measured by gross ton 
miles. The effect of this method is to depreciate these assets over 42 years on average. 
Other properties are depreciated generally using the straight-line method over estimated 
service lives at annual rates that range from 1% to 20%. In 1996 the overall 
depreciation rate averaged 2.8% for roadway and 4.0% for equipment. NS Rail capitalizes 
interest on major capital projects during the period of their construction. Maintenance 
expense IS recognized when repairs are performed. When properties, other than land and 
non-rail assets, are sold or retired in the ordinary course of business, the cost of the 
assets, net of sale proceeds or salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation rather 
than recognized through income. Gains and losses on disposal of land and non-rail asse-t 
are included in other income (see Note 3). 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue i s recognized proportionally as a shipment moves from origin to 
destination. 

Required Accounting Changes 

1996 - Effective January 1, 1996, NS Rail adopted Statement of Financial 
.accounting Standards No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and 
for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed O f (SFAS 121). SFAS 121 establis2:es the accounting 
and reporting requirements for recognizing and measuring impairment of long-lived assets 
either to be held and used or to be held for disposal. SFAS 121 did not have a material 
effect on NS Rail's financial statements. 

1994 - Effective January 1, 1994, NS Rail adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity 
Securities- (SFAS 115), which addresses the accounting and reporting for investments in 
equity securities that have readily determinable fair values and for a l l investments m 
debt securities. The inplementation of SFAS 115 increased "Investments,' the deferred 
tax l i a b i l i t y and "Stockholders' equity' at December 31, 1994, and had no impact on 
earnings. The tott1 unrealized holding gain on NS Rail's investments classified as 
"available for sale,' net of the related deferred taxes, is reflected as a separate 
component of "Stockholders' equity' in the Consolidated Balance Sheets (see also 
Note 14) . 

2. RELATED PARTIES 

General 

NS is the parent holding company of NS Rail. The costs of functions pirformed by 
NS are allocated to NS Rail. Rail operations are coordinated at the holding company 
level by the US Executive Vice President-Operations. 

Non-cash Dividends 

I; 1996, 1995 and 1994, NS Rail declared and issued to NS non-cash dividends of 
$414.0 million, $300,0 million and $400.1 million, respectively, which were settled by 
reduction of NS Rail's interest-bearing advances due frcm NS. 

Non-cash dividends are excluded from the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
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I t e m 8. F i n a n c i a l J::atements amd Supplementary D a t a , ( cont inued) 

2. RELATED PARTIES (continued) 

Intercompany Accounts 

December 31 , 

1996 1995 

Average Average 
Interest Interest 

Balance Rate Balemce Rate 

($ in mi l l ions) 
Due from NS: , .m 

Advances $ 155.6 4.1% $ 407.1 3.4% 
Due to NS: , 

Notes 220.5 6,1% 220.3 6.6% 

Due (to) from 
NS - net $ (64.9) $ 186.8 

S S J C S S S S = = = = = = = 

During 1995, NW issued note^ for $'5.5 millior to an NS subsidiary for the 
purchase of a portfolio of short-term investments. This non-cash transaction was 
excluded from the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 

Interest i s applied to certain advances at the average NS yield on short-term 
investments and to the notes at specified rates. Included in interest income i s 
S13.9 million, $17.8 million and $15,6 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, 
related to amounts due from NS. 

Tremsfer of Investment from NS 

In Deceroijer 1995, NS transferred i t s $10.5 million equity interest in a 
nonoperating subsidiary to Norfolk Southem Railway Company. This transfer was recorded 
at historical cost and was reflected as a contribution to capital. 

Intercompany Federal Income Tax Accounts 

In accordance with the NS Tax Allocation Agreement, intercompany federal income 
tax accounts are recorded between conpanies in the NS consolidated group. At December 
31 1996 and 1995, NS Rail had long-term intercompany fedt-.ral income tax payables (which 
are included in "Deferred income taxes' in the Consolidated Balance Sheets) of 
$292.5 million and $254,7 million, respectively. 

Cash Required for NS Stock Purchase Program and NS Debt 

Since 1987 the NS Board of Director,? has authorized the purchase and retirement 
of up to 95 million shares of NS common stock. Purchases under the programs have been 
made with internally generated cash, and with proceeds from the sale of NS conmercial 
naoer notes and from the issuance of NS long-term debt. 

Since the f i r s t purchases in December 1987 and through October 21. 1996, NS had 
purchased and retired 68,545,000 shares of i t s common stock under these programs at a 
cost of $3,2 bill i o n . 
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Item 8 F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

2. RELATED PARTIES (continued) 

On October 23, 1996, NS announced that the stock purchase program had been 
suspended (see also Note 16). Future purchase decisions are dependent on the outcome of 
the proposed Conrail acquisition, the economy, cash needs and alternative investment 
opportunities. 

Consistent with the e a r l i e r purchases, a significant portion of the funding for 
future NS stock purchases, either in the form of direct cash or cash used for debt 
service, w i l l come from NS Rail through interconpany advemces or dividends to NS. In 
addition, some of the costs associated with the proposed Conrail acquisition (see 
Note 16, "Proposed Acquisition of Conrail by NS' and "NS Debt Commitments') are l i k e l y 
to be funded by NS R a i l . 

OTHER INCOME - NET 

1996 1995 1994 

($ in millions) 

Interest income (Ncte 2) $ 29 9 $ 36.3 $ 34 4 
Rental income 18 2 18.5 18 0 
Dividends from NS 16 2 15.1 13 9 
Gains from sales of properties 25 5 8,7 7 8 
Corporate-owned l i f e 

insuremce - net 6 0 7.4 7 9 
Other interest expense (44 1) (32.2) (24 9) 
Taxes on nonoperating 

property (3 7) (2.4) (3 7) 
Other - net (8 9) (8,1) (6 8) 

Total $ 39 1 $ 43,3 46 6 

4. INCOME TAXES 

Provision for Income Taxes 

Current: 
Federal 
State 

Total current taxes 

Deferred: 
Federal 
State 

Total deferred taxes 

Provision for income taxes 

1996 

277.7 
34.3 

312,0 

72 .7 
16.7 

89.4 

$ 401.4 

1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 286.3 
42.4 

328,7 

35.1 
8.1 

43,2 

$ 371.9 

1994 

$ 236.0 
35.0 

271.0 

95.2 
19.0 

114.2 

$ 385.2 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

4. INCOME TAXES (continued) 

Reconciliation of Statutory Rate to Effective Rate 

Total income taxes as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income differ 
from the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal corporate tax rate as 
follows: 

Federal income 
tax at statutory 
rate 

State income 
taxes, net of 
federal tax 
benefit 

Corporate-owned 
l i f e insurance 

Other - net 

Provision for 
income 
taxes 

1996 

Amount % 

$ 409.5 35.0 

33.1 

(15.5) 
(25.7) 

$ 401.4 

2.8 

(1.3) 
(2.2) 

34.3 

1995 

Amount % 

($ in millions) 

$ 375,8 

32,7 

(17,1) 
(19.5) 

35.0 

3.0 

(1.6) 
(1.8) 

1994 

Amount 

$ 373.5 

35.1 

(10.6) 
(12.8) 

35.0 

3.3 

(1.0) 
(1.2) 

$ 371.9 34.6 $ 385.2 36.1 
r c z s ==3 

Inclusion in Consolidated Retum 

NS Rail i s included in the consolidated federal income tax retum of NS. The 
provision for current income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Income reflects 
NS Rail's portion of NS' consolidated tax provision. Tax expense or tax benefit is 
recorded on a separate conpany basis. 

Deferred Tauc Assets and L i a b i l i t i e s 

' c e r t l l n ltems are reported in different periods for financial reporting and income 
tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liat,ilities were recorded in recognition of these 
differences. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

4. INCOME TAXES (continued) 

The tax e f f e c t s of temporary differences that give r i s e to s i g n i f i c a n t p ortions of 
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax l i a b i l i t i e s were as follows: 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 

$ 148 .3 $ 161 .6 
147 .7 158 .7 

137 .2 138 .1 

163 .1 157 .1 
1 .1 1 .2 

597 .4 616 .7 
(0 .6) (0 .5) 

596 8 616 .2 

(2,839 0) (2,760 3) 
(220 0) (219 0) 
(36 0) (44 7) 

(3,095 0) (3,024 0) 

(292 5) (254. 7) 

(2,790. 7) (2,662. 5) 

95, 3 98. 8 

$ (2,886. 0) $ (2,761. 3) 
S S S S S S K S S S X S 

Deferred tax assets: 
Reserves, i n c l u d i n g casualty 

and other claims 
Employee b e n e f i t s 
Retiree health and death 

b e n e f i t o b l i g a t i o n 
Taxes, i n c l u d i n g s t a t e 

and property 
Other 

Total gross deferred teix assets 
Less v a l u a t i o n allowance 

Net deferred teoc assets 

Deferred tax l i a b i l i t i e s : 
Property 
Unrealized h o l d i n g gains 
Other 

Total gross deferred 
tax l i a b i l i t i e s 

Intercompany f e d e r a l 
tax payable - net 

Net deferred tax l i a b i l i t y 
Net current deferred 

tax assets 

Net long-term deferred 
tax l i a b i l i t y 

Except f o r amounts f o r which a v a l u a t i o n allowance i s provided. Management 
believes the deferred t ax assets w i l l be r e a l i z e d . The net change i n the t o t a l valuation 
allowance was a $0.1 m i l l i o n increase f o r 1996, a $0.1 m i l l i o n decrease f o r 1995 and a 
$1.4 m i l l i o n decrease f o r 1994. 

I n t e r n a l Revenue Service (IRS) Reviews 

Consol i d a t e d f e d e r a l income tox returns have been exeunined and Revenue Agent 
Reports have been received f o r a l l years up to and i n c l u d i n g 1992. The consolidated 
f e d e r a l income tax r e t u m s f o r 1993 emd 1994 are being audited by the IRS. Management 
believes t h a t adecjuate p r o v i s i o n has been made f o r amy a d d i t i o n a l taxes emd i n t e r e s t 
thereon t h a t might a r i s e as a r e s u l t of these examination.''. 
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Item 8 Financial Statements amd Supplementary Data, (continued) 

4. INCOME TAXES (continued) 

Tax Benefit Leases 

In January 1995, the United States Tax Court issued a preli.: .nary decision that 
would disallow some of the tax benefits a subsidiary of NS Rail purchased from a third 
party pursuant to a safe harbor lease agreement in 1981. Management continues to believe 
that NS Rail ultimately should incur no loss from this decision, because the lease 
agreement provides for ful l indemnification i f any such disallowance i s sustained. 

INVESTMENTS 

Marketable eciuity securities at 
fair value (Note 14) 

Corporate-owned l i f e insuramce at 
net cash surrender value 

Other 

Total 

Decemlser 31, 
1996 1995 

($ in mi l l ions) 

$ 639.0 $ 576.2 

213.2 
18.5 

$ 870.7 

176.6 
18.2 

771.0 

6. PROPERTIES 

Transportation property: 
Road 
Equipment 

Other property 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Net properties 

Capitalized Interest 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 8,405.0 
4,664.7 

79.3 

13,149.0 
4,134.1 

$ 9,014.9 

$ 8,151.7 
4,586.8 

84.2 

12,822.7 
4,072.3 

$ 8,750.4 

Total interest cost incurred on debt in 1996,. 1995 and 1994 was $45.8 million, 
$47.0 million and $46.1 million, respectively, of which $11.9 million, $14.0 million and 
$17.8 million was capitalized. 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements am.d Supplementary Data, (continued) 

7. CURRENT LIABILITIES 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

Accounts payable: 
Accounts and wages payable 
Casualty and other claims 
Vacation l i a b i l i t y 
Eciuipment rents payable - net 
Other 

Total 

Other current l i a b i l i t i e s : 
Prepaid eunounts on 
forwarded traffic 

Interest payable 
Retiree health and death 
benefit obligation (Note 13) 

Other 

Total 

($ in millions) 

$ 227.4 
165.4 
75.0 
60.9 
21.1 

$ 549.8 

$ 62.7 
14.4 

23.2 
8.7 

$ 109.0 

$ 255.3 
163.6 
72.5 
62.0 
13.8 

$ 567.2 

69.7 
23.7 

24 . 5 
6.4 

124.3 

8. DEBT 

Short-Term Debt 

Short-term debt consists of $27.2 million of notes assumed in connection with the 
1990 acquisition of a coal terminal f a c i l i t y . 

Capital Lease Obligations 

During 1996 and 1995, NS Rail entered into capital leases covering new 
locomotives. The related capital lease obligations totaling $107.8 million in 1996 and 
$104.5 million in 1995 were reflected in the Consolidated Balemce Sheets as debt and, 
becajse they were non-cash tremsactions, were excluded from the Consolidated Statements 
of Cash Flows. The lease obligations carry em average stated interest rate of 6.5% for 
those entered into in 1996 emd 8.4% for those entered into in 1995. All were co.nverted 
to variable rate obligations using interest rate swap agreements. The interest rates on 
these obligations are based on the six-month London Intert>emk Offered Rate and are reset 
every six months with chamges in interest rates accounted for as an adjustment of 
interest expense over the terms of the leases. As a result, NS Rail is exposed to the 
market risk associated with fluctuations in interest rates. To date, while such rate 
fluctuations have been nominal, their effects have been favorable. Counterparties to the 
interest rate swap agreements are major finemcial institutions believed by Management to 
be credit-worthy. NS Rail's use of interest rate swaps has been limited to those 
discussed above. 
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Item 8 Finamcial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

8. DEBT (continued) 

Long-Term Debt 

Ec[uipment o b l i g a t i o n s a t an 
average r a t e of 7.8% 
matur ing t o 2009 

C a p i t a l i z e d leases at an average 
r a t e o f 5.9% maturing t o 2015 

Other debt a t em average r a t e 
of 5.4% matur ing t o 2015 

T o t a l long- te rm debt 

Less: Current m a t u r i t i e s 

Long-term debt 
l e ss cu r r en t m a t u r i t i e s 

December 31 , 
1996 1995 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 

$ 392.9 

197.0 

8.0 

597.9 

54.3 

$ 543.6 
s s s s s s s s 

$ 439.5 

100.9 

34.0 

574,4 

79,7 

$ 494,7 

Long-term debt matures as follows: 
1998 
1999 
2000 
2001 

2002 amd subsequent years 

Total 

55,5 
127.2 
57.7 
51.8 
251.4 

543.6 

A substantial portion of NS Rail's properties emd certain investments in 
aff i l i a t e d companies are pledged as collateral for much of the debt. 
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Item 8, F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

9. LEASE COMMITMENTS 

NS Rail i s committed under long-term lease agreements, which expire on various 
dates through 2 067, for ecjuipment, lines of road and other property. Future minimum 
lease payments are as follows: 

Operating Leases Capital Leases 

($ in millions) 

1997 
1998 
1999 
2000 
2001 

2002 and subsecjuent years 

Total 
Less imputed interest on 
cap i t a l leases at am average 
rate of 7.4% 

Present value of minimum 
lease payments included 
in debt 

$ 53.6 
49, 
37, 
31, 
30, 

637, 

$ 839.5 
S S S S S S S 

28, 
28, 
28 , 
28. 
28. 

143. 

285.4 

88.4 

$197.0 

Operating Lease Expense 

Minimum rents 
Contingent rents 

Total 

1996 

$ 64,7 
38,3 

$ 103.0 

1995 

($ i n millions) 

$ 58.9 
36.0 

$ 94.9 

1994 

$ 46.7 
45.4 

$ 92.1 
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Item 8, Finamcial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

10. OTHER LIABILITIES 

Casualty and other claims 
Net pension obligation (Note 12) 
Retiree health and death 

benefit obligation (Note 13) 
Other 

Total 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 247.3 
81.9 

283.2 
273.6 

$ 886.0 

$ 257.3 
93 .9 

283.5 
236.1 

$ 870.8 

11. STOCK 

Preferred 

There are 10,000,000 shares of no par value serial preferred stock authorized. 
This stock may be issued in series from time to time at the discretion of the Board ci 
Directors with any series having such voting and other powers, dividends and other 
preferences as deemed appropriate at the time of issuance. At Decemiser 31, 1996 e.nd 
1995, 1,197,027 shares of $2.60 Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series A (Series A Stock) 
were issued, amd 1,096,907 shares were held other than by subsidiaries. The Series A 
Stock has a $50 per share stated value. The Series A Stock is callable at any time at 
$50 per share plus accrued dividends and has one vote per share on a l l matters, voting 
as a single class with holders of other stock. 

In June 1989, NS annc->unced i t s intention to purchase up to 250,000 shares of the 
outstamding Series A Stock during the subsecjuent two-year period. Since then, NS 
extended the stock purchase program through 1996. NS had purchased 176,608 shares at a 
total cost of approximately $6.7 million as of .'December 31, 1996. NS purchased the 
shares in regular brokerage transactions on the open market at prevailing prices. At 
year end 1996 and 1995, NS held 176,703 shares and 122,923 shares, respectively. 

Preference 

There are 10,000,000 shares of no par value serial preference stock authorized. 
None of thest shares has been issued. 

Common 

There are 50,000,000 shares of no par value common stock with a stated value of 
$10 per share authorized. NS owns a l l 16,668,997 shares issied and outstanding at 
December 31, 1996 and 1995. 
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Item 8 F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

12, PENSION PLANS 

NS Rail's defined benefit pension plans, which principally cover salaried 
employees, are part of NS' retirement plans. Pension benefits are based primarily on 
years of creditable service with NS and its participating subsidiary con^janies emd 
compensation rates near retirement. Contributions to the plems are made on the basis of 
not less them the minimum funding standards set forth in the Enployee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974, as eunended. Assets in the plans consist mainly of common stocks. 
The following data relate principally to NS Rail's portion of the combined NS plems. 

Pension Cost (Benefit) Components 

1996 1995 1994 

Service cost-benefits 
($ in millions) 

eamed during the year $ 12 3 $ 9 .6 $ 10 .2 
Interest cost on projected 
benefit obligation 67 1 65 .1 59 9 

Actual retum on 
assets in plan (170 3) (257 .0) (16 6) 

Net amortization 
amd deferral 83 4 172 1 (62 9) 

Net pension benefit (7 5) (10 2) (9 4) 
Cost of early 
retirement benefits ~ 23 4 — 

Total $ (7 5) $ 13 2 $ (9. 4) 

Pension cost i s determined jsased on em actuarial valuation that reflects 
appropriate assumptions as of the beginning of each year. The funded status of the plems 
is determined using appropriate assximptions as of each year end. A sumnary of the major 
assumptions follows: 

1996 1995 1994 

Discount rate for determining 
funded status 

Future salary increases 
Retum on assets in plans 

7.75% 
5.25% 

9% 

7.25% 
6% 
9% 

8.50% 
6% 
f% 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements amd Supplementary Data, (continued) 

12. PENSION PLANS (continued) 

The funded status of the plans and the amounts reflected in the acconpanying 
balemce sheets were as follows: 

December 31, 

1996 1995 

Funded 
Plans 

Unfunded 
Plems 

Funded 
Plans 

Unfunded 
Plems 

Actuarial present 
value of benefit 
obligations: 
Vested benefits 
Non-vested 

benefits 

Accumulated 
benefit 
obligation 

Effect of expected 
future salary 
increases 

Projected 
benefit 
obligation 

Fair value of 
assets in plems 

Funded status 

Unrecognized i n i t i a l 
net asset 

Unrecognized 
(gain) loss 

Unrecognized prior 
service cost 

Net pension l i a ­
b i l i t y included 
in the balance 
sheets 

($ in millions) 

758.6 

1.2 

759.8 

68.1 

827.9 

1,157.7 

329.8 

(30.2) 

(343,3) 

2.1 

(41,6) 

58,8 

58.8 

5.6 

64.4 

(64,4) 

20.9 

3,2 

(40.3) 

788.2 

0.1 

788.3 

115.3 

903.6 

1,060.6 

157.0 

(36.9) 

(179.2) 

2.8 

(56.3) 

50.8 

50.8 

11.5 

62.3 

(62.3) 

20.9 

3.8 

(37.6) 

Early Retirement Program in 1995 

During 1995, NS con^jleted a voluntary early retinanent program for certain 
salaried employees. The principal benefit for those who participated in this program was 
enhemced pension benefits, which are reflected in the acr:amulated benefit obligation. 
The charge for the 272 enqjloyees who accepted the offer i s included in "Compensation and 
benefits' expense and totaled $33.6 million (including $8.3 million related to 
postretirement benefits other than pensions). 
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Item 8 ! - - ! " ! ^ ! ^ statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

12. PENSION PLANS (continued) 

401(k) Plans 

NS R a i l provides 401(k) savings plans for employees Und.^ v̂, , 
matches a portion of employee contributions, sub^^t to ann??^!^ T-^^*"*' ''^ 
NS R a i l ' s expenses under these plans were $8,0 mil l ion S6 9 
in 1996. 1995 and 1994, respectively. - a n i o n , $6.9 milUon and S5.0 mil l ion 

13 POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 

NS Rail provides specified health care and death benefits to eligible retired 
enployees and their dependents by participating in welfare benefit plans sponsored by 
NS. Under the present plans, which may be amended or terminated »c NS' option, a defined 
percentage of health care expenses is covered, reduced by any deductibles, co-payrae;-\ts, 
Medicare payments and, in some cases, coverage provided by other group insurance 
policies. The cost of such health care coverage to a retiree may iDe determined, in part, 
by the retiree's years of creditable service with NS and its participating subsidiary 
companies prior to retirement. Death benefits are determined based on various factors, 
including, in some cases, salary at time of retirenvent. 

NS Rail continues to fund benefit costs principally on a pay-as-you-go basis. 
However, in 1991, NS established a Voluntary Employee Beneficiary Association (VEBA) 
account to fund a portion of the cost of future health care benefits for its retirees 
and those of it s participating subsidiary companies. The last corporate contribution to 
the VEBA was $10 million in 1994. 

Effective January 1, 1994, NS amended the attribution period for postretirement 
health care J^enefits. The amenciment generally provides for benefits to be determined 
ratably over a 10-year period based on creditable service commencing at age 45, or from 
date of liire i f enployment began after age 45. The amendment reduced the accumulated 
postretirement health care benefit obligation by $80 million, which will be amortized as 
a reduction in eumual cost on a pro rata basis over a six-year period. 

A summary of the prstretirement benefit cost follows: 

Service cost-h)enefits 
attributable to service 
during the year 

Interest cost on accumu­
lated postretirement 
benefit obligation 

Actual return on 
plan assets 

Net amortization 
and deferral 

Net postretirement 
benefit cost 

Cost of early retire­
ment benefits 

Total 

1996 

$ 10.0 

24,1 

(13.7) 

(4.0) 

16.4 

$ 16,4 

1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 9.1 

27.2 

(17.5) 

1.9 

20.7 

8.3 

$ 29,0 

1994 

$ 13.1 

23.8 

(13,9) 

23.0 

$ 23.0 
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Item 8. Finamcial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

13. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (continued) 

The following table sets forth these plans' total accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation, reconcilec with the accrued postretirement benefit obligation: 

December 31, 

Accumulated post-
retirement benefit 
obligation: 
Retirees 
Fully eligible 
active plan 
participemts 

Other active plam 
participants 

Total 
Plan assets 

at fair value 

Funded status 

Unrecognized 
loss (gain) 

Unrecognized 
prior service 
cost (benefit) 

Accrued post-
retirement 
benefit 
obligation 

1996 1995 

Health 
Care 

Benefits 

$ 162.8 

20.6 

41.8 

225,2 

85.8 

(139.4) 

(26.7) 

(36.8) 

$ (202.9) 

Death 
Be.ief i t s 

Health 
Care 

Benefits 

($ in millions) 

82.3 

7.0 

11.9 

101.2 

(101.2) 

(2.3) 

$ (103.5) 

$ 216.1 

21.4 

47.3 

284.8 

72.1 

(212.7) 

52.2 

(49.0) 

$ (209.5) 

Death 
Benefits 

82.8 

7.8 

12.6 

103.2 

(103.2) 

4.7 

$ (98.5) 

For measurement purposes, & 10.4% increase in the per capita cost of covered 
health care benefits was assumed for 1997. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 
an ultimate rate of 5.5% and remain at that level for 2005 and thereafter. The health 
care cost trend rate has a significemt effect on the amounts reported in the financial 
statements. To illustrate, increasing the assvuied trend rates by one percentage point in 
each year would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of 
December 31, 1996, by about $25 million and the aggregate of the service emd interest 
cost components of net postretirement benefit cost for the year 1996 by about 
$4 million. 

The weighted-average discount rate used in determining the acciunulated 
postretirement benefit obligation, the salary increase assumption and the long-term rat', 
of retum on plan assets are the seunc as those used for the pension plems (see taible of 
rate assumptions in Note 12). 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

13. POSTRETIREMENT BENEtITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (continued) 

The VEBA trust holding the plan assets is not expected to be subject to federal 
income taxes, as the assets are ir.ested entirely ir. trust-owned l i f e insuremce. 

Under collective bargaining agreements, NS ;Rail emd certain subsidiaries 
participate in a multiemployer benefit plan, which provides certain postretirement 
health care and l i f e insurance benefits to eligible union employees. Premiums under 
this plan are expensed as incurred and amounted to $3.6 million, $3.7 million and 
S4.8 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, 

14. FAIR VALUES OF I'INANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The raii values of "Cash emd cash equivalents,' "Short-term investments,' 
"Acco'ir.cs receivable,' "Short-term debt' and "Accovmts payable' approximate carrying 
values because of the short maturity of these financial instruments. 

The fair value of long-term "Investments' approximated $943 million anc 
SPj7 million at Decenû er 31, 1996 amd 19r5, respectively (see Note 5 for carrying 
values of "Investments'). The fair value of corporate-owned l i f e insurance approximates 
carrying value. Quoted market prices were used to determine the fair value of marketable 
securities which, ijeginiiing in 1994 (see Note 1, "Recjuired Accounting Changes'), were 
recorded at fair value. Carrying value adjustments, which are nnn-cash transactions, are 
not included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Underlying net assets were 
used to estimate the fair value of other investments. 

Under SFAS 115, NS Rail increased the reported carrying value of short-term and 
long-term invtstjnents classified as "available for sale' as follows: 

December 31, 

1996 1995 

Short- Short-
term Ecjuity term Ecjui-y 

.jecurities Securities Securities Securities 

($ in millions) 

Cost $ 335.0 $ 20.6 $ 242.2 $ 20.6 
Gross unrealized 
holding gain 
(loss) (0,6) 618.4 0.7 555.6 

F a i r value S 334.4 $ 639.0 $142.9 $ 576.2 
=====&= 

The short-term securities are principally U.S. I'reasury securities. Equity 
securities consist almost entirely of 7,252,634 shares of NS Common Stock. 

The change in the unrealized holding gain was $61.5 million for 1996 and 
S138.8 million for 1995. These changes primarily reflect changes in the NS stock 
price. As a result, stoc)cholder's equity increased $60.5 million in 1996 and 
$84.2 million in 1995. 

The fair value of "Long-term deot,' including current maturitie.5, approximated 
$627 million at December 31, 1996, and $606 million at December 31, l3'95. The fair 
values of debt were estimated based on quoted market prices or discounted cash flows 
using current intorest rates for debt with similar terms, compemy rating and remaining 
maturity (see Note 8 for carrying values of "Long-term debt'). The fair value of 
interest rate swaps i s immaterial. 

242 



60 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

15. NW--SUMMARIZED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

NW is operated as an integral part of NS Rail. Revenues are allocated to NW based 
on actual traffic movements as determined by revenue ton miles within market groups. 
Expenses cxe allocated to NW leased on appropriate criteria for the type of expense. The 
costs of functions performed by NS, the parent holding con.pemy of NS Rail, are also 
allocated to it s r a i l operating subsidiaries. 

NORFOLK AND WESTERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Summarized Consolidated Statf^ments of Income 

Years ended December 31, 

Railway operating 
revenues 

Railway operating 
expenses 

Income from railway 
operations 

Other - net 

Income before 
income taxes 

Provision for income taxes 

Net income 

1996 

$ 1.950.6 

1,351,6 

607.0 
49,8 

655,8 
228.4 

1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 1.911.2 

1,402.6 

508.7 
38.8 

547.5 
186.8 

1994 

$ ^,858.1 

1,382.7 

475.4 
25.8 

501.2 
175.1 

428.4 360.7 326.1 

NORFOLK AND WESTERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Summarized Consolidated Balance Sheets 

Assets 
Current assets 
Noncurrent assets 

Total assets 

As of Dc-cember 31, 

1996 1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 353.4 
5,631.2 

$ 5,984.6 

$ 298.3 
4,778.2 

$ 5,076.5 

L i e J s i l i t i e s ar.d Stockholder's Eciuity 
Current l i a b i l i t . r e s 
Noncurrent l i a b i l i t i e s 
Stockholder' s ec^ui ty 

Total l i e U s i l i t i e s and 
stockholder's ecjuity 

205.7 
1,812.5 
3,966.4 

$ 5,984.6 

246.2 
1,603.9 
3,226.4 

$ 5,076.5 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

15. NW--SUMMARI'-,ED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) 

On August 1, 1996, NS R a i l ' . ransferred 5,294,931 shares of NS stock t o NW as a 
c o n t r i b u t i o n to c a p i t a l . The t r ans fe r was recorded at h i s t o r i c a l cos t , and i r accordance 
w i t h Statement of F i n a n c i a l Accounting Standards No. 115, "Accounting f o r C e r t a i n 
Investments i n Debt and Equi ty Secur i t i e s , ' unrea l ized apprec ia t ion was recognized which 
increased "Noncurrent asse ts ' $478.2 m i l l i o n , "Noncurrent l i a b i l i t i e s ' $167.4 m i l l i o n , 
and *Stoc)cholder's e c iu i t y ' $310.8 . . ' . l l i o n . 

16. comiivAEms AND CONTINGENCIES 

Proposed Acqruisition of Conrail by NS 

On October 23, 1996, NS announced i t s intention to commence an all-cash tender 
offer for a l i shares of Conrail Inc. (Conrail), a Pennsylvania corporation. On October 
24, 1996, Atlemtic Acquisition Corporation, a Pennsylvania corporation and a wholly 
owned subsidiary of NS, offered to purchase a l l outstanding shares of Conrail's common 
stock and Series A ESOP Convertible Junior Preferred Stock (collectively, the Shares), 
including, i n each case, the associatcjd Common Stock Purchase Rights, at a price cf 
$100 per Share--approximately $9.1 b i l l i o n i n the aggregate. Sha .'es tendered i n the 
offer or acquired i n any sobsecjuen^ merger would be held i n a voting trust pending 
regulatory approval by the- STB. The offer followed the October IS announcement that 
Conrail had entered into a merger agreement with CSX Corporation (CSX), whereby Conrail 
stockholders would receive $92.50 i n cash per Share for up to 40 percent of t h e i r Shares 
and receive CSX common stock for the balance of t h e i r Shares. On Novemiaer 6, 1996, CSX 
and Conrail emnounced that CSX had raised the cash portion of i t s offer to $110 per 
Share and l e f t unchanged the r a t i o pursuant to which certain Conrail stoclcholders would 
receive shares of CSX common stock. On November 8, 1996, NS announced that i t had 
increased i t s all-cash offer to $110 per Share--approximately $10.0 b i l l i o n i n the 
aggregate. On December 19, 1996, CSX and Conrail announced that CSX was adding preferred 
stock (convertible into CSX common stock) to i t s o:ier--a feature said to be worth 
$16 per Share. On December 20, NS inc eased i t s all-cash offer to $115 per Share--
approximately $11 b i l l i o n i n the aggregate--and on January 13, 1997, NS announced that 
I t would offer to purchase up to 8.2 mi l l i o n Shares (approximately 9.9%), the 
approximate maximum number of Shares NS can buy without triggering Conraii's current 
anti-takeover defenses, for $115 per Share, i f Conrail stocicholders disapproved at a 
special meeting certain management recommendations designed to f a c i l i t a t e the merger 
with CSX. 

At that special meeting on January 17, 1997, Conrail stoclcholders did disapprove 
those recommendatior.s. Accordingly, on January 22, 1997, NS amended i t s pending all-cash 
tender offer b,, reducing the niomber of Shares sought to 8.2 m i l l i o n ; on February 11, 
1997, i t acciuired 8.2 m i l l i o n Shares for a t o t a l of $943 m i l l i o n , pursuamt to that 
amended offer. These Shares have been placed i n a voting trust and under certain 
circumstances might have to be sold at a loss. The Conrail board repeatedly has affirmed 
i t s commitment to a merger with CSX. 

On February 12, 1997, NS commenced a second tender offer for the remaining Shares. 
NS' second tender offer i s conditioned upon, among other things, the v a l i d tender of at 
least Shares s u f f i c i e n t , with those already owned by NS, to constitute at least a 
majority of the Shares on a f u l l y diluted basis. Subchapter 25F of Pennsylvania's 
Business Corporation Law not being applicable to the offer, Conrail's Rights Agreement 
(or poison p i l l ) having been redeemed or otherwise made inapplicable to NS' tender 
offer, the merger agreement between CSX and Conrail having been terminated i n accordance 
with i t s terms or otherwise, and other conditions. NS has rticeived a favorable opinion 
from the STB regarding the use of a voting trust and has obtained s u f f i c i e n t financing 
commitments (see "NS Debt Commitments'). 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 

The STB has proposed a schedule for handling Conrail control applications which 
could result in an STB decision in late 1997 or early 1998. If the STB does not approve 
NS' application or i f NS deems any conditions imposed by the STB too onerous, NS would 
have the right and obligation to s e l l a l l Shares held in the voting trust. Such a 
disposition could result in a significant loss. 

Through December 31, 1996, NS had incurred $76 million of costs associated with 
the proposed accjuisition. 

See also Note 17. 

NS Debt Commitments 

In cormection with the proposed accjuisition of Conrail, NS has i-.ecured debt 
commitments sufficient for the tender offer and subsequent merger. The commitments 
expire on August 1, 1997, except for a portion of a revolving credit f a c i l i t y expiring 
on August 1, 1998. The total commitment fees will approximate $200 million i f the entire 
facility i s used. At December 31, 1996, NS had incurred $57 million of commitment fees. 

In connection with the purchase of the 8.2 million Shares, NS arranged for 
commercial paper debt in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1.0 billion. All or part of 
this amount could be refinanced either by issuing additional commercial paper or through 
drawing on the debt commitment that has been arranged in connection with the all-cash 
$115 per share tender offer for a l l Shares. 

Lawsuits 

Norfolk Southern Railway Cozupany and certain subsidiaries are defendants in 
numerous lawsuits relating principally to railroad operations. While the final outcome 
cf these lawsuits cannct be predicted with certainty, i t is the opinion of Management, 
after consulting with i t s legal counsel, that the amount of NS Rail's ultimate l i a b i l i t y 
will not materially affect NS Rail's consolidated finemcial position. 

Environmental Matters 

NS Rail is subject to various jurisdictions' environmental laws and regulations. 
It is NS Rail's policry to record a l i a b i l i t y where such l i a b i l i t y or loss is probeUsle 
and cem be reasonably estimated. Claims, i f amy, against third parties for recovery of 
clean-up costs incurred by NS Rail are reflected as receivables in the balance sheet and 
are not netted against the associated NS Rail l i a b i l i t y . Environmental engineers 
participate in ongoing evaluations of a l l identified sites, emd--after consulting with 
counsel--emy necessary adjustments to i n i t i a l l i a b i l i t y estimates are made. NS Rail also 
has established em Environmental Policy Council, conposed of senior managers, to oversee 
and interpret i t s environniental policy. 

As of Decemhjer 31, 1996, NS Rail's balince sheet included a reserve for 
environmental exposures in the amount of $53 million (of which $12 million is accounted 
for as a current l i a b i l i t y ) , which is NS Rail's estimate of the probable costs at 
111 identified locations based on available information. On that date, nine sites 
accounted for $19 million of the reserve, emd no individual site was considered to be 
material. NS Rail emticipates that the majority of this l i a b i l i t y will t>e paid out over 
five years; however, some costs w i l l be paid out over a longer period. 

At mamy of the 111 locations, Norfolk Southem R.-ai Iway and/or certain of it s 
subsidiaries, usually in conjunction with a numJoer of other parties, have been 
identified as potentially responsible parties by the Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA) or similar state authorities under the Conprehensive Environmental 
Response, Con^sensation, amd Liability Act of 1980, or compar/ible state statutes, 
which often impose joint and several l i a b i l i t y for cleem-up costs. 
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Item 8. Finamcial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 

With respect to )cnown environmental sites (whether identified by NS Rail or by the 
EPA or comparable state authorities), estimates of NS Rail's ultimate potential 
financial exposure for a given site or in the aggregate for a l l such sites are 
necessarily imprecise because of the widely varying costs of currently available clean­
up technicjues, the likely development of new clean-up technologies, the difficulty of 
determining in advance the nature and full extent of conteunination amd each potential 
participamt's share of any estimated loss (and that participant's ability to bear i t ) 
and evolving statutory and regulatory standards goveming l i a b i l i t y . 

The risk of incurring environmental liaJ3ility--for acts and omissions, past, 
p.resent emd future—is inherent in the railroad business. Some of the conmodities, 
particularly those classified as hazardous materials, in NS Rail's traffic mix can pose 
special risks that NS Rail and it s subsidiaries work diligently to minimize. Ir 
addition, NS Rail owns, or has o«med in the past, land holdings used as operating 
property, or which are leased or may have been leased and operated by others, or held 
for sale. Because certain conditions may exist on these properties related to 
environmental problems that are latent or undisclosed, there can be no assuramce thar 
NS Rai 1 w i l l not incur l i a b i l i t i e s or costs with respect to one or more of them, the 
amox'jat and materiality of which cannot be estimated reliably now. Moreover, lawsuits and 
cl'.ims i.?volving these and other now-unidentified environmental sites and matters are 
likely to arise from time to time. The resulting l i a b i l i t i e s could have a significant 
effect on financial condition, results of operations or liquidity in a particular year 
or cjuarter. 

However, based on it s assessments of the facts and cii-cxanstances now known and, 
after consulting with i t s legal coxmsel. Management believes that i t has recorded the 
probable costs based on available information for those environmental matters of which 
the Corporation is aware. Further, Management believes that i t i s unlikely that any 
identified matters, either individually or in aggregate, will have a material adverse 
effect on NS Rail's financial position, results of operations or licjuidity. 

Change-in-Control Arrangements 

.»orfolk Southem has compensation agreements with officers and certain key 
enployees, which become operative only upon a change in control of the Corporation, as 
defined in those agreements. The agreements provide generally for payments based on 
compensation at the time of a covered individual's involuntary or other specified 
termination and for certain other benefits. 

Capital Expenditure Coinnitment 

In connection with a long-term transportation contract entered into during 1996, 
NS Rail has comnitted to construct and operate four motor vehicle distribution centers. 
These f a c i l i t i e s are scheduled for completion in 1998. 

Debt Guarantees 

As of December 31, 1996, NS Rail and certain of its subsidiaries are contingently 
liable as guarantors with respect to $48.7 million of indebtedness of related entities. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements amd Supplementary Data, (continued) 

17. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT-CONRAIL 
DEVELOPMENTS (UNAUDITED) 

Pursuant to an amendment to the merger agreement between CSX and Conrail axmounced 
on March 7, 1997, CSX has offered to purchase a l l Shares for $115 per Share in cash and 
CSX i s permitted to enter into negotiations with other parties, including NS, conceming 
the acciuisition of the securities or assets, or concessions relating to the assets or 
operations, of Conrail. NS and CSX are negotiating a con?>rehensive resolution of the 
issues confronting the eastem railroads based on the proposal submitted by NS to both 
CSX and Conrail on February 24, 1997. Such a resolution could involve a joint 
acquisition of Shares by NS and CSX. However, unless and until such negotiations are 
successfully concluded, NS intends to continue in effect i t s tender offer for a l l Shares 
not owned by NS. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

The Stoclcholders and Board of Directors 
Norfolk Southem Railway Compemy: 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Norfolk Southern Railway 
Company and subsidiaries as listed in the index in Item 8. In connection with our audits 
of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the consolidated 
financial statement schedule listed in Item 14(a)2. These consolidated financial 
statements emd this consolidated financial statement schedule are the responsibility of 
the Compemy's management. Our responsibility is to express am opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements and this consolidated finemcial statement schedule 
based on our audits 

We conducted our audits in accordemre with generally accepted .auditing standards. Those 
stanciarcis require that we plem and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuremce 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the eunoiints amd disclosures in 
the fiiiancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used emd significant estimates made by management, as well AS evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, 
in a l l material respects, the finemcial position of Norfolk Southem Railway Company emd 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 1996, 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the 
related consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the 
basic consolidated finemcial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in a l l 
material respects, the information set forth herein. 

/•/ KPHS Peat Marwick LLP 

Norfolk, Virginia 
January 28, 1997, except as to the second and third paragraphs of Note 16, which are as 
of February 12, 1997 
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Item 9, Chamges in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting 

and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

PART I I I 

Item 10, Directors amd Executive Officers of the Registramt, 

Item 11. Executive Condensation, 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners 

amd Mamagement. 

amd 

Item 13. Certain Relationships amd Related Tramsactions. 

In accordamce with General Instruction G(3), the information 
called for by Part I I I i s incorporated herein by refer<mce from Norfolk 
Southem Railway's definitive Proxy Statement, to be dated April 15, 
1997, for the Norfolk Southern Railway Annual Meev-.ing of Stockholders 
to be held on May 27, 1997, which definitive Proxy Statement wi l l be 
filed electronically with the Commission pursuamt to Regulation 14A. 
The infcrmation regardiiig executive officers called for by Item 401 of 
Regulation S-K i s included in Part I hereof beginning on page 18 under 
"Executive Officers of the Registrant.' 
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PART IV 

Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule, amd Reports on 

Form 8-K. 

(a) The following documents are filed ais part of this report: 

1. Index to Consolidated Finamcial Statements: Page 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994 40 

Consolidated Balamce Sheets 
As of December 31, 1996 amd 1995 41 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 amd 1994 42 

Consolidated Statements of Chamges in 
Stockholders' Equity 

Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994 43 

Notes to Consolidated Finemcial Statements 44 

Independent Auditors' Report 45 

2. Finamcial Statement Schedule: 
The following consolidated finamcial statement schedule 
should be read in connection with the consolidated finamcial 
statements: 

Index to Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule Page 

Schedule I I - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 72 

Schedules other tham the one listed above are omitted either 
because they are not recjuired or aure inapplicadsle, or because 
the information i s included in the consolicJated finamcial 
statements or related notes. 

3. Exhibits 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

3 Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws -

3(i) The amended Restated Articles of Incorporation 
of Norfolk Southem Railway Company are 
incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 3(a) 
of Norfolk Southem Railway's 1990 Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. 
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Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule, and Reports on 

Form 8-K. (continued) 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

3 ( i i ) The Bylaws of Norfolk Southern Railway Compamy, 
as l a s t amended March 3, 1993, are incorporated 
herein by reference from Exhibit 3(b) of Norfolk 
Southern Railway's 1992 Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

4 Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, 
Including Indentures -

In accordance with Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of 
Regulation S-K, copies of instruments of Norfolk 
Southern Railway amd i t s subsidiaries with respect 
to the rights of holders of long-term debt are 
not f i l e d herewith, or incorporated by reference, 
but w i l l be furnished to the Commission upon recjuest. 

10 Material Contracts -

(a) The Supplementary Agreement, entered into as of 
Jamuary 1, 1987, between the Trustees of the 
Cincinnati Southem Railway amd The Cincinnati, 
New Orleams amd Texas Pacific Railway Conpany 
(the la t t e r a wholly owned subsidiary of Norfolk 
Southern Railway) - extending amd amending a 
Lease, dated as .--f October 11, 1881 (both the 
Lease amd Supplementary Agreement, formerly 
incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10(b) 
to Southern's 1987 Annual Report on Form 10-K) -
i s incorporated herein by reference from 
Exhibit 10(a) to Norfolk Southern Railway's 
1994 Annual Report on Form 10-K, 

21 Subsidiaries of the Registramt. 

27 Financial Data Sch'idule. 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K, 

No reports on Form 8-K were f i l e d for the three months 
ended December 31, 1996. 

(c) Exhibits. 

The Exhibits recjuired by Item 601 of Regulation S-K 
as l i s t e d i n Item 14(a)3 are f i l e d herewith or 
incorporated herein by reference. 
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Item 14 

Exhibit 
Number 

69 

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule, amd Reports on 

Form 8-K, (continued) 

Description 

(d) Finamcial Statement Schedules. 

Finamcial statement schedules amd separate finamcial 
statements specified by this Item are included in 
Item 14 (a) 2 or are otherwise not recjuired or are not 
applica±>le. 
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

Each person whose signature appears below under "SIGNATURES" 
hereby authorizes Henry C. Wolf and James C. Bishop, Jr., or either of 
them, to execute in the naune of each such person, and to f i l e , any 
amenciment to this report and hereby appoints Henry C. Wolf amd 
James C. Bishop, Jr., or either of them, as attorneys-in-fact to sign 
on his behalf, individually and in each capacity stated below, and to 
f i l e , any amd a l l aunendments to this report. 

SIGNATURES 

Pursuamt to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchamge Act of 1934, Norfolk Southern Railway Compamy has 
duly caused this report to be signed on i t s behalf by the undersigned, 
thereunto duly authorized, on this 17th day of March, 1997. 

NORFOLK SOITTHEKN RAILWAY COMPANY 

By /s/ D.wid R. Goode 

(David R. Goode, President and Chief 
Executive Officer) 

Pursuamt to the requirements of the Securities Exchamge Act 
of 1934, this report has been signed below on this 17th day of March, 
1997, by the following persons on behalf of Norfolk Southem Railway 
Company amc? in the capacities indicated. 

Signature T i t l e 

/s/ David R. Goode 

President and Chief Executive 
(David R Goode) Officer and Director 

(Principal Executive Officer) 
I s l John P. Rathbone 

Vice President amd Controller 
(John P, Rathbone) (Principal Accoiinting Officer) 

/s/ Henry C, Wolf 
Vice President-Finamce 

(Henry C. Wolf) (Principal Finamcial Officer) 
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Signature 

/s/ James c. Bishop, Jr, 

(Jaunes C. Bishop, Jr.) 

T i t l e 

Director 

/s/ Jon L, Mametta 

(Jon L, Mametta) 
Director 

/s/ L, I . Prillamam 

(L. I . Prillaman) 
Director 

/s/ Stephen C. Tobias 

(Stephen C. Tobias) 

I s / H«nry C. Wolf 

(Henry C. Wolf) 

Director 

Director 
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Schedule I I 
Page 1 of 2 

Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Subsidiaries 

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
Years Ended December 31, 1994, 1995 and 1996 

(In millions of dollars) 

Additions charged to 

Beginning Other Ending 
Balemce Expenses Accounts Deductions Balai ̂  J 

Vear ended December 31, 1994 

Valuation allowamce iincluded 
net in deferred tax 
l i a b i l i t y ) for deferred tax 
assets $ 2.0 

Casualty and other claims 
included in other 
l i a b i l i t i e s $ 277.7 

Current portion of casualty 
and other claims included 
in accounts payaUole $155.5 

$ - $ 1.4 $ 0.6 

$105.3 $ 2.5 (1) $121,3 (2) $ 264.2 

$ 26,8 $163,7 (1) $181.9 (3) $164.1 

Year ended December 31, 1995 

Valuation allowance (included 
net in deferred teuc 
l i a b i l i t y ) for deferred tax 
assets $ 0.6 

Casualty emd other claims 
included in other 
l i a b i l i t i e s $ 264,2 

Current portion of casualty 
emd other claims included 
in accounts payable $164.1 

$ 0.1 $ 0,5 

$ 99,5 $ 3,1 (1) $109.5 (2) $ 257.3 

$ 21.1 $163.5 (1) $185.1 (3) $163.6 

(1) Includes revenue overcharges provided through charges to operating revenues and 
transfers from other accounts. 

(2) Payments and reclassifications to/from accounts payable. 

(3) Payments and reclassifications to/from other l i a b i l i t i e s . 

(continued) 
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Schedule I I 
Page 2 of 2 

Norfolk Southem Railway Con̂ samy and Subsidiaries 

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
Years Endec December 31, 1994, 1995 and 1996 

(In millions of dollars) 

Additions charged to 

Beginning Other Ending 
Balemce Expenses Accounts Deductions Balemce 

Year ended December 31, 1996 

Valuation allowamce (included 
net i n deferred tax 
l i a b i l i t y ) for deferred tax 
assets $ p.5 

Casualty and other claims 
included i n other 
l i a b i l i t i e s $ 257.3 

Current portion of casualty 
and other claims included 
in accounts payable $163.6 

$ 0.1 $ -- $ - $ 0.6 

$115.1 S 4.0 (1) $129.1 (2) $ 247.3 

$ 15.6 $154.5 (1) $168.3 (3) $165.4 

(1) Includes revenue overcharges provided through charges to operating revenues and 
transfers from other accounts. 

(2) Payments and reclassifications to/from accounts payable, 

(3) Payments emd reclassifications to/from other l i a b i l i t i e s . 

.mam 
mm 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

Electronic 
Submission 
Exhibit 
Nvimber 

21 

27 

Description 

Subsidiaries of Norfolk Southem Railway, 

Finamcial Data Schedule (Recjuired to be 
electronically submittecj for use by the 
Securities and Exchamge Commission only 
amd not deemed part of this filing) . 

Page 
Number 

75 

mm 
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EXHIBIT 21 
Page 1 of 1 

NAME AND STATE OF INCORPORATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 
OF NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY 

AS OF MARCH 1, 1997 

Airforce Pipeline, I n c , North Carolina 
Alabama Great Southem Railroad Company, The; Alabama 
Atlamtic and j^ast Carolina Railway Compamy, North Carolina 
Cautp Lejeune Railroad Coitqpamy, North Carolina 
Central of (Georgia Railroad Coit^sany, Georgia 
Chesapeake Westem Railway, Virginia 
Cincinnati, New Orleams and Texas Pacific Railway Conqpany, The; Ohio 
Citico Realty Conpamy, Virginia 
Georgia Southern and Florida Railway Conpamy, Georgia 
High Point, Randleman, Asheboro amd Southem Railroad Conpany, North 

Carolina 
Interstate Railroad Conpamy, Virginia 
Lamberts Point Barge Conpemy, Inc., Virginia 
Me..phis amd Charleston Railway Conpamy, Mississippi 
Mobile amd nirmingham Railroad Conpamy, Alabauna 
Norfolk and Portsmouth Belt Line Railroad Conpamy, Virginia 
Norfolk and Westem Railway Conpamy, Virginia 
North Carolina Midland Railroad Conpamy, The; North Carolina 
Rail Investment Compamy, Delaware 
Shenamdoah-Virginia Corporation, Virginia 
South Westem Rail Road Conpamy, The; Georgia 
Southern Rail Terminals, Inc., Georgia 
Southern Rail Terminals of North Carolii^a, Inc., North Carolina 
Southern Region Coal Tramsport, Inc., Alabaxna 
Southern Region Materials Supply, I n c , Georgia 
Southern Region Motor Tramsport, Inc., Georgia 
State University Railroad Conpamy, North Carolina 
Tennessee, Alaibama & Georgia Railway Conpany, Delaware 
Tennessee Railway Conpamy, Tennessee 
Virginia and Southwestem Railway Conpany, Virginia 
Yadkin Railroad Conpany, North Carolina 

NOTE: Of the above subsidiaries, each of which i s more than 50% owned, 
only Norfolk and Western Railway Conpany meets the Commission's 
"significamt subsidiary" test on an individual basis. 
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Washington, D. C. 20549 

FORM 10-K 
(Mark One) , , 

[X] ANNT-'AL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE 
.'?ECXmiTIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 [FEE REQUIRED] 

For the fiscal year ended December 31. 1S96 
OR 

[ ) TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE 
SECUR:TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 [NO FEE REQUIRED] mm 
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Commission Pile No. 1-12184 
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Registrant's telephone number, including area code (215) 209-4000 
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T i t l e of each class Name of each exchange on which registered 

Conrail Inc. New York Stock Exchange 
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reports), and (2) has been subject to such f i l i n g requirements for the past 90 days. 
Yes X No 

Indicate by check mark i f disclcsure of delinquent f i l e r s pursuant to Item 4 05 of 
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PART I 
Item 1. Business. 

and 
Item 2. Properties. 

GENERAL. Conrail Inc. was incorporated i n Pennsylvania on 
February 12, 1993 and on July 1, 1993 became the holding company of 
Consolidated Rail Corporation. Consolidated Rail Corporation i s 
Conrail Inc.'s only s i g n i f i c a n t subsidiary and primary asset. Conrail 
Inc.'s common stock i s l i s t e d on the New York and Philadelphia Stock 
Exchanges. 

Consolidated R a i l Corporation i s a Pennsylvania corporation 
incorporated on February 10, 1976 to acquire, pursuant to the Regional 
Rail Reorganization Act of 1973, the r a i l properties of many of the 
ra i l r o a d s i n the northeast and midwest region of the United States 
which had gone bankrupt during the early 1970's, the largest which 
was the Penn Central Transportation Company ("Penn Central"). 

Reports on Form 10-K f o r years p r i o r to 1993 were f i l e d by 
Consolidated Rail Corporation, and h i s t o r i c Hata presented herein and 
therein r e f l e c t the r e s u l t s of Consolidated K a i l Corporation for those 
time periods. Unless otherwise indicated, references to Conrail p r i o r 
to July 1, 1993 denote Consolidated Rail Corporation and i t s 
consolidated subsidiaries, and references to Conrail a f t e r July 1, 
1993 denote Conrail Inc. and i t s consolidated subsidiaries. 

PROPOSED MERGER. On October 14, 1996, Conrail, CSX Corporation 
("CSX") and a subsidiary of CSX entered into an Agreement and Plan of 
Merger (as amended, the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which Conrail 
was to be merged with a subsidiary of CSX i n a merger-of-equals 
transaction. 

On October 24, 1996, Norfolk Southern Corporation ("Norfolk") 
commenced an u n s o l i c i t e d tender o f f e r for a l l outstanding Conrail 
voting stock at $100 per share i n cash. Norfolk has since increased 
i t s o f f e r to $115 per share i n cash. 

On November 20, 1996, CSX concluded i t s f i r s t tender o f f e r and 
purchased approximately 19.9% of Conrail's outstanding shares for $110 
per share. 

On December 18, 1996, CSX and Conrail entered i n t o a second 
amendment to the Merger Agreement (the "Second Amendment") that would, 
among other things, ( i ) increase the consideration payable pursuant to 
the merger, ( i i ) accelerate the consummation of the merger to 
immediately following the receipt of applicable shareholder approvals 
anr' o r i o r to the Surface Transportation Board ("STB") approval and 
( i l l ) extend u n t i l December 31, 1998 an e x c l u s i v i t y period during 
which the Conrail Board agreed not to withdraw or modify i t s 
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recommendations of the CSX transact.icns, approve or recommend any 
takeover proposal or clause Conrail to enter i n t o any agrpemeiit related 
to any takeover proposal. 

On January 13, 1997, Norfolk issued a press release announcing 
that i t would o f f e r to purchase shares representing 9.9% of the 
outstanding shares f o r $115 per share, i n the event that Conrail 
shareholders did not approve a proposal to opt out of a Pennsylvania 
statute (the "Opt Out Proposal") at the meeting of shareholders to be 
held on January 17, 1997 (the "Special Shareholders Meeting"). 

On January 17, 1997, Conrail shareholders voted at the Special 
Shareholders Meeting against the Opt Out Proposal. 

On February 4, 1997, the amended Norfolk tender o f f e r expired, 
and Norfolk subsequently purchased approximately 8.2 m i l l i o n Shares 
pursuant thereto. 

On March 7, 1997, Conrail and CSX entered i n t o a Third Amendment 
(the "Third Amendment") to the Merger Agreement. Pursuant to the 
Third Amendment, ( i ) the price per share has been increased from $110 
to $115, and the number of shares to be purchased i n the tender o f f e r 
has been increased to a l l outstanding shares. The tender o f f e r i s 
scheduled to close A p r i l 18, 1997 (subject to extension by CSX to June 
2, 1997 whether or not the conditions have been s a t i s f i e d ) , ( i i ) the 
consideration paid per share i n the merger f o r a l l remaining 
outstanding shares following consummation of the o f f e r has been 
increased to $115 i n cash and ( i i i ) the conditions to the of f e r 
r e l a t i n g to certain provisions of Pennsylvania law becoming 
inapplicable to Conrail and r e l a t i n g pending governmental actions or 
proceedings have been deleted. 

The Third Amendment also provides that CSX w i l l have sole control 
over the regulatory approval process and w i l l be free to conduct b'/ 
i t s e l f discussions with other ra i l r o a d s , including Norfolk, r e l a t i n g 
to competitive issues raised by the CSX transactions, and to enter 
into any r e s u l t i n g agreement. I t i s ant i c i p a t e d that CSX and Norfolk 
w i l l negotiate an appropriate d i v i s i o n of Conrail's assets; however, 
neither the pending CSX tender o f f e r nor the merger i s conditioned on 
CSX's reaching an agreement wit h Norfolk. 

Pursuant to the Third Amendment, three members of Conrail's Board 
of Directors approved by CSX s h a l l be i n v i t e d to j o i n the CSX Board of 
Directors and a t r a n s i t i o n team w i l l be established, the leadership of 
which w i l l include senior executive o f f i c e r s of CSX and Conrail to 
ensure the orderly operation of Conrail during the regulatory approval 
process and an orderly t r a n s i t i o n t h e r e a f t e r . 

Under the Third Amendment, Conrail and CSX agreed to reduce from 
December 31, 1998 to December 31, 1997 the pf.'riod of time during which 
the Conrail Board i s prohibited from ( i ) withdrawing or modifying, or 
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p u b l i c l y proposing to withdraw or modify, i t s approval or 
recommendation of the CSX transactions, i n a manner adverse to CSX, 
( i i ) approving or recommending, or p u b l i c l y proposing to approve or 
recommend, any competing proposal or ( i i i ) causing Conrail to enter 
into any agreement related to any such compet .ng proposal. 

Under the Merger Agreement as amended, Conrail may terminate the 
Merger Agreement i n the event that a f t e r June 2, 1997, CSX f a i l s to 
consummate the tender o f f e r for any reason other than the non­
occurrence of any condition to the tender o f f e r . In the event that 
CSX f a i l s to consummate the tender o f f e r under such circumstances, 
Conrail w i l l be e n t i t l e d to exercise any additi o n a l remedies i t may 
have. 

The f u l l terms and conditions of the CSX and Norfolk o f f e r s and 
Conrail's p o s i t i o n with respect to the CSX and Norfolk o f f e r s are set 
f o r t h i n documents f i l e d by Conrail with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. 

RAIL OPERATIONS. Conrail, through i t s wholly-owned subsidiary 
Consolidated Rail Corporation, provides f r e i g h t transportation 
services w i t h i n the northeast and midwest United States, Conrail 
interchanges f r e i g h t with other United States and Canadian ra i l r o a d s 
for transport to destination;; w i t h i n and outside Conrail's service 
region. Conrail operates m .gnif leant l i n e of business other than 
the f r e i g h t r a i l r o a d business and does not provide common c a r r i e r 
passenger or commuter t r a i n service. 

Conrail serves a heavily i n d u s t r i a l region that i s marked by 
dense population centers which constitute a suostantial market for 
consumer durable and non-durable goods, and a market for raw materials 
used i n manufacturing and by e l e c t r i c u t i l i t i e s . Conrail's t r a f f i c 
levels and, as a r e s u l t , i t s f i n a n c i a l performance are s u b s t a n t i a l l y 
affected by i t s a b i l i t y to compete with trucks and other r a i l r o a d s , 
the economic strength of the industries and metropolitan areas that 
produce and consume the f r e i g h t Conrail hauls and the t r a f f i c 
generated by Conrail's connecting r a i l r o a d s . Conrail remains dependent 
on non-bulk t r a f f i c , which tends to generate higher revenues than bulk 
commodities, but also involves higher costs and i s more vulnerable tc 
f:uck competition. 

The Service Group System. Beginning i n 1994, Conrail's 
Marketing and Sales Department and related segments of i t s Operating 
Depaitment were organized i n t o four service groups: CORE Service, 
Intermodal Service, Unit Train Service and Automotive Service. 
Petrochemicals and Minerals, food and a g r i c u l t u r e products, forest and 
manufactured products, and metals are handled by the CORE Service 
Group. The Intermode1 Service Group handles intermodal t r a i l e r s and 
containers. The Unit Train Service Group handles coal and ore 
t r a f f i c . The Automotive Service Group handles automotive parts and 
finished vehicles. Each of these groups controls the integrated 
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planning, pricing and operating functions that w i l l enable them to 
ta i l o r services, cievelop products and make capital investments 
directed toward the special requirem.ents of their respective 
customers. 

Revenues for the Service Groups for 1992 through 1996, together 
with total annual t r a f f i c volumes, are set forth i n the following 
tables. 

SIRVZCI GROUPS - RXVXMUES ($ in Mlllioni) 

Years ended December 31, 

CORE Seivice Group(l) 
Reveiuies(2) 
Percem of total 

1996 

$1,542 
43.9% 

1995 

$1,557 
44.5% 

1994 

$1,587 
44.5% 

1993 

$1,514 
45.9% 

1992 

$1,468 
46 0% 

Imennodal Service Group 
Rcvenues(2) 
Percent of total 

747 
21.3% 

701 
20.0% 

742 
20.8% 

647 
19.6% 

597 
18.7% 

Unit Train Service Giaap 
Revenues(2) 
Percent of total 

666 
19.0% 

659 
18 8% 

631 
177% 

583 
17.7% 

673 
21 1% 

Automotrv'e Senice Groop 
Revenucs(2) 
Penent of total 

543 
15.5% 

549 
15.7% 

558 
15.7% 

505 
15.3% 

443 
13.9% 

TouI Unassigned Revenue(2) 11 
0.3% 

36 
1.0% 

46 
1.3% 

48 
1.5% 

10 
0.3% 

Total line haul revenue 
Miscellaneous revenue(3) 
Total freight revenue 

$3,509 
205 

$3 714 

$3,502 
IM 

$3,564 
_162 

$3.733 

$3,297 $3,191 
154 

(1) Petrochemicals and 
Minerals 

Food and Agnculture 
Forest and Mfg Products 
Metals 

Total CORE Srv . Gip. 

$582 
335 
SIS 
307 

S1.M2 

$584 
353 
329 
291 

$603 
361 
326 
297 

$565 
351 
308 
290 

$1.514 

$541 
347 
315 

-265 
$1468 

(2) Revenues for the years 1992 through 1994 have been reclassified to exclude 
unassigned revenue from Service Group totals to provide more accurate 
comparisons to the current period. 

(3) Includes switching, demurrage and other miscellaneous revenues. 
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SKRVZCE GROUPS - VOLUME IN UNITS 
(PRKX6HT CARS AKC ZMTERMOOAL TRAILERS AND CONTAINERS) 

(In Tbousanda) 

Years ended December 31, 
1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

CORE Service Group (1) 1,235 1,254 1,321 1.30.4 1.213 

Intermodal Service Group 1.584 1,473 1,589 1.355 1,220 

Unit Train Service Giovp 862 862 912 878 964 

Automotive Service Group m 299 396 360 319 
Total Volume 4.073 98X 4.218 3895 3716 

(1) Petrochemicals and 
Minerals 350 358 376 374 360 

Food and Agnculture 257 265 289 295 284 
Forest and Mfg Products 290 306 318 309 290 
Metals 138 225 338 .m 279 

Total CORE Srv (jip U31 12a 1.321 1.302 1.213 

CORE Service Group: 

In 1996, revenues and volume f o r t h i s service group declined 1% 
and 1.6%, respectively, from 1995, Revenue i n each of the business 
units comprising the CORE Service Group declined i n 1996, except i n 
the Metals Business Group which experienced revenue growth of 5.4% 
over 1995. 

Petrochemicals and Minerals: This commodity group consists cf a 
wide v a r i e t y of commodities, including a g r i c u l t u r a l and organic 
chemicals, p l a s t i c p e l l e t s , soda ash, construction minerals, petroleum 
products and waste. The majo r i t y of t r a f f i c i s j o i n t - l i n e and the 
primary flows are between Louisiana and Texas, (as o r i g i n a t i n g 
sources), and Delaware, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania (as destination 
p o i n t s ) . This commodity group's customer base and or i g i n / d e s t i n a t i o n 
pair mix are both large and diverse, with none occupying a dominant 
po s i t i o n i n terms of Conrail's t r a f f i c volume or revenues. Conrail's 
t r a f f i c i n t h i s commodity group increased i n 1992 and 1993, leveled 
o f f i n 1994, and declined s l i g h t l y i n 1995 and 1996, with reven-J2 and 
volume down 0.3% and 2.5% respectively. Revenues from minerals 
products, which accounted for one-fourth of t h i s group's volume i n 
1996, declined approximately 5% as the r e s u l t of several plant 
closings. 

The largest component of t h i s business i s chemical t r a f f i c , 
accounting f o r approximately 44% of the revenue and 36% of the volume 
i n 1996. This t r a f f i c includes chlorine, smaller volumes of other 
hazardous chem.icals and non-hazardous substances which, i f s p i l l e d or 
released i n t o the atmosphere, could be dangerous and could r e s u l t i n 
s i g n i f i c a n t l i a b i l i t y to Conrail. Under catastrophic circum.stances, 
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such l i a b i l i t y could exceed Conrail's $300 m i l l i o n i n insurance 
coverage f o r such accidents. I t i s impossible to eliminate the r i s k 
of such l i a b i l i t y ; however, Conrail has not experienced any 
s i g n i f i c a n t l i a b i l i t y as a re s u l t of an accident involving chlorine or 
any other such substance. Furthermore, Conrai j ) . safety procedures 
designed to prevent the occurrence of such acci:'; j i l i m i t t h e i r 
impact should they occur, and works i n concert wi chemdcal 
manufacturers to reduce the risks i n transporting these commodities, 
subscribing to the p o l i c i e s and procedures defined under Responsible 
Care partnerships. The year 1996 marked Conrail's f i r s t complete year 
as a Responsible Care partner. 

Increasing regulation by federal, state and lo c a l governments of 
the transportation and handling of hazardous and non-hazardous 
substances and waste has increased the administrative burden and costs 
of transporting certain commodities i n t h i s group. 

Food and Agriculture: This commodity group includes fresh and 
processed food products moving p r i m a r i l y in boxcars, grain, grain 
products and a g r i c u l t u r a l chemicals moving i n covered hopper and tank 
cars. Conrail's revenue declined by 5,1% and units declined by 2,8% 
in 1996 from 1995 levels. In the food commodities area, market share 
declines of several large customers account for the difference i n 
volume and revenue from 1995 levels. Agriculture volume declined as 
record grain prices caused domestic users to reduce t h e i r use of grain 
and grain products. The 13.8% revenue decline i n grain and grain 
products i s p r i m a r i l y a t t r i b u t a b l e to an increase i n grain shippers' 
use of p r i v a t e cars. 

Forest and Manufactured Products: This commodity group includes 
paper and wood products moving m boxcars, certain lumber a.nd related 
products moving on f l a t c a r s , and general manufactured commocities 
moving i n boxcars. Paper products account for 57% of 1996 revenue f o r 
t h i s group, followed by wood products (30%), and manufactured products 
(13%). A 5.3% volume decline was p a r t i a l l y o f f s e t by increases i n 
revenue per u n i t , which yielded a net revenue decrease of 3.3%. High 
inventories and product prices drove paper receivers to work o f f 
e x i s t i n g inventories, reducing r a i l volume. Most of the inventory 
adjustments have taken place and shipments are expected to return to 
normal for 1997. 

Metals: This commodity group includes scrap ferrous products and 
semi-finished, finished and sheet s t e e l . In 1995, t h i s group 
experienced decreases i n revenue and volume due to increased truck 
competition and selective price increases on low margin business. In 
1996, volume increased 4% and revenues grew 5.4% over 1995. Mar)cet 
share gains from new m i n i - m i l l s located on Conrail, capacity increases 
due t o the acquisition of new c o i l cars and aggressive business 
development a c t i v i t y contributed to the year over year growth. 
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Intermodal Service Group 

Conrail continues to be one of the r a i l industry's leaders i n 
handling intermodal t r a f f i c . Volume and revenue increased 7.6% and 
6,6%, respectively, i n 1996 from 1995. Conrail handled nearly 1,6 
m i i l i c n units of intermodal t r a f f i c i n 1996. 

Conrail's intermodal t r a f f i c consists of three segments. The 
f i r s t segment i s Conrail's parcel/package t r a f f i c , which p r i n c i p a l l y 
involves shipments f o r the U.S. Postal Service, United Parcel Service 
and less-than-truck-load companies. Revenue i n t h i s segment increased 
by 7.3% i n 1996. 

Thfe second segment i s domestic t r a f f i c , which includes a v a r i e t y 
of commodities and customers. Revenue i n t h i s segment increased by 
7.8% i n 1996. T r a f f i c from major truckload companies continued to 
increase, as did t r a f f i c from intermodal marketing companies (or t h i r d 
party f r e i g h t consolidators and brokers) . 

International conta:.ner t r a f f i c c onstitutes the t h i r d segiiient cf 
Conrail's intermodal t r a f f i c . I n t e r n a t i o n a l container t r a f f i c chiefs/ 
involves goods produced i n the Pacific Basin and shipped by r a i l from 
west coast ports to east coast markets, Conrail and i t s western 
r a i l r o a d connections are able to p a r t i c i p a t e i n t h i s t r a f f i c because 
they have established superior t r a n s i t time compared with the a l l -
water route through the Panama Canal. Conrail also p a r t i c i p a t e s i n 
t r a f f i c moving through A t l a n t i c ports f o r import and export trade with 
European and Mediterranean markets. Revenue from Conrail's 
inte r n a t i o n a l intermodal t r a f f i c increased 4.6% i n 1996. 

In 1996, Conrail opened a new intermodal terminal i n Pittsburgh, 
PA, i n i t i a t e d service from the Ameriport terminal i n Philadelphia and 
reopened i t s intermodal terminal i n Buffalo. 

Unit Train Service Group 

In 1996, revenues for t h i s service group increased by 
approximately 1.1%, despite no increase i n t r a f f i c volume. 

U t i l i t y coal t r a f f i c , which makes up the majority of Conrail's 
coal business, increased 10.4% with a 13.5% increase i n revenue i n 
1996. U t i l i t y coal m.oves from mines located on and o f f Conrail's 
system to e l e c t r i c u t i l i t i e s located on Conrail, Annual t r a f f i c 
volumes fl u c t u a t e with the inventory practices of the e l e c t r i c 
u t i l i t i e s , t h e i r use of a l t e r n a t i v e sources of energy and the weather. 
The 1996 increase r e f l e c t s a very cold winter w i t h lower u t i l i z a t i o n 
cf nuclear uni t s i n Conrail's service area. 

The u t i l i t y industry i s undergoing a process of deregulation 
which i s changing the competitive environrient i n t h i s key Conrail 
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market. Deregulation w i l l increase the downward pressure on u t i l i t y 
coal transportation rates and increase service requirements as 
u t i l i t i e s s t r i v e to reduce t h e i r costs to remain competitive. 
Deregulation, coupled with more stringent s u l f u r dioxide emission 
l i m i t s , should help Conrail's lower cost and lower sulfur coal sources 
i n southwestern Pennsylvania and northern West V i r g i n i a to remain 
competitive. Shipments of Conrail-served coal from these areas 
increased 7.0% i n 1996 over 1995. 

Export, industrial/cogeneration and m e t a l l u r g i c a l coal represent 
the three remaining segment? of Conrail's coal t r a f f i c , with export 
coal volumes being one-third gi^ater than industrial/cogeneration 
voluTTies and more than twice as gre^t as m e t a l l u r g i c a l coal volumes. 

Export coal t r a f f i c volume declined 6% i n 19S5, a f t e r having 
increased 58% i n 1995, due to strong domestic demand for coal which 
reduced the amount of coal available for the export market. 

Conrail's t r a f f i c volume and revenue f o r i n d u s t r i a l / c j g e n e r a t i o n 
coal was e s s e n t i a l l y unchanged from 1995. 

Conrail's t r a f f i c volume and revenue from m e t a l l u r g i c a l coal 
continues to decline, having decreased 38% i n 1996 a f t e r a decline of 
9% i n 1995. Revenue i n 1996 was down approximately 44%, The large 
decline i n 1996 volume and revenue was due to the loss of a 
s i g n i f i c a n t customer i n the f i r s t h alf of the year. Sixty percent of 
t h i s business was recovered i n June of 1996, although at s i g n i f i c a n t l y 
lower rates. 

Conrail serves d i r e c t l y , or via short l i n e switching c a r r i e r s , 
many of the nation's largest active integrated ste e l production 
f a c i l i t i e s . Although a s i g n i f i c a n t p o r t ion j f the active doirestic 
steel industry i s along the Cleveland-Chicat;^o corridor on Conrail's 
system, the t r a d i t i o n a l domestic steel industry (Using integrated 
steel production f a c i l i t i e s ) continues to eliminate i n e f f i c i e n t 
production capacity, which i n past years has adversely affected the 
volume of raw materials f o r s t e e l production handled by Conrail, and 
could continue to do so. Volume i n t h i s segment i s expected to 
continue to decline i n 1997. This trend i s continuing as i r o n ore and 
coke volume declined 12% i n 1996, while revenues declined 3.5%. 

Automotive Service Group 

Conrail's Automotive Service Group experienced a s l i g h t decrease 
i n volume and revenue i n 1996, despite continued slow growth i n North 
American Light Vehicle Production, which increased 1% i n 1996 over 
1995. As a whole, the Automotive Service Group's revenues decreased 
1.1%. Finished vehicles revenue increased 1%, and Autoparts 
experienced a 4% revenue reduction. 
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General Motor's s t r i k e i n the F a l l of 1996 was the major factor 
contributing to the group's overall decline i n volume and revenue, 
with a p a r t i c u l a r l y negative impact cn the autoparts business. 

Continued strong production by the foreign-based domestic 
manufacturers, and the s h i f t of import t r a f f i c from East coast ports 
tc cross-country landbridge shipments, resulted i n an increase i n 
finished vehicles t r a f f i c , despite the mid-year closing of General 
Motor's Tarrytown, NY plant and Chrysler's Newark, DE plant. 
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Certain S t a t i s t i c s . The following tables provide various 
measurements relat ing to Conrail's r a i l operations from 1992 through 
1996: 

PRODUCTIVITY DATA 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

83.8% C7.6% 83. 8% 82.9% 84.0% 
32.5% 33,9% 33.7% 35.6% 37,0% 

21,280 23,510 24,833 25,406 25,380 
Gross ton miles per f r e i g h t employee 

4,634 4,352 4,135 3,805 3,746 
Gross ton miles per f r e i g h t t r a i n 

3,746 

113.4 118.7 113,0 119.0 122.1 
Gross ton miles per locomotive i n 

114.2 110.1 104.8 102.4 107.1 
Gross ton miles per gallon of fuel (2) 773 774 749 745 770 

(1) The 1996 operating rat io (operating expenses as a percent of revenues) 
includes the effect of a one-time $135 mil l ion charge for non-union voluntary 
separation programs and related losses on certain non-cancelable leases. 
Without this charge, Conrail's operating rat io would have been 7S.7%. See 
Item 7 - "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations" and Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
elsewhere in this Annual Report. Without the S285 mill ion special charge in 
1995, Conrai l 's operating ratio would have been 79.9%. See Note 10 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements elsewhere in this Annual Report. Without 
the S64 mil l ion special charge in 1994, Conrail 's operating ratio would have 
been 81.5%, See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements elsewhere in 
this Annual Report, 

(2) Excluding subsidiaries , except Consolidated Rai l Corporation. 

(3) Locomotive weight not included. 

OUALITY 
Years ended 

OF SERVICE 
December 

DATA(1) 
31, 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

12 43 49 62 73 
9.4% 9,1% 8.7% 8.3% 8.8% 

Freight cars requiring heavy repairs.. 5.6% 5,6% 4.9% 4.7% 4.0% 
180 141 160 155 148 

Cost of loss and damage incidents 
148 

.52% .47% .48% .39% .39% 

(1) Excluding subsidiaries , except Consolidated Rai l Corporati on. 
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COMPETITION. Conrail's r a i l services face s i g n i f i c a n t 
competition from trucks, from other r a i l r o a d s , and from the 
a v a i l a b i l i t y of the same or substitute goods produced at points not 
served by Conrail. The trucking industry i s especially coF_-etitive i n 
Conrail's service area because, among other reasons, f r e i g h t i n t h i s 
region i s moved shorter distances than i n the West, and the cost 
characteristics of the r a i l r o a d and trucking i n d u s t r i e s generally make 
trucks more competitive over shorter distances. 

Price and service competition from trucks, while present for a l l 
commodities, i s especially evident i n the movement of intermodal 
f r e i g h t , auto parts, and finished s t e e l . Competition from trucks has 
been increased by the passage of l e g i s l a t i o n removing c e r t a i n b a r r i e r s 
to entry i n t o the trucking business and allowing the use of wider, 
longer, and heavier t r a i l e r s and multiple t r a i l e r combinations. 
Larger t r a i l e r s and multiple t r a i l e r combinations have s u b s t a n t i a l l y 
increased p r o d u c t i v i t y i n the trucking industry, and any future 
l e g i s l a t i o n permitting further increases i n truck capacity could have 
a substantial adverse e f f e c t on the competitiveness of r a i l r o a d s . 

Conrail i s also subject to competition from other r a i l r o a d s . In 
most of Conrail's service t e r r i t o r y , one or more other r a i l r o a d s can 
serve customers d i r e c t l y . Elsewhere, the a b i l i t y t o provide j o i n t 
service w i t h the many short l i n e s whose operations have p r o l i f e r a t e d 
throughout the east, and/or i n partnership with trucks (for pick-up, 
delivery, and draying services) allows r a i l competitors w.'iose tracks 
do not reach given customers or points to constrain Conrail prices and 
to compete e f f e c t i v e l y for movement of the f r e i g h t . In addition, 
recent changes i n the nature of r a i l service o f f e r i n g s and i n 
technology have expanded the scope of r a i l service beyond the physical 
l i m i t a t i o n s of l i n e s , which has resulted i n increased r a i l r o a d 
competition. 

An important influence on Conrail's competitive p o s i t i o n i s 
regulation by the Federal government. Prior to 1980, regulation 
s i g n i f i c a n t l y i n h i b i t e d the a b i l i t y of r a i l r o a d s to respond to 
increasing custome- d-̂ mands, ove r a l l l o g i s t i c s needs, and changing 
transportation markets. The Staggers R a i l Act of 1980 ("Staggers 
Act") s u b s t a n t i a l l y reduced the r e s t r i c t i o n s of r e g u l a t i o n . I n 
p a r t i c u l a r , railroads were given more opportunity to reduce costs and 
more freedom to adjust prices and service o f f e r i n g s , which enabled 
them to compete more e f f e c t i v e l y . Under the Staggers Act, the former 
In t e r s t a t e Commerce Commission ("ICC") deregulated a s i g n i f i c a n t 
amount of r a i l r o a d t r a f f i c , including intenrodal and most boxcar 
t r a f f i c , f i n i s h e d vehicles and numerous other commodities moving i n 
other types of equipment. 

The Staggers Act further enhanced r a i l r o a d s ' competitive options 
by permitting the use of railroad-shipper contracts for t r a f f i c s t i l l 
regulated, under which the parties can negotiate customer-specific 
prices, service standards and terms. These contracts generally 
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provide prices lower than t a r i f f rates and many do not guarantee that 
any given amount of f r e i g h t w i l l be shipped during t h e i r term. As of 
December 31, 1996, Conrail was a party to 3,362 such contracts for 
regulated t r a f f i c , which Conrail estimates accounted for 29% of i t s 
line-haul revenues i n 1996, Although some contracts have a term 
longer than one year, most contracts are for one year or less. The 
m.ajority of Conrail's multi-year contracts are subject to cost-related 
adjustments that provide for f l a t percentage increases. The cost-
based provisions i n c e r t a i n of these contracts are t i e d to indices 
formerly under the j u r i s d i c t i o n of the ICC. Action to adjust these 
indices f o r p r o d u c t i v i t y gains by the railroads has had an adverse 
impact on Conrail's a b i l i t y to recover costs under such contracts, 
which accounted for less than 2% of Conrail's l i n e haul revenues i n 
1996. 

Eff e c t i v e January 1, 1996, pursuant to the ICC Termination Act of 
1995, the a u t h o r i t y of the ICC to regulate railroads was transferred 
to the Department of Transportation ("DOT") to be administered by the 
Surface Transportation Board, The p r i o r regulatory scheme remains 
sub s t a n t i a l l y i n t a c t , w i t h the following s i g n i f i c a n t changes: (1) 
access to f r e i g h t r a i l r o a d tracks by r a i l operators (both f r e i g h t and 
passenger) operating on behalf of loc a l governmental a u t h o r i t i e s has 
been eased; (2) some types of abandonments may take appreciably 
longer; (3) t a r i f f s and most contracts w i l l no longer be f i l e d (other 
mechani.sms are required for advising customers of rates and rate 
changes); (4) minimum rate levels w i l l no longer be regulated; and 
(5) DOT w i l l not regulate r a i l r o a d issuances of securities or 
assumptions of debt. Other changes w i l l require development of new 
regulations and/or of a body of precedent before t h e i r impact can be 
f u l l y assessed. 

PROPERTY. Conrail d i r e c t l y holds no real property. The only 
s i g n i f i c a n t property holdings are those of Consolidated Rail 
Corporation, 

As of December 31, 1996, Consolidated Rail Corporation (excluding 
i t s subsidiaries) maintained 16,970 miles of track including track for 
crossovers, turnouts, second main, other main, passing and switch 
track, on i t s 10,543 mile route system. Of t o t a l jsute r i l e s , 8,459 
are owned, 87 are leased or operated under contract ard 1,997 are 
operated under trackage r i g h t s , including approximately 300 males 
operated pursuant to an easement over Amtrak's Northeast Corridor. As 
of December 31, 1996, v i r t u a l l y a l l track over which at least 10 
m i l l i o n gross tons moved annually (5,923 track miles) was heavy-weight 
r a i l of at least 127 pounds per yard, and 100% of such track had 
continuous welded r a i l . Continuous welded r a i l reduces track 
maintenance costs and, i n general, permits t r a i n s to t r a v e l at higher 
speeds. As of December 31, 1996, Ccnrail had 8,804 miles of 
continuous welded r a i l on track i t maintained. 
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As of December 31, 1996, 83% of the 3,814 track miles maintained 
for fast f r e i g h t t r a f f i c had a maximum operating speed of 50 MPH or 
more, and 70% had a maximim operating speed of at least 60 MPH. As of 
December 31, 1996, approximately 96% of the track over which at least 
10 m i l l i o n gross tons moved annually was governed by automatic signal 
systems. In, a l l , as of Dece.tiber 31, 1996, 7, 656 miles of track were 
controlled by automatic signal systems. 

Conrail i s engaged i n an ongoing process to i d e n t i f y c e r t a i n 
under-utilized r a i l l i n es and other underperforming assets to avoid 
future c a p i t a l costs and to improve i t s return on assets, Conrail 
recorded a $285 m i l l i o n charge i n 1995 to cover the expected losses 
upon di s p o s i t i o n of approximately 1,800 miles of li n e s and other 
assets not required to support Conrail's service. See Note 10 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements elsewhere i n t h i s Annual Report. 

The following table indicates the n̂ umber of locomotives and 
fr e i g h t cars owned (or subject to ca p i t a l i z e d leases) aad includes 
21,435 f r e i g h t cars used by Conrail under operating leases. These 
t o t a l figures are as of December 31, 1996, and include stored or 
surplus u n i t s , but exclude subsidiaries other than Consolidated Rail 
Corporation, which have an immaterial number of locomotives and 
fr e i g h t cars: 

LOCOMOTIVES AMD FREIGHT CARS 

fjumtaer gf un̂ ts 

LOCOMOTIVES 2. 006 122 
Road 1,834 78 
Switching 172 44 

TPt9i Surplus(2) 

FREIGHT CARS 45. 988 6.333 
Box 7,855 1,661 
Covered Hopper 3,4 00 315 
Open Hopper 11,464 3,265 
Gondola 4,459 638 
C o i l S t e e l 11,294 0 
M u l t i - L e v e l 6,005 165 
F l a t and Other 1,511 289 

(1) Serviceable locomotives not required fo r current operations on December 31, 
1996 . 

(2) Freight cars which did not move during the seven days immediate?.y preceding 
December 31, 1996 and which were available for loading. The number of surplus 
freight cars during 1996 fluctuated due to variations i n t r a f f i c and fleet 
adjustments. 
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On December 31, 1996, the average age of Conrail's road 
locomotives, not including stored-serviceable u n i t s , was 11,1 years. 
The average age of the t o t a l locomotive f l e e t was 15.6 years, and the 
average age of the t o t a l f r e i g h t car f l e e t was 22 years. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITUPJ:S, The following tables provide infcrmation 
concerning c a p i t a l expenditures from 1992 through 1996: 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 
(In Millions) 

Years ended December 31, 
1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

$203 $206 $221 $207 $275 
R o l l i n g stock and 
t r a n s p o r t a t i o n equipment.. 139 170 139 314 57 
Other (1) 136 118 148 129 159 

$478 $494 $508 $650 $491 

S u b s i d i a r i e s o f 
Consolidated R a i l 
Corporation ( i n c l u d e d i n 
To t a l ) $ 5 $ 4 $ 3 $ 3 $ 12 

(1) Includes communications and signals, bridges and tunnels, 
computers and telecommunications, and other improvements. 

TRACK REHABILITATION 

Years ended December 31, 

Track miles surfaced 
Track miles of r a i l l a i d . . 
Ties i n s t a l l e d ( m i l l i o n s ) . 

1996 

4, 685 
241 
0.9 

1995 

3/162 
255 
1.1 

1994 

2, 749 
207 
1.1 

1993 

3, 154 
201 
1.0 

1992 

3, 671 
312 
1.4 

EMPLOYEES AND LABOR. Including subsidiaries, Conrail's average 
number of employees for 1996 was 21,280. Consolidated Rail 
Corporation (excluding subsidiaries) averagec 20,761 employees i n 
1996, 87% of whom are represented by a t o t a l of 14 labor organizations 
and are covered by 22 separate c o l l e c t i v e bargaining agreements. 

Conrail has concluded c o l l e c t i v e bargaining agreements with 
organizations representing approximately 66% of i t s t o t a l employees. 
These agreements contain moratorium clauses providing that they may 
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not be reopened p r i o r to January 1, 2000. However, certain issues 
remain outstanding with one of the above-mentioned organizations, the 
Transportation Communications International Union, representing 
approximately 2,250 Conrail employees. The p a r t i e s are currently i n 
mediation under the auspices of the National Mediation Board (NMB). 
In addition, the United Transportation Union, which represents 
approximately 4,100 Conrail employees, contends that certain issues 
remain outstanding. The Company disputes t h i s contention and the 
pa r t i e s are i n mediation. 

Conrail i s c u r r e n t l y i n negotiations with organizations 
representing approximately 22% of i t s employees. The negotiations 
with the largest of these organizations, a c o a l i t i o n of the 
Brotherhood Railroad Carmen and the Transport Workers Union, are 
c u r r e n t l y i n mediation. The outcome of these negotiations cannot be 
predicted at t h i s time. I f the NMB eventually concludes that i t s 
e f f o r t s to resolve the dispute w i l l not be successful, i t w i l l p r o f f e r 
binding a r b i t r a t i o n . I f e i t h e r side refuses to a r b i t r a t e , there i s a 
30-day "cooling-off" period during which the NMB may make a f i n d i n g 
that the dispute threatens " s u b s t a n t i a l l y to i n t e r r u p t i n t e r s t a t e 
commerce to a degree such as to deprive any section of the country of 
essential transportation service." Such f i n d i n g i s then presented to 
the President of the United States who has the option of appointing an 
Emergency Board to investigate the dispute. I f the President does not 
appoint an Emergency Board, the parties are free to resort to s e l f 
help at the conclusion of the above-mentioned cooling-off period. 

I f the President does appoint an Emergency Board, the Board has 
30 days to investigate the dispute and report i t s findings. The 
Emergency Board's findings are non-binding. Although the parties must 
maintain the status quo for a period of 30 days following the issuance 
of the Board's report, any party which rejec t s the Board's findings 
may thereafter resort to s e l f help. In the event of a s t r i k e . 
Congress has the power to resolve the dispute by enacting l e g i s l a t i o n , 
including l e g i s l a t i o n imposing a labor contract i n accordance with the 
findings of the Emergency Board, 

In Conrail's negotiations with four other organizations 
representing approximately 4% of i t s employees, the parties have not 
invoked mediation. 

Under a decision by the United States Supreme Court on A p r i l 28, 
1987, r a i l unions have the r i g h t , under the Railway Labor Act and 
otner federal laws, to engage i n secondary pic k e t i n g against any 
r a i l r o a d . As a r e s u l t , a labor dispute between one r a i l r o a d and a 
union can cause a s t r i k e to spread to any other r a i l r o a d , or to a l l 
other railroads, whether or not the union has a c o l l e c t i v e bargaining 
agreement or a dispute with such other r a i l r o a d s , Tiiere i s also the 
po t e n t i a l that r a i l r o a d s may be subject to secondary picketing i n the 
event of a s t r i k e i n the a i r l i n e industry, which, l i k e the r a i l r o a d 
in'iustry, i s subject to the Railway Labor Act. 
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Should Conrail or i t s subsidiaries be the subject of a s t r i k e or 
secondary picketing, Conrail's r a i l operations could be stopped or 
severely c u r t a i l e d , 

GOVERNMENT REGULATION, Conrail i s subject to environmental, 
safety, and other regulations generally applicable to a l l businesses, 
and i t s r a i l operations are also regulated by the DOT, the Federal 
Railroad Administration ("FRA"), state Departments of Transportation 
and some state and lo c a l regulatory agencies. 

The DOT has j u r i s d i c t i o n over, among other things, rates charged 
for certain t r a f f i c movements, service levels and f r e i g h t car rents. 
I t also has j u r i s d i c t i o n over the s i t u a t i o n s and terms under which one 
ra i l r o a d may gain access to another r a i l r o a d ' s t r a f f i c or f a c i l i t i e s , 
extension or abandonment of r a i l l i n e s , consolidation, merger, or 
acquisition of control of r a i l common c a r r i e r s and of other c a r r i e r s 
by r a i l common c a r r i e r s , and labor p r o t e c t i o n provisions i n connection 
with the foregoing. 

Under the Staggers Act, federal regulation of rates and services 
was reduced. The regulatory scheme, now administered by the Surface 
Transportation Board, continues the ICC's p r i o r deregulation of rates 
for intermodal t r a f f i c , most boxcar t r a f f i c and a series of 
miscellaneous commodities, including ste e l and automobiles. In 
addition, railroads are free to negotiate contracts with shippers 
setting rates, service standards and the terms for movements cf other 
kinds of t r a f f i c . As a re s u l t , r a i l r o a d s have greater f l e x i b i l i t y i n 
adjusting rates and services to meet revenue ne;ds and competitive 
conditions. For fur t h e r discussion of the a b o l i t i o n of the ICC and 
the e f f e c t of the transfer of i t s regulatory a u t h o r i t y to DOT, see 
"Competition." 

The FRA has j u r i s d i c t i o n over safety and r a i l r o a d equipment 
standards. 

Conrail's r a i l operations are a]so subject to a v a r i e t y of 
governmental laws and regulations r e l a t i n g to the prot e c t i o n of the 
environment. In addition to being involved as a p o t e n t i a l l y 
responsible party at numerous Superfund s i t e s (see Item^ 3 - "Legal 
Proceedings"), Consolidated Rail Corporation i s subject to increasing 
regulation of i t s transportation and handling of c e r t a i n hazardous and 
non-hazardous commodities and waste which has resulted i n addit i o n a l 
administrative and operating costs. Also, on February 11, 1997, the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency published i n the Federal 
Register Proposed Rule "Emission Star Jards f o r Locomotives and 
Locomotive Engines". According to the Proposed Rule, locomotive 
engines (other than those defined as new or remanufactured) may be 
regulated by the states. Additional investments w i l l l i k e l y be 
required to bring other than new locomotives i n t o compliance, although 
the timing and amount of the investments w i l l not be determinable 
u n t i l the Rule i s adopted. Compliance with e x i s t i n g laws and 
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regulations r e l a t i n g to the protection of zhe environment has not had 
a material e f f e c t on Conrail's ca p i t a l expenditures, earnings cr 
competitive condit.-i.on. (See "Item 7 - Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -
Environmental Matters," and Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements included elsewhere i n t h i s Annual Report.) 

Item 3. Le-.ial Proceedings. References to Conrail i n "Item 3. Legal 
Proceedings" s h a l l denote Consolidated Rail Corporation unless 
otherwise expressly noted. 

Occupational Disease L - t i g a t i o n , Conrail has been named as a 
defendant i n lawsuits f i l e d pursuant to the provisions of the Federal 
Employers' L i a b i l i t y Act ("FELĴ ") by persons alleging (1) personal 
i n j u r y or death caused by exposure to asbestos i n connection with 
r a i l r o a d employment (2) complete or p a r t i a l loss of hearing caused by 
exposure to excessive noise i n the course of r a i l r o a d employment; (3) 
r e p e t i t i v e motion i n j u r y i n connection with r a i l r o a d employment; and 
(4) personal i n j u r y or death caused by exposure to deleterious 
substances (mixed dusts, fumes, chemicals, e t c ) As of December 31, 
1996, Conrail was a defendant i n 559 pending asbestos s u i t s , 545 
pending hearing loss s u i t s , 1,318 r e p e t i t i v e motion i i j u r y s u its and 
374 pending deleterious substance s u i t s , and had notice of 1,293 
p o t e n t i a l asbestosis claims, 2,734 p o t e n t i a l hearing loss claims, 
2,112 p o t e n t i a l r e p e t i t i v e motion i n j u r y claims and 56 deleterious 
substance claims. 

Conrail expects to be named as a defendant i n a s i g n i f i c a n t 
number of occupationa] disease cases i n the future. 

Norfolk Southern Corp., et a l . v. Conrail Inc. On October 23, 
1996, Norfolk f i l e d a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunc t i v e Relief 
(as amended on October 30, 1996, the "Complaint"), with respect tc the 
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, i n the United 
States D i s t r i c t Court f o r the Eastern D i s t r i c t of Pennsylvania. 
Norfolk named CSX, Conrail and certain directors of Conrail as 
defendants. The Complaint i n i t s currently amended form alleges, 
aKiong other things, v i o l a t i o n s of: (1) f i d u c i a r y duties by the 
Conrail Board; (2) Conrail's A r t i c l e s of Incorporation and By-Laws; 
and (3) Pennsylvania s t a t u t o r y law. 

In addition, Norfolk alleges that the CSX tender o f f e r i s 
coercive and u n f a i r to Conrail shareholders; that c e r t a i n provisions 
i n the Merger Agreement p r o h i b i t i n g Conrail from changing i t s 
recommendation of the transaction or agreeing to a competing 
transaction, i s u l t r a vires and a breach of the Conrail Eoa.i-d's 
fi d u c i a r y duties; and that Conrail and CSX viol a t e d disclosure 
previsions of the federal s e c u r i t i e s laws r e l a t i n g to tender o f f e r s 
and proxy s o l i c i t a t i o n s through the misrepresentation and omission cf 
material f a c t s . 
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Norfolk has requested preliminary and permanent i n j u n c t i v e and 
declaratory r e l i e f including, without l i m i t a t i o n , an i n j u n c t i o n to 
prevent defendants from: (1) continuing a tender o f f e r f o r the 
Conrail shares, (2) taking any action to enforce certain provisions of 
the Merger Agreement, and (3) f a i l i n g to take actions necessary to 
exempt Norfolk's proposal to acquire Conrail from ce r t a i n provisions 
of Pennsylvania statutory law. 

Conrail believes that the claims set f o r t h by Norfolk are 
e n t i r e l v without merit, and on November 12, 1996, Conrail f i l e d a 
motion to dismiss Norfolk's complaint i n i t s e n t i r e t v . The Federal 
D i s t r i c t Court and the Third C i r c u i t Court of Appeals have denied 
Norfolk's requests for the preliminary i n j u n c t i o n s . 

Punitive Damage Awards i n Ohio Crossing Accident Cases. 
Consolidated Rail Corporation has recently received adverse Dury 
verdicts i n three separate crossing accident cases m Ohio: Garrett 
and Gollihue v. Consolidated Rail Corp.; Wightman v. Consolidated 
Rail Corp.; and Moore, et a l . v. Consolidated Rail Corp, I n each 
case, the j u r y awarded substantial p u n i t i v e damages m connection with 
property damage resulting from the accidents. C o l l e c t i v e l y , the t o t a l 
punitive damage awards t o t a l approximately $30 m i l l i o n , based on 
property damage that t o t a l s less than $5,000. Conrail believes that, 
ultimately, these awards should not be sustainable due to t h e i r 
f a i l u r e to bear a reasonable r e l a t i o n s h i p to the amount of physical 
property damage involved, and has appealed. Ohio law P^°^^^?;^^^^^ 
award of punitive damages i n connection wi t h a wrongful death action. 

Structure and Crossing Removal Disputes i n Connection With Lines 
Abandoned Under NERSA, Conrail may be responsible, m whole or m 
part, for the costs of removal of several hundred overhead and 
^derpass crossings located on r a i l r o a d l i n e s i t has abandoned under 
NERSA (and, i n some instances, responsible for the removal of the 
lines of r a i l r o a d themselves as well as appurtenant s t r u c t u r e s ) . 
Conrail's l i a b i l i t y for the removal of such line-., crossings and 
structures w i l l be determined on a case-by-case basis, and i s 
dependent upon the circumstances under which each was constructed, the 
nature of Conrail's property i n t e r e s t w i t h respect to such structures, 
the existence of contracts pertaining to such crossings and 
structures, and applicable federal and state law. Some states have 
imposed upon Conrail the o b l i g a t i o n to remove c e r t a i n crossings. 
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Engelhart v. Conrail, In connection with the Special Voluntary 
Retirement Program offered to certain employees i n l a t e 1989 ana early 
1990, Conrail used surplus funds i n i t s over-funded Supplemental 
Pension Plan ("Plan") to fund certain aspects of that program. In 
December 1992, c e r t a i n former Conrail employees brought s u i t 
challenging the use of surplus Plan funds (a) to pay administrative 
Plan expenses previously paid by Conrail, (b) to fund the Special 
Voluntary Retirement Program, and (c) to pay l i f e insurance and 
medical insurance premiums of former employees as improper and 
unlawful, and a l l e g i n g that employees who have made contributions to 
the Plan or i t s predecessor plans are e n t i t l e d to share i n the surplus 
assets of the Plan. In August, 1993, the court granted Conrail's 
Moticn to Dismiss the majority of the counts i n the complaint, but 
r<^fused to dismiss 'ihe issue of Conrail's use of Plan assets to pay 
ad:.iinistrati\-e expenses of the Plan, which are estimated to be 
approx:vmately $40 m i l l i o n at December 31, 1996, Conrail believes that 
the use of surplus Plan assets for t h i s purpose was lawful and proper. 
C.l September 16, 1996, the Judge granted Conrail's motion for su.mmary 
judgment on a l l cf the claims except for one i n d i v i d u a l p a r t i c i p a n t 
claim. P l a i n t i f f s have appealled those claims as to which they 
received an adverse r u l i n g . 

Environmental L i t i g a t i o n . Conrail i s subject to various federal, 
state and l o c a l laws and regulations regarding environmental matters. 
In c e r t a i n instances, Conrail has received notices of v i o l a t i o n s of 
such lews and regulations and either has taken or plans to take 
appropriate steps to address the problems c i t e d or to contest the 
allegations of v i o l a t i o n . As of December 31, 1996, Conrail had 
received i n q u i r i e s from governmental agencies or had been i d e n t i f i e d , 
together w i t h other companies, as a p o t e n t i a l l y responsible party for 
cleanup and/or removal costs due to i t s status as an alleged 
transporter, generator or property owner at 135 locations throughout 
the country. However, Conrail, through i t s own investigations and 
assessments, believes i t may have some pot e n t i a l r e s p o n s i b i l i t y at 
only 61 of these s i t e s . The amounts Conrail has accrued with respect 
to the proceedings l i s t e d below are included i n i t s $55 m i l l i o n 
accrual f o r estimated future environmental expenses. (See Item 7 -
"y-^nagement' s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations - Environmental Matters" and Note 13 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere i n t h i s Annual 
Report.) The s i g n i f i c a n t environmental proceedings, including 
Superfund s i t e s , are discussed below. 

United States v. Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation 
Authority ("SEPTA"), National Railroad Passenger Corporation 
("Amtrak"), and Consolidated Rail Corporation. I n March 198 6, the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") f i l e d an action 
i n the United States D i s t r i c t Court f c r the Eastern D i s t r i c t of 
Pennsylvania for cost recovery, i n j u n c t i v e r e l i e f , and a declaratory 
judgment against the Company, Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation 
Authority ("SEPTA")'and National Railroad Passenger Corp. ("Amtrak") 
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under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and 
l a b i l i t y Act o i 1980 ("CERCLA" or "Superfund Law"), as amended. In 
1990, the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Resources 
intervened as a p l a i n t i f f . Suit i s based on the release or threatened 
release at the Paoli Railroad Yard, Paoli, Chester County, 
Pennsylvania, of polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBs"), a l i s t e d 
hazardous substance under CERCLA, 

Pursuant to a series of p a r t i a l preliminary consent decrees, 
defendants have performed a series of cleanup actions both on and o f f 
sue anS have conducted a Remed.al I n v e s t i g a t i o n / F e a s i b i l i t y Study 
("RI/FS"). Those costs have been shared equally among the three 
defendants but are subject to re a l l o c a t i o n . 

The estimated cost of the Company's p o r t i o n of a remedy proposed 
by the parUes was included i n the 1991 special charge and subsequent 
adjustments to accruals. EPA and the r a i l r o a d P f ^ t i e s have entered 
into a tentative settlement agreem.ent regarding ^PA's claim for past 
costs as well as federal and state natural resource dan.ages. As part 
of the setUemen?, Amtrak, SEPTA and Conrail have committed to perform 
the on-site remedy for the r a i l yard. 

^ni^pH .states v. Conrail. The EPA has l i s t e d Conrail's Elkhart 
Yard on the National P r i o r i t i e s L i s t . The E.PA contends that chemicals 
^ave migrated from the yard and contaminated d r i n k i n g wells i n the 
area On February 14, 1990, EPA f i l e d a c i v i l a ction against ConraU 
" the S s D i s t r i c t Court for the Northern D i s t r i c t of mdia.na 
seeking recovery of approximately $345,000 for costs incurred i n 
Drotec?ing?he water supply. In addition, EPA seeks a declaratory 
?nd^pr^ aaainst conrail for a l l future costs incurred m responding 
Jo S e ' e t e a e " r ^Sr^atened release of hazardous substances from the 
s i t e conrail believes i t i s not the sole source and may not be a 
contributing source to the contamination alleged by EPA. 

Conrail f i l e d a t h i r d - p a r t y action j o i n i n g Per.n Central as a 
defendant. Conrail and Penn Central have negotiated ^n interim cost 
sharing arrangement for the cost of implementing the EPA s 199^ 
interim record of decision, which i s s u b s t a n t i a l l y complete^ On May 
15 1995 EPA issued an Administrative Order to Conrail and Penn 
Central requiring the extension of public water hook-up to an 
additional 700 - 1,000 residences and businesses xn the s i t e area, 
conrail and Penn Central have agreed that each company would comply 
w i S i i e Srder The cost f o r providing v>^^blic water to the remaining 
residences i s estimated to be i n excess of $6 m i l l i o n , which w i l l be 
apportioned between Penn Central and Conrail according to the i n t e r i m 
co?t sharing arrangement that has ̂ een negotiated^ Conrail and Penn 
central are attempting to negotiate a f i n a l settlement with EPA of the 
matter. 

United States v. Consolidated Rail Corp., et a l (Berks Superfund 
S i t e ) : * conrail has been i d e n t i f i e d as the t i t t h largest generator of 
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waste o i l at the Berks Associater. Superfund s i t e i n Douglasville, 
Pennsylvania. In addition, Conrail has become aware that i t and i t s 
predecessor, Penn Central, owned a small portion of land that was 
leased to the operator of the Berks s i t e . As such, Conrail's 
l i a b i l i t y could increase due to i t s questionable status as both an 
owner and a generator. In August 1991, the EPA issued an 
administrative order against Cor.rail and t h i r t y - f i v e other e n t i t i e s 
mandc.ting the implementation of an approximately $2 m i l l i o n p a r t i a l 
remedy and f i l e d a complaint i n the U.S. D i s t r i c t Court for the 
recovery of approximately $8 m i l l i o n i n costs incurred by the 
government. The p a r t i e s have negotiated an administrative order w i t h 
the EPA and have f i l e d an answer to the c i v i l action, A group of 
p o t e n t i a l l y responsible p a r t i e s (including Conrail) undertook 
compliance w i t h the administrative order. Conrail and the 35 other 
defendants have f i l e d a t h i r d - p a r t y complaint against approximately 
630 e n t i t i e s seeking c o n t r i b u t i o n for the costs of the remedy and 
government costs. Conrail, along with other defendants, i s 
negotiating a settlement with the EPA. On June 30, 1993, the EPA 
issued another administrative order against Conrail and 33 other 
e n t i t i e s , mandating the remediation of the southern portion of the 
s i t e . The EPA has requested a f e a s i b i l i t y study for the 
implementation of a less expensive remedy for the southern portion of 
the s i t e , which remedy would range from approximately $10-$12 m i l l i o n . 
Ccnrail's share of such a remedy has not yet been determined. In 
addition, the PADER has f i l e d a complaint for the recovery of natural 
resource dairiages. 

United Scrap Lead - Troy, OH. Conrail i s a p o t e n t i a l l y 
responsible party, along with more than 50 other parties, i n the 
United Scrap Lead federal Superfund action i n Troy, Ohio, where 
substantial q u a n t i t i e s of b a t t e r i e s were disposed of over a period of 
several years. EPA suei Conrail and nine other parties i n August 1991 
for the recovery of approxim^ately $2,000,000 i n past costs. Conrail 
and other PRP's have commissioned t r e a t a b i l i t y studies. The parties 
are negotiating over the nature of the remediation to be undertaken at 
the s i t e , EPA has selected a preferred a l t e r n a t i v e with an estiiu^ted 
t o t a l cost of $33 m i l l i o n , which the PRP group i s challenging, 
Conrail's estimated share of any remedial costs i s 8%. 

Comruonwealth of Massachusetts v. Conrail (Locomotive Emission) . 
On A p r i l 21, 1992, the Massachusetts Attorney General f i l e d s u i t i n 
state court a l l e g i n g Conrail's v i o l a t i o n of the Massachusetts Clean 
Air Act by allowing diesel engines to i d l e unnecessarily and/or i n 
excess of t h i r t y (30) mtinutes. On May 4, 1992, the court entered a 
preliminary i n j u n c t i o n , the terms of which are s u b s t a n t i a l l y those 
embodied i n Conrail's e x i s t i n g i d l i n g p o l i c y . The Attorney General 
has f i l e d a complaint a l l e g i n g Conrail's v i o l a t i o n of the preliminary 
injunction. On February 2, 1993, the pa r t i e s entered i n t o a p a r t i a l 
settlement agreement; however, the Attorney General has alleged that 
Conrail has f a i l e d to comply with certain provisions of the 
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settlement. Conrail continues to attempt to s e t t l e the matter with 
the Attorney General's o f f i c e . 

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation Order On 
Consent (Selkirk Yard). On July 31, 1996, the New York State 
Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) served Conrail with 
a revised d r a f t Order on Consent requiring the payment of a penalty of 
$250,000 i n connection with i t s inspection of Selkirk Yard. A revised 
Order was received by Conrail on August 6, 1996, re q u i r i n g the payment 
of fines i n connection with the 1991 inspection and mandates 
assessment and remediation of the f a c i l i t y . Conrail i s negotiating 
the terms of the order with NYSDEC. 

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation Order on 
ConsenFTDeWitt Yard) . On November 3, 1994, NYSDEC served Conrail 
with a Consent Order i n connection with the alleged discharge of waste 
water from DeWitt Yard, Onondaga County, New York i n t o New York state 
waters. On June 17, 1996, a revised Consent Order was issued to 
Conrail which added American Financial Group (Penn Central Corp.) as a 
named responsible party for the payment of penalties and preparation 
of a Site Assessment and Remediation Plan. Conrail and American 
Financial Group are negotiating the terms of the Order w i t h NYSDEC. 

In the Matter of Conrail, Ashtabula, OH. On September 21, 1£94, 
the EPA f i l e d an Administrative Complaint against Conrail seeking 
c i v i l penalties of $125,000 for certain alleged v i o l a t i o n s of i t s 
National Pollutants Discharge Emissions System permit. On Noverrl^er 
27, 1995, EPA f i l e d a separate Adir.inistrative Complaint seeking c i v i l 
penalties for alleged v i o l a t i o n s of regulatory requirements pertaining 
to on-site petroleum storage, Conrail has reached agreement with EPA 
to j o i n t l y s e t t l e ^hese matters for $150,000. 

Conway Yard, Pittsburgh. In 1991, Conrail received Notices of 
Violat i o n ("NOV") from the Pennsylvania DER ("PADER") al l e g i n g 
v i o l a t i o n s of the Clean Streams Act for discharges of o i l i n t o the 
Ohio River. In Se^ptember 1993, PADER sent to Conrail a d r a f t Consent 
Order and Agreemer.t requiring a comprehensive s i t e remediation for 
s o i l , ground water, surface waters and sediments at t h t Conway 
Railyard and requiring the pay.-nent of c i v i l fines i n connection with 
v i o l a t i o n s at the yard. Conrail and PADER continue to negotiate the 
extent of the investigation and remediation to be undertaken at the 
yaru. 

Other. In addition to the above proceedings, Conrail has been 
named i n various legal proceedings a r i s i n g out of i t s a c t i v i t i e s as an 
employer and as an operator of a f r e i i / h t r a i l r o a d , including personal 
i n j u r y actions brought by i t s employees under FELA, as well as 
administrative proceedings with and i n v e s t i g a t i o n by government 
agencies. 

22 
282 



In view of the inherent d i f f i c u l t y of predic t i n g the outcome of 
legal proceedings, p a r t i c u l a r l y i n c e r t a i n matters described above i n 
which substantial damages are or may be sought, Conrail cannot state 
what the eventual outcomes of such legal proceedings w i l l be. Certain 
of these mtatters, i f determined adversely to Conrail, could r e s u l t i n 
the imposition of substantial damage awards against, or increased 
costs to, Conrail that could have a material adverse e f f e c t on 
Conrail's r e s u l t s of operations and f i n a n c i a l p o s i t i o n . Conrail's 
management believes, however, based on current knowledge, that such 
legal proceedings w i l l not have a material adverse e f f e c t on Conrail's 
f i n a n c i a l p o s i t i o n . 

Item 4, Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

There were no mattersj submitted to a vote of security holders 
during the f o u r t h quarter of 1996. 

Executive O f f i c e r s of the Registrant, 

Conrail's o f f i c e r s are elected annually by the Board of Directors 
at i t s f i r s t meeting held a f t e r the meeting of shareholders at which 
directors are elected, and they hold o f f i c e u n t i l t h e i r successors are 
elected. There are no family relationships among the o f f i c e r s or 
directors, nor any arrangement or under tanding between any o f f i c e r 
and any other person pursuant to which the o f f i c e r was selected. The 
following t a b l e sets f o r t h c e r t a i n information, as of March 1, 1997, 
r e l a t i n g to the executive o f f i c e r s of Conrail and Consolidated Rail 
Corporation. An asterisk (*) indicates that such i n d i v i d u a l i s an 
o f f i c e r of Consolidated Rail Corporation only: 

Name, Age, Present Position Business Experience During Past 5 
Years 

David M. LeVan, 51, Chairman, 
President and Chief Executive 
Officer 

Present p o s i t i o n since May 1996. 
Served as President and Chief 
Executive Officer between March 1995 
and May 1996, Served as President 
and Chief Operating Officer between 
September 1994 and March 1995. 
Served as Executive Vice President 
between November 1993 and September 
1994. Served as Senior Vice 
President - Operations between July 
1992 and November 1993. Served as 
Senior Vice President-Operating 
Systems and Strategies between 
November 1991 and July 1992. 
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Cynthia A, Archer, 43, Senior 
Vice President - Intermodal 
Service Group 

'4linflli 
Rcnnld J, Conway, 53, Senior 
Vice President - Operations 

Timothy P. Dwyer, 47, Senior 
Vice President - Unit Train 
Service Group 

John A. McKelvey, 45, Senior 
Vice President - Finance 

Present p o s i t i o n since May 1995. 
Serve'^ as General Manager -
Transportation rmd Customer Service 
of the Harrisburg Divi s i o n between 
February 1994 and May 1995. Served 
as Assistant Vice President - Food 
and Ag r i c u l t u r e between September 
1993 and January 1991, Served as 
Director - Inteinnodal Business 
Development between Septeiaber 1991 
and August 1993. 

Present p o s i t i o n since November 
1994. Served as Vice President -
Operations between September 1994 
and November 1994. Served as Vice 
President - Transportation between 
July 1994 and September 1994, 
Served as Vice President -
Intermodal Service Group between 
November 1993 and July 1994. Served 
as Assistant Vice President -
Petrochemicals and Minerals between 
A p r i l 1992 and November 1993. 

Present p o s i t i o n since November 
1994. Served as Vice President -
Unit Train Service Group between 
November 1993 and November 1994. 
Served as General Manager -
Philadelphia Di v i s i o n between A p r i l 
1992 and November 1993, 

Present p o s i t i o n since February 
1997. Served as Vice President-
Service Delivery between January 
1996 and February 1997. Served as 
Vice President - Materials and 
Purchasing between A p r i l 1994 and 
January 1996. Served as Vice 
President - Controller between May 
1993 and March 1994. Served as Vice 
President - Treasurer between 1988 
and May 1993. 
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Frank H. Nichols, 50, Senior 
Vice President -
Organizational Performance 

Timothy T. O'Toole, 41, Senior 
Vice President - Law and 
Government A f f a i r s 

Present p o s i t i o n since May 1995. 
Served as Vice Pre.sident - Human 
Resources between February 1993 and 
May 1995. Served as Assistant Vice 
President - Finance between November 
1988 and February 1993. 

Present p o s i t i o n since February 
1997, Served as Senior Vice 
President-Finance between A p r i l 1996 
and February 1997. Served as Vice 
President and Treasurer between 
A p r i l 1994 and A p r i l 1996. Served 
as Vice President and General 
Counsel between May 1989 and A p r i l 
1994. 

Lester M. Passa, 43, Senior 
Vice President - Automotive 
Service Group 

John P. Sammcn, 4 6, Senior Vice 
President - CORE Service 
Group 

Present p o s i t i o n s i 
1997. Served as Vi 
Logistics and Corpo 
between March 1995 
1997. Served as As 
President - Corpora 
between February 19 
1995. Served as Di 
Intermodal Planning 
1991 and January 19 

nee February 
ce President-
rate Strategy 
and February 
si s t a n t Vice 
te Strategy 
93 and March 
rector -
between October 
93. 

Present p o s i t i o n since November 
1994. Served as Vice President -
Intermodal between July 1994 and 
Noveinber 1994. Served as Assistant 
Vice President- Intermodal between 
January 1988 and July 1994. 

George P. Turner, 55, Senior 
Vice President - Merger 
Transition 

Present p o s i t i o n since February 
1997, Served as Senior Vice 
President-Automotive Service Group 
between November 1994 and February 
1997. Served as Vice President ~ 
Automotive Service Group between 
November 1993 and November 1994, , 
Served as Assistant Vice President 
Automotive between A p r i l 1992 c.nd 
Nove.mber 1993. 
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Bruce B. Wilson, 61, Senior 
Vice President - Merger 

Lucy S.L. Amerman, 4 6, Vice 
President - Risk Management* 

Dennis A. Arouca, 45, Vice 
President - Labor Relations* 

Gerald T. Gates, 43, Vice 
President - Customer Support* 

Hugh J. Kiley, 44, Vice 
President - Service Design 
& Planning* 

Craig R, MacQueen, 44, Vice 
President - Corporate 
Communications* 

Present p o s i t i o n since February 
1997. Served as Senior Vice 
President - Law between A p r i l 1967 
and February 1997. 

Present p o s i t i o n since July 1994, 
Served as Assistant Vice President -
Claims eind L i t i g a t i o n between A p r i l 
1994 and July 1994. Served as 
General Counsel - L i t i g a t i o n between 
March 1990 and March 1994. 

Present p o s i t i o n since May 1994. 
Served as Partner i n the law f i r m of 
Pepper Hamilton & Scheetz between 
February 198 6 and May 1994. 

Present p o s i t i o n since January 1996. 
Served as Vice President -
Transportation between November 1994 
and January 1996. Served as Vice 
President - Mechanical between 
December 1993 and November 1994. 
Served as Assistant Vice President -
Operations Planning and 
Administration between July 1992 and 
November 1993. Served as General 
Manager - Indianapolis Division 
between September 1990 and July 
1992. 

Present p o s i t i o n since January 1996. / 
Served as Assistant Vice President -
Performance and Process Management 
between November 1994 and January 
1996. Served as Assistant Vice 
President - Program Management 
between May 1994 and November 1994. 
Served as General Manager - National 
Custom.er Service Center between 
Novemtier 1990 and May 1994. 

Present p o s i t i o n since June 1995. 
Served as Assistant Vice President -
Publi- A f f a i r s between Septe.Tiber 
1992 and June 1995. Served as 
Executive Director - Public A f f a i r s 
between November 1990 and August 
1992. 
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Donald W. Mattson, 54, Vice 
President - Controller 

Thomas J. McFadden, 42/ 
Treasurer* 

Present p o s i t i o n since A p r i l 1994. 
Served as Vice President - Treasurer 
between May 1993 and A p r i l 1994. 
Served as Vice President -
Controller between August 1988 and 
May 1993. 

Present p o s i t i o n since May 1996. 
Served as Assistant Treasurer -
Investor Relations and Finance 
between June 1994 and May 1996. 
Served as Director - Project 
Financing between July 1990 and June 
1994 . 

James D. McGeehan, 48, 
Corporate Secretary 

William B. Newman, Jr., 46, 
Vice President and 
Washington Counsel* 

Albert M. Polinsky, 50, Vice 
President - Information 
Systems* 

Present p o s i t i o n since May 1996. 
Served as Assistant Corporate 
Secretary between December 198 0 and 
May 1996. 

Present p o s i t i o n since 1981. 

Present p o s i t i o n since A p r i l 1994, 
Served as Assistant Vice President -
Program Management between December 
1993 and March 1994. Served as 
Assistant Vice President - Marketing 
Services between A p r i l 1992 and 
December 1993. 

John M. Samuels, 53, Vice 
President - Operating Assets' 

Gary M. Spiegel, 46, Vice 
President - Service Delivery* 

Present p o s i t i o n since January 1996. 
Served as Vice President -
Mechanical between Ncveraber 1994 and 
January 1996, Served as Vice 
President - Engineering between 
A p r i l 1992 and November 1994, 

Present p o s i t i o n since February 
1997. Served as Assistant-Vice 
President - Train Operations between 
August 1994 and February 1997. 
Served as General Manager-
Transportation and Customer Service 
between A p r i l 1992 and August 1994. 
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PART I I 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity 
and Related Stockholder Matters. 

Conrail's common stock i s l i s t e d for t r a d i n g on the New York 
Stock Exchange and the Philadelphia Stock Exchange. The number of 
holders of record of Conrail common stock on March 1, 1997 was 18,377. 
For the high and low sales prices of Conrail's common stock on the New 
York Stock Exchar^ge and the frequency and amount of cash dividends for 
1996 and 1995, see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included elsewhere i n t h i s Annual Report. 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data. 

The selected consolidated f i n a n c i a l data included i n the following 
tables have been derived from Conrail's Consolidated Financial Statements. 
The consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows 
for each of the three years i n the period ended December 31, 1996 and the 
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 1996 and 1995 appear 
elsewhere i n t h i s Annual Report and have been audited by the Company's 
independent accountants, as indicated i n t h e i r report thereon. For 
purposes of the following selected consolidated f i n a n c i a l data, references 
to Conrail r e f l e c t the consolidated e n t i t i e s of Consolidated R a i l 
Corporation for periods p r i o r to July 1, 1993 and Conrail Inc. f o r 
subsequent periods. 

The selected consolidated f i n a n c i a l data should be read i n 
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related not 
and other f i n a n c i a l information included elsewhere i n t h i s i ^ n u a l Repo 

es 
r t . 
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STATXKENT OF INCOME DATA: 
Revenues 
CJperating expenses (before one-time 

charges)(1) 
One-time charges (1), (2) and (3) 

Income from operations 
Interest expense 
Loss on disposition of subsidiary (5) 
Other income, net 

Income before income taxes and the 
cumulative effect of changes 
in accounting principles 

Income taxes (2) 

Income before the cumulative 
effect of changes in accounting 
principles 

Cumulative effect of changes in 
accounting principles 

Ret income 

Income per common share 
before the cumulative effect of 
changes in accounting principles 
Primary 
Fully diluted 

Cumulative effect of changes in 
accounting principles 
Primary 
Fully diluted 

Net income per common share (6) 
Primary 
Fully diluted 

Dividends per common share (6) 

(In Millions) 
yBALAWCE SHSXT DAVA: 

1996 1995 1994 1993 (4) 1992 

(In Millions Except Per Share Amounts) 

S3,714 $3,686 $3,733 $3,453 $2,345 

2, 978 2, 945 3, 043 2,862 2,811 
135 285 84 

601 456 606 591 534 
(182) (194) (192) (185) (172 

(80) 
112 130 118 114 98 

531 392 532 440 460 
189 128 208 206 178 

342 264 324 234 282 

(74) 

$ 342 $ 264 $ 324 $ 160 $ 282 
mmmmmm mmmmmm mmmmmm mmmmmm mmmmmm 

$4 .25 $3 .19 $3.90 $2 .74 $3 .28 
3.89 2 . 94 3.56 2.51 2 . 99 

(.92) 
(.81) 

4 .25 3.19 3 .90 1.82 3.28 
3.89 2 . 94 3 .56 1.70 2.99 

1.80 1.60 1.40 1.20 1.00 

Years ended December 31. 

1996 1995 1994 1992 

Cash, cash equivalents and 
temporary cash investments S 30 $ 73 $ 43 $ 38 $ 40 

Working capital (deficit) 25 36 (76) (13) (469) 
Total assets e, 4 02 8,424 8,322 7,948 7, 315 
other noncurrent l i a b i l i t i e s (net of 

current maturities of debt) 2, 379 2,444 2,480 2,433 2, 075 
Deferred income taxes 1, 478 1,393 1,203 1,081 644 
Special income tax obligation 346 440 513 575 569 
Stockholders' equity 3, 107 2, 977 2,925 2,784 2, 74 8 

29 
289 



2. 

NOTES TO SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

1, Included in 1996 operating expenses is a charge of S135 rr.illlon (before tax 
benefits of $52 million) consisting of $102 million in termination benefits to be 
paid to non-union employees participating in the voluntary retirement and 
separation programs ("voluntary separation programs") and losses of $33 million 
on non-cancelable leases for office space no longer required as a result of the 
reduction m the Company's workforce. Over 84 0 applications were accepted from 
eligible employees under both programs. Approximately $90 million of the 
termination benefits are being paid from the Company's overfunded pension plan. 
Also included i n 1996 operating expenses are expenses of Si6 million (before tax 
• ! 2 million) incurred by Conrail as a result of the proposed merq»r 

^^.Ir '^S^,9°^°"*^^°"- Without these items, net income for 1996 would have been 
5435 million ($5.45 per share, primary and $4.96 per share, f u l l y diluted). (See 
Notes 3 and 2, respectively to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere in t h i s Annual Report.) 

Included in 1995 operating expenses is an asset disposition charge of $285 
million which reduced net income by $176 million. The asset disposition charge 
resulted from a review of the Company's route system and other operating assets 
to determine those that no longer effectively and economically support current 
and expected operations. The Company identified and has committed to s e l l l 800 
miles of r a i l lines that are expected to provide proceeds substantially less than 
net book value. In addition, other assets, principally yards and side tracks, 
Identified for disposition have been written down to estimated net realizable 
value. Also, i n 1995, as a result of a decrease in a stat" income tax rate 
enacted during the second quarter of 1395, income tax expense was reduced by $21 
milUon representing the effect of adjustment for the rate decrease as required 
by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income 
Taxes" ("SFAS 109"). Without these items, net income for 1995 would have been 
$419 million ($5.16 per share, primary and $4.6S per share, f u l l y diluted) (See 
Notes 10 and 7, respectively, to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere m this Annual Report.) 

In 1994, Conrail recorded a charge of $51 million (after tax benefits of $33 
million) for a non-union employee voluntary early retireirant program ana related 
costs. The majority of the cost of the early retirement p-ogram is being paid 
from Conrail's overfunded pension plan. Without this one-time charge, net income 
would have been S375 million ($4.54 per share, primary and $4.13 per share, f u l l y 
diluted/. (See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere m this Annual Report.) 

Conrail adopted Statement of Financial Accounting .Standards No. 106, "Employers' 
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions" ("SFAS 106"), and <=Ft 

effective January 1, 1993. As a result, in the f i r s t quarter of 1993, ConreiJ 
recorded cumulative after-tax charges of $22 million and $52 million, 
respectively. In addition, as a result of the increase in the federal corpora^e.•' 
income tax rate from 34% to 35%, effective January l , 1993, income tax expense / 
includes $34 million of a retroactive nature, primarily for the effects of / 
adjusting deferred income taxes and the special income tax obligation for the rar#. 
increase as required under SFAS 109, ^ c ate 

In 1993, Conrail committed to a plan for disposition of i t s investment in Concord 
Resources Group, Inc. ("Concord"). Pursuant to this plan, Conrail recorded an 

disposition had no financial statement impact. 

6, Net income and dividends per common share include- the effects of a 1992 two-for-
one common stock s p l i t . The calculations of income per common share for 1996 
1995 and 1994 are shown in Exhibit 11, Part IV included elsewhere in this Annual 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of financial 

Condition and Results of Operations. 

Overview 

Conrail's net income for 1996 was $342 million, compared with $264 
million for 1995 and $324 million for 1994. Results for 19S6 include a 
one-time charge of $83 million (net of $52 million of tax benefits) 
related to voluntary separation programs and related costs and merger-
related expenses of $10 million {net of $6 million of tax benefits) 
incurred in connection with the proposed merger with CSX Corporation 
("CSX") (see Notes 3 and 2, respectively, to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report). 
Without these charges, net income for 1996 would have been $435 
million. 

The results for 1995 include the effects of a $285 million asset 
disposition charge ($176 million after income taxes) and the 
recognition of a $21 million reduction in income taxes related to a 
decrease in a state tax rate (see Notes 10 and 7, respectively, to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report). Results for 1994 include a one-time charge of $51 million 
(net of tax benefits of $33 million) for a non-union early retirement 
program and related costs (see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report). Absent the one­
time items, Conrail's net income for 1995 and 1994 would have been 
$^1? million and $375 million, respectively. 

Traffi*: volumes and operating revenues increased 2.1% and .8%, 
respectively, in 1996 compared with 1995. Lower than anticipated 
revenue growth and higher than expected operating expenses resulted in 
an operating ratio (operating expenses as a percent of revenues) of 
83.6%. Excluding the voluntary separation programs charge and merger-
related costs, Conrail's operating ratio was 79.7% compared with the 
Company's 1996 operating ratio goal of 77.5%. The d i f f i c u l t operating 
conditions caused by severe weather experienced over most of the 
Company's service area during the f i r s t quarter of 1996, higher fuel 
prices and declines in equipment u t i l i z a t i o n a l l contributed to the 
increase in operating expenses in 1996 as con^ared with those that 
were planned for 1996. The 1595 operating ratio, excluding the asset 
disposition charge, was 79.9%, 

For 1995 versus 1994, t r a f f i c volume and operating revenues decreased 
5.4% and 1.3*, respectively, while operating expenses, excluding one­
time charges, decreased 3.2%. 

Proposed I'.erger 

On October 14, 1996, Conrail, CSX Corporation ("CSX") and a subsidiary 
of CSX entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended, the 
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"Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which Conrail was to be merged with a 
subsidiary of CSX i n a merger-of-equals transaction. 

On October 24, 1996, Norfolk Southern Corporation ("Norfolk") 
commenced an u n s o l i c i t e d tender offer for a l l outstanding Conrail 
voting stock at $100 per share i n cash. Norfolk has since increased 
i t s o f f e r to $115 per share i n cash. 

On November 20, 1996, CSX concluded i t s f i r s t tender o f f e r and 
purchased approximately 19.9% of Conrail's outstanding shares f c r $110 
per share. 

On December 18, 1996, CSX and Conrail entered i n t o a second amendment 
to the Merger Agreement (the "Second Amendment") that would, among 
other things, ( i ) increase the consideration payable pursuant to the 
merger, ( i i ) accelerate the consummation of the merger ro immediately 
following the receipt of applicable shareholder approvals and p r i o r to 
the Surface Transpcrtation Board ("STB") approval and ( i i i ) extend 
u n t i l December 31, 1998 an e x c l u s i v i t y period during which the Conrail 
Board agreed not to withdraw or modify i t s recommendations of the CSX 
transactions, approve or recommend any takeover proposal or cause 
Conrail to enter i n t o any agreement related to any takeover proposal. 

On January 13, 1997, Norfolk issued a press release announcing that i t 
would o f f e r to purchase shares representing 9,9% of the outstanding 
Shares f o r $115 per share, i n the event that Conrail shareholders did 
not approve a proposal to opt out of a Pennsylvania statute (the "Opt 
Out Proposal") at the meeting of shareholders to be held on January 
17, 1997 (the "Special Sharel.olders Meeting"), 

On January 17, 1997, Conrail shareholders voted at the Special 
Shareholders Meeting against the Opt Out Proposal. 

On February 4, 1997, the amended Norfolk tender o f f e r expired, and 
Norfolk subsequently purchased approximately 8.2 m i l l i o n Shares 
pursuant thereto. 

On March 7, 1997, Conrail and CSX entered i n t o a Third Amendment (the 
i h i r d Amendment") to the Merger Agreement. Pursuant to the Third 

Amendment, ( i ) the price per share has been increased from $110 to 
5115, and the number of shares to be purchased i n the tender o f f e r has 
been increased to a l l outstanding shares. The tender o f f e r i s 
r^fo«i®'^u^° ^ P ^ i ^ 18, 1997 (subject to extension by CSX to June 
2, 1997 whether or not the conditions have been s a t i s f i e d ) , ( i i ) the 
consideration paid per share i n the merger for a l l remaining 
outstanding shares following consummation of the o f f e r has been 
increased to $115 i n cash and ( i i i ) the conditions to the o f f e r 
r e l a t i n g to cer t a i n provisions of Pennsylvania law becoming 
inapplicable to Conrail and r e l a t i n g pending governmental actions or 
proceedings have been deleted. 

/ 
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The Third Amendment also provides that CSX w i l l have sole control over 
the regulatory approval process and w i l l be free t : conduct by i t s e l r 
discussions with other railroads, including Norfolk, r e l a t i n g to 
competitive issues raised by the CSX transactions, and to enter into 
any r e s u l t i n g agreement. I t i s anticipated that CMX and Norfolk w i l l 
negotiate an appropriate d i v i s i o n of Conrail's ass«;ts; however, 
neither the pending CSX tender o f f e r nor the merger i s conditioned on 
CSX's reaching an agreement with Norfolk. 

Pursuant to the Third Amendment, three members of Cunrail's Board of 
Directors approved by CSX s h a l l be invite^' to j o i n the CSX Board of 
Directors and a t r a n s i t i o n team w i l l be established, the leadership of 
which w i l l include senior executive o f f i c e r s r f CSX and Conrail to 
ensure the orderly operation of Conrail during the .regulatory approval 
process and an orderly t r a n s i t i o n t hereafter. 

Under the Third Amendment, Conrail and CSX agreed tc reduce from 
December 31, 1998 to December 31, 1997 the period of time during which 
the Conrail Board i s p r o h i b i t e d from ( i ) withdrawing or modifying, or 
pu b l i c l y proposing to withdraw or modify, i t s approval or 
recommendation of the CSX transactions, i n a manner adverse to CSX, 
( i i ) approving or recommending, or p u b l i c l y proposing to approve or 
rec-mmend, any competing proposal or ( i i i ) causing Conrail to enter 
i n t o any agreement related t o any such competing proposal. 

Under the Merger Agreement as amended, Conrail may terminate the 
Merger Agreement i n the event that a f t e r June 2, 1997, CSX f a i l s to 
consummate the tender o f f e r f o r any reason other than the non­
occurrence of any condition to the tender o f f e r . In the event that 
CSX f a i l s to consummate the tender o f f e r under such circumstances, 
Conrail w i l l be e n t i t l e d to exercise any a d d i t i o n a l remedies i t nay 
have. 

The f u l l terms and conditions of the CSX and Norfolk o f f e r s and 
Conrail's p o s i t i o n with respect to the CSX and Norfolk o f f e r s are set 
fo r t h i n documents f i l e d by Conrail with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, 

1997 Outlook 

Conrail expects the economy t o grow i n 1997 at about the same growth 
rate experienced i n 1996. Conrail's 1997 plans are based on 
assumptions of 2.2% growth i n real gross domestic product and 3.4% 
growth i n i n d u s t r i a l production. Conrail's outlook f o r 1997 
includes l i n e haul revenue growth of between 2.5% and 3.5%, 
Conrail's operating r a t i o goal f o r 1997 i s 78.5%. 

Voluntary Separation Programs 

During the second quarter of 1996, the Company recorded a charge of 
$135 m i l l i o n (before tax benefits of $52 m i l l i o n ) consisting of $102 
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million i n Larmination benefits to be paid to non-union engjloyees 
participating i n the voluntary retirement and separation programs 
("volimtary separation programs") and losses of $33 million on non-
cancelable leases for of f i c e space no longer required as a result of 
the reduction i n the Company's workforce. Over 840 applications 
were accepted from e l i g i b l e enployees under the voluntary separation 
programs. Approximately $90 m i l l i o n of the termination benefits are 
being paid from the Company's overfunded pension plan. 

Results of Operations 

1996 Ccxparcd with 1995 
Net income for 1996 was $342 m i l l i o n ($4.25 per share, primary and 
$3,89 per share, f u l l y diluted) compared with 1995 net income of $264 
million ($3.19 per share, primary and $2.94 per share, f u l l y diluted). 
Excluding the unusual items (see "Overview") i n both years, Conrail's 
net income would have been $435 m i l l i o n ($5.45 per share, primary and 
$4.96 per share, f u l l y diluted) for 1996 and $419 million ($5.16 per 
share, primary and $4.69 per share, f u l l y diluted) for 1995. 

Operating revenues (primarily freight line haul revenues, but also 
including switching, demurrage and incidental revenue) increased $28 
million, or .8%, to $3,714 m i l l i o n i n 1996 from $3,686 m i l l i o n i n 
1995. A 2,1% increase i n t r a f f i c volume i n units (freight c rs and 
intermodal t r a i l e r s and containers) resulted i n a $74 mil l i o n increase 
i n revenues. Average revenue per unit decreased revenues by $42 
million due to an unfavorsible t r a f f i c mix. A t r a f f i c volume increase 
of 7.6% was experienced by the Intermodal Service Group while t r a f f i c 
volume for the Unit Train Service Group remained unchanged. The 
Automotive and CORE service groups experienced t r a f f i c volume declines 
of 1.7% and 1,6%, respectively. Within the CORE Service Group, 
t r a f f i c volume declines were experienced by three of the four / 
commodity groups: Forest and Manufactured Products, 5.3%; Food and / 
Agriculture, 2.8%; and Petrochemicals, 2.5%, Metals experienced a 
t r a f f i c increase of 4.0%, 
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Operating expenses (including one-time charges and merger-related 
costs i n 1996 and the asset d i s p o s i t i o n charge i n 1995) decreased $117 
m i l l i o n , or 3.6%, from $3,230 m i l l i o n i n 1995 t o $3,113 m i l l i o n i n 
1996. The following table sets f o r t h the operating expenses f o r the 
two years: 

(In M i l l i o n s ) 

Compensation and benefits 
Fuel 
Material and supplies 
Eouipment rents 
Depreciation and amortization 
Casualties and insurance 
Other 
Voluntary separation programs 
Asset d i s p o s i t i o n charge 

Increase 
1996 1995 (Decrease) 

, 206 $1,249 $(43) 
202 168 34 
175 167 8 
382 355 27 
283 293 (10) 
176 175 1 
554 538 16 
135 135 

285 (.285) 

,113 $3,230 $(117) 

Condensation and benefits decreased $43 m i l l i o n , or 2.4%, as a r e s u l t 
of reductions i n employment levels and other employee-related costs. 
These decreases were p a r t i a l l y o f f s e t by increased waae rates due to 
new labor agreements, increased t r a i n crew costs and overtime caused 
by adverse weather conditions experienced during the f i r s t quarter cf 
1996. Compensation and benefits as a percent of revenues was 32.5% i n 
1996 as compared with 33.9% i n 1995. 

Fuel costs increased $34 m i l l i o n , or 20.2%, due n o s t l y t o higher f u a l 
prices. 

Equipment rents increased $27 m i l l i o n , or 7.6%, p r i m a r i l y as a r e s u l t 
of declines i n equipment u t i l i z a t i o n and increased car h i r e rates. 

Other operating expenses increased $16 m i l l i o n , or 3.0%, p r i m a r i l y due 
to $16 m i l l i o n of costs incurred i n connection w i t h the proposed 
merger with CSX (see Note 2 to the Cor«solidated Financial Statements 
included elsewhere i n t h i s Annual Report). 

Conrail recorded a one-time pre-tax charge of $135 m i l l i o n i n 1996 f o r 
the voluntary separation programs and related costs (see Note 3 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere i n t h i s Annual 
Report) and an asset d i s p o s i t i o n charge of $285 m i l l i o n i n 1995 (see 
Ncte 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere i n 
t h i s Annual Report), 

Conrail's operating r a t i o was 83.8% f o r 1996, coit^ared w i t h 87.6% f o r 
19S5. Without the one-time charges recorded i n 1996 and 1995 and the 
merger-related costs incurred i n 1996, the operating r a t i o s would have 
been 79.7% and 79.9%, respectively. 
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other income decreased $18 million, or 13.8%, from $130 million i n 
1995 to $112 mil l i o n i n 1996 primarily due to decreases i n rental 
income euid lesser gains from sales of property. 

The Company's effective income tax rate for 1996 was 35.6% compared 
with 32.7% for 1995. The lower effective rate i n 1995 is primarily 
caused by a $21 m i l l i o n reduction i n income tsuces as a result of a 
decrease i n state income taxes (see Note 7 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements included elsewhere i n this Annual Report), 

1995 CoaBV>arad with 1994 

Net income for 1995 was $264 million ($3.19 per share, primary and 
$2.94 per share, f u l l y diluted) compared with 1994 net income of $324 
mi l l i o n ($3.90 per share, primary and $3.56 per share, f u l l y diluted). 
Excluding the one-time charges (see "Overview") i n both years and the 
one-time tax benefit i n 1995, Conrail's net income would have been 
$419 mil l i o n ($5.16 per share, primary and $4.69 per share, f u l l y 
diluted) for 1995 and $375 million ($4.54 per share, primary and $4.13 
per share, f u l l y diluted) for 1994. 

Operating revenues decreased $47 mill i o n , or 1,3%, from $3,733 m i l l i o n 
i n 1994 to $3,686 m i l l i o n in 1995. A 5.4% decrease i n t r a f f i c volume 
in units resulted i n a $191 million decrease i n revenues which was 
p a r t i a l l y offset by an increase in average revenue per unit that 
increased revenues by $140 million. Tne in^rovement i n average 
revenue per unit resulted from increases i n average rates, $117 
mil l i o n , and a favorable t r a f f i c mix, $23 million. Traffic volume 
decreases were experienced by three of the four service groups, with 
only Automotive showing a slight volume increase of ,8%. Traffic 
volume declines for the other service groups were as follows: 
Intermodal, 7.3%; Unit Train, 5.4%; and CORE, 5.1%. Within the CORE 
Service Group, t r a f f i c volume declines were also experienced by each 
of the commodity groups: Food and Agriculture, 8.2%; Petrochemicals, 
4,6%; Metals, 4,0%; eUld Forest amd Manufactured Products, 3,9%, 
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Operating expenses increased $103 million, or 3.3%, fron $3,127 
million in 1994 to $3,230 million in 1995. The following table sets 
forth the operating expenses for the two years: 

Increase 
(In Millions) 1995 1994 (Decrease 

Compensation and benefits $1,249 $1,260 $(11) 
Fuel 168 188 (20) 
Material and supplies 167 203 (36) 
Equipment rents 355 381 (26) 
Depreciation and amortization 293 278 15 
Casualties and insurance 175 184 (9) 
Other 538 549 (11) 
Asset disposition charge 285 285 
Early retirement pro&ram 84 _ (84) 

$3,230 $3,127 $103 

Compensation and benefits costs decreased $11 million, or .9%, as a 
result of a 5.3% reduction in employment levels, which exceeded the 
increases in wage rates and fringe benefit costs. Compensation and 
benefits as a percent of revenues was 33.9% in 1995 compared with 
33.7% in 1994. 

Fuel costs decreased $20 million, or 10.6%, as a result of greater use 
of newer fuel efficient locomotives, lower average fuel prices and 
lower t r a r l i e volume. 

The decrease of $36 million, or 17.7%, in material and supplies costs 
was primarily attributable to a lower level of repair and maintenance 
expenditures related to lower t r a f f i c volume. 

Equipment rents decreased $26 million, or 6.8%, primarily as a r e j u l t 
of fewer foreign cars on Conrail's lines and improved equipment 
utilization, p a r t i a l l y offset by the increased costs associated with 
new operating leases for equipment. 

Depreciation and amortization increased $15 million, or 5 4%, due to 
asset additions and increased depreciation rates for track structure 
as a result of a depreciation study required by the former Interstate 
Commerce Commission. 

Conrail recorded an asset disposition charge of $285 million in 1995 
(see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere in this Annual Report) and a one-time pre-tauc charge of $84 
mi:.lion in 1994 for the non-union voluntary early retirement program 
and related costs (see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report). 

Conrail's operating ratio was 87.6% for 199^, compared with 83.8% for 
1994. Without the $285 million asset disposition charge in 1995 and 
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the $84 m i l l i o n charge f o r the early retirement program i n 1994, the 
operating r a t i o s f o r 1995 and 1994 would have been 79.9% and 81.5%, 
respectively. 

Other income, net, increased $12 m i l l i o n , or 10.2%, p r i m a r i l y due t o 
an $8 m i l l i o n gain from a property sale completed during the second 
quarter of 1995. 

The Conpany's e f f e c t i v e income tax rate f o r 1995 was 32.7% 
con5>ared with 39,1% f o r 1994. The lower rate r e f l e c t s the e f f e c t 
of a $21 m i l l i o n reduction i n income taxes r e s u l t i n g from a 
decrease i n a state income tax rate enacted during the second 
quarter of 1995 (see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements included elsewhere i n t h i s Annual Report), 

L i q u i d i t y and Capital Resources 

Conrail's cash and cash equivalents decreased $43 m i l l i o n , from $73 
m i l l i o n at December 31, 1995 t o $30 m i l l i o n at December 31, 1996. 
Cash generated from operations, p r i n c i p a l l y from i t s wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Consolidated Rail Corporation ("CRC"), and borrowings are 
Conrail's p r i n c i p a l sources of l i q u i d i t y and are used p r i m a r i l y f o r 
cap i t a l expenditures, debt service, and dividends. Operating 
a c t i v i t i e s provided cash of $669 m i l l i o n i n 1996, compared w i t h 
$773 m i l l i o n i n 1995 and $697 m i l l i o n i n 1994. In 1996, loans from 
and redertptions of insurance p o l i c i e s provided cash of $95 m i l l i o n and 
issuance of long-term debt provided cash of $26 m i l l i o n . The 
p r i n c i p a l uses of cash i n 1996 were f o r property and equipment 
acquisitions, $387 m i l l i o n , payment of long-term debt including 
ca p i t a l lease and equipment obligations, $184 m i l l i o n , cash dividends ^ 
on preferred and common stock, $171 m i l l i o n , and the repurchase of y 
common stock., $156 m i l l i o n . / 

/ 
Working c a p i t a l (current assets less current l i a b i l i t i e s ) o f $25 / 
m i l l i o n existed at December 31, 1996, compared with $36 m i l l i o n at 
December 31, 1995. Management believes that Conrail's f i n a n c i a l 
p o s i t i o n allows i t s u f f i c i e n t access t o c r e d i t sources on investment 
grade terms, and, i f necessary, addit i o n a l intermediafs or long-term 
debt could be issued f o r additional working c a p i t a l requirements. 

In A p r i l 1995, the Company's Board of Directors approved a $250 
m i l l i o n multi-year stock repurchase program. During 1996, the Company 
acquired 2,225,738 shares f o r $156 m i l l i o n under t h i s program. As a 
re s u l t of the proposed merger agreement w i t h CSX (see Note 2 t o the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere i n t h i s Annual 
Report), the Conpany w i l l not make any a d d i t i o n a l stock repurchases 
under t h i s program. 

During 1996, CRC issued an a d d i t i o n a l $139 m i l l i o n of commercial paper 
and repaid $129 m i l l i o n . Of the $199 m i l l i o n outstanding at 
December 31, 1996, $100 m i l l i o r i s c l a s s i f i e d as lor.g-term debt since 
i t i s expected to be refinanced through subsequent issuances of 
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commercial paper and is supported by the $500 million uncollatfralized 
bank credit agreement. 

At December 31, 1996, $312 million remains available to Conrail and CRC 
under a 1993 shelf registration statement whereby CRC can issue debt 
securities and Conrail can issue both convertible debt and equity 
securities. 

In April 1996, CRC issued $50 million of Pass-Through Certificates 
at a rate of 6.96% to finance equipment. Although the certificates 
are not direct obligations of, or guararteed by CRC, amounts payable 
under related capital leases will be sutficient to pay principal and 
interest on the certificates. 

In July 1996, CRC issued $26 million of 1996 Equipment Trust 
Certificates, Series A, with interest rates ranging from 6.0% to 
7.48%, maturing annually from 1997 to 2011. The certificates were 
issued to finance approximately 85% of the purchase price of twenty 
locomotives. 

In June 1996, CRC borrowed $69 million against the cash surrender 
value of the company-owned l i f e insurance policies which i t maintains 
on certain of i t s non-union employees. The Company also redeemed the 
remaining excess cash surrender value of $26 million. Both 
transactions resulted in an increase ot $95 million in cash in 1996. 

Capital Expenditures 

Capital expenditures totaled $478 million, $494 million and 
$508 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. Of these totals, 
Conrail directly financed $108 million in 1996, $126 million in 1995 
and $57 million in 1994. 

Capital expenditures for 1997 are expected to be approximately 
$550 million. 

Inflation 

Generally accepted accounting principles require the use of historical 
costs in preparing financial statements. This approach does not 
consider the effects of inflation on the costs of replacing assets. 
The replacement cost of Conrail's property and equipment is 
substantially higher than i t s historical cost basis. Similarly, 
depreciation expense on a replacement cost basis would be 
substantially in excess of the am.ount recorded under generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

Environmental Matters 

Conrail's operations and property are subject to various federal, 
state and local laws regulating the environment. CRC is a party to 
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numerous proceedings brought by regulatory agencies and private 
parties under federal, state and local laws, including Superfund laws, 
and has also received inquiries from governmental agencies with 
respect to other potential environmental issues. As of December 31, 
1996, CRC had received, together with other cott^anies, notices of its 
involvement as a potentially responsiLle party or requests for 
information under the Superfund laws with respect to cleanup and/or 
removal costs due to its status as an alleged transporter, generator 
or property owner at 135 locations throughout the country. However, 
based on currently available information, Conrail believes CRC may 
have some potential responsibility at only 61 of these sites. Due to 
the number of parties involved at many of these sites, the wide range 
of costs of the possible remediation altematives, changing technology 
and the length of time over which these matters develop, i t is not 
always possible to estimate CRC's l i a b i l i t y for the costs associated 
with the assessment and remediation of contaminated sites. At 
December 31, 1996, Conrail had accrued $55 million for estimated 
future environmental expenses. Although Conrail's operating results 
and liquidity could be significantly affected in any quarterly or 
annual reporting period in which CRC was held principally liable in 
certain of these actions, Conrail believes the ultimate l i a b i l i t y for 
these matters will not materially affect i t s financial condition. 
(See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere in this Annual Report). 

Conrail spent $11 million, $14 million and $8 million in 1996, 1995 
and 1994, respectively, for environmental remediation and related 
costF and anticipates spending an amount comparable to that spent in 
1996 during 1997. In addition, Conrail's capital expenditures for 
environmental control and abatement projects were approximately $6 
million in 1996 and 1995, and $5 million in 1994, and are anticipated 
to be approximately $10 million in 1997. 

Conrail has an Environmental Quality Department, the mission of which 
is to institute and promote compliance with environmentally sound 
operating practices and to monitor and assess the status of sites 
where liability under environmental laws may exist. 

Other Matters 

Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters 
discussed in this report are forward-looking statements that involve 
risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ, 
including but not limited to the effect of economic conditions, 
coit^jetition, regulation and weather on Conrail's operations, 
customers, service and prices, and other factors discussed elsewhere 
in this report and, from time to time, in other reports filed with the 
Securities amd Exchange Commission, 
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementarv Data 

Report of Independent Accountants 

The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Conrail Inc. -

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 
14 (a) 1. and 2. present fiirly, in all material respects, the financial position of Conrail Inc. and 
subsidiaries at December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the results of their operations and their cash 
flows for each of the thre; years in the period ended December 31, 1996, in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company's management, our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits. We c onducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are fi-ee of material misstatement An audit 
includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

Price Waterhouse LLP 
Thirty South Seventeenth Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 

January 21, 1.797, 
except as to Note 2, which is as of March 7, 1997 

\ 
\ 
\ 
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COMRAIL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCCHE 

Years ended December 31, 

($ In Millions Except Per Share Data) 1996 1995 1994 

R«v«nuas $3,714 $3,686 $3,733 

Oparating caqpansaa 
Way and structures 
Equipment 
Transport at ion 
General and administrative 
Voluntary sepp-.aticn programs (Note 3) 
Asset disposition charge (Note 10) 
Early retirement program (Note 11) 

462 
803 

1,385 
328 
135 

485 
766 

1,324 
370 

285 

499 
815 

1,379 
350 

84 

Total operating expenses 3,113 3,230 3,127 

Income from operations 
Interest expense 
Other income, net (Note 12) 

601 
(182) 
112 

456 
(194) 
130 

60t 
(192) 
118 

Income before income taxes 531 392 532 

Income taixes (Note 7) 189 128 208 

Net inccaw $"342 $ 264 $ 324 

Net Incoa* per cooBnon share (Note 1) 
Primary 
Fully diluted 

Ilatio of mmxningB to fixed charges 
(Note 1) 

$ 4.25 
3.89 

3.19X 

$ 3.19 
2,94 

2.51X 

$ 3.90 / 
3.56 / 

3.19X / 

See accoti^amying notes. 

/ 
1 

1 

i 

i 
1 
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CONRAIL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

($ I n M i l l i o n s ) 

ASSETS 
Current assets 

Cash and cash e q u i v a l e n t s 
Accounts r e c e i v a b l e 
Deferred t a x assets (Note 7) 
M a t e r i a l and s u p p l i e s 
Other c u r r e n t assets 

T o t a l c u r r e n t assets 

Property and equipment, net (Note 4) 
Other assets 

T o t a l assets 

December 31, 

1996 1995 

30 
630 
293 
139 
25 

1,117 

6,590 
695 

$8,402 

$ 73 
614 
333 
158 
28 

1,206 

6,408 
810 

$8,424 

1,092 

1,876 
190 

1,478 
346 
313 

5,295 

89 
181 
113 
183 
110 
494 

1,170 

1, 911 
217 

1, 393 
440 
316 

5,447 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKBOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s 

Short-term borrowings 99 
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 6) 130 
Accounts payable 135 
Wages and employee be n e f i t s 143 
Casualty reserves 141 
Accrued and other current l i a b i l i t i e s (Note 5) 444 

T o t a l c u r r e n t l i a b i l i t i e s 

Long-term debt (Note 6) 
Casualty reserves 
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) 
Special income tax obligation (Note 7) 
Other l i a b i l i t i e s 

T o t a l l i a b i l i t i e s 

Commitments and con t i n g e n c i e s (Note 13) 
Stockholders' e q u i t y (Notes 2 and 9) 

Pr e f e r r e d stock (no par val u e ; 15,000,000 
shares a u t h o r i z e d ; no shares issued) 

Series A ESOP c o n v e r t i b l e j u n i o r p r e f e r r e d 
stock (no par value; 10,000,000 shares 
a u t h o r i z e d ; 7,303,920 and 9,770,993 shares 
issued and ou t s t a n d i n g , r e s p e c t i v e l y ) 211 282 

Unearned ESOP compensation (222) (233) 
Common stock ($1 par v a l u e ; 250,000,000 

shares a u t h o r i z e d ; 87,768,428 and 85,392,392 
shares issued, r e s p e c t i v e l y ; 82,244,973 and 
82,094,675 shares o u t s t a n d i n g , r e s p e c t i v e l y ) 88 85 

A d d i t i o n a l p a i d - i n c a p i t a l 2,404 2,187 
Enployee b e n e f i t s t r u s t , a t market (3,394,988 

and 4,706,665 shares, r e s p e c t i v e l y ) (384) (329) 
Retained earnings AL12^ 

3,454 3,168 
Treasury stock, a t cost (5,523,455 and 

3,297,717 shares, r e s p e c t i v e l y ) . . i i ? ^ ' 
T o t a l s t o c k h o l d e r s ' e q u i t y .?i??7 

T o t a l l i a b i l i t i e s and stockholders' e q u i t y $8,402 $8,424 

See accompanying notes 
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CONRAIL ZNC, 
COMSOLIDATKD STATEMENTS OP STOCKHOLDERS* BQniTY 

(S In Mil Hons Except Per Share Data) 

Series A 
Preferred 

Stock 

o 

Balance, January 1, 1994 $286 
Amort izat ion 
Net income 
Common dividends, SI.40 per share 
Preferred dividends, S2.165 per share 
Common shares acquired 
Exercise of stock options 
Other _ (3) 

Balance, Deceaber 31, 1994 283 
Amort i zat ion 
Net income 
Common di.vidends, $1.G0 per share 
Preferred dividends, $2,165 per share 
Common shares acquired 
Exercise of stock options 
Establishment of employee benefits t r u s t 
Employee benefits t r u s t transactions, net 
Other (1) 

Unearned 
ESOP 

Compensat ion 

$(253) 
10 

Additional 
Common Paid-in 
Stock Capital 

Employee 
Benefits 

Trust 

$80 

(243) 
10 

80 

Balance, Deceaber 31, 1995 282 
Amortization 
Net income 
Common dividends, $1.80 per share 
Preferred dividends, $2,165 per share 
Common shares acquired 
Exercise of stock options 
Employee benefits t r u s t transactions, net 
Effects of voluntary separation programs (8) 
Effects of CSX tender o f f e r (Note 2) (63) 
Other 

(233) 
I I 

85 

Balance, Deceaber 31, 1996 $211 

See accompanying notes. 

$(222) 

3 

$88 

$1,819 

14 
15 

1,848 

6 
245 
•4 
4 

2,187 

29 
128 

60 

$2,404 

$(2ro) 
(79) 

(329) 

53 
(116) 

8 

$(384) 

Retained Treasury 
Earnings Stock 

857 

324 
(111) 
(21) 

1,056 

264 
(129) 
(21) 

6 

1,176 

342 
(146) 
(20) 

5 
$1,357 

$ (5) 

(94) 

(99) 

(92) 

(191) 

(156) 

$(347) 
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CONRAIL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Years ended December 31, 

($ I n M i l l i o n s ) 

Cash flows from operating a c t i v i t i e s 
Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net incore to 
net cash provided by operating a c t i v i t i e s : 
Voluntary separation programs 
Asset d i s p o s i t i o n charge 
Early retirement program 
Depreciation and amortization 
Deferred income taoces 
Special income tax o b l i g a t i o n 
Gains from sales of property 
Pension c r e d i t 
Changes in.-
Accounts receivaible 
Accounts and wages payaible 

Settlement of tax audit 
Other 

Net cash provided by operating 
a c t i v i t i e s 

Cash flows from investing a c t i v i t i e s 
Property and equipment acquisitions 
Proceeds from disposals of properties 
Other 

Net cash used i n investing a c t i v i t i e s 

Cash flows from financing a c t i v i t i e s 
Repurchase of common stock 
Net proceeds from (repayments of) 

short-term borrovings 
Proceeds from long-tertri debt 
Payment of long-term debt 
Loans from and redemptions of 

insurance p o l i c i e s 
Dividends on common stock 
Dividends on Series A preferred stock 
Proceeds from stock options and other 

Net cash used i n financing 
a c t i v i t i e s 

Increase (decrease) i n cash and cash eqfuivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Beginning of year 

End of year 

See accon^anying notes. 

1996 1995 1994 

$ 342 $ 264 $ 324 

135 
285 

S4 
283 293 278 
183 108 150 
(94) (73) (62) 
(24) (27) (18) 
(46) (43) (46) 

(16) 32 (2) 
(18) 8 41 
(39) 
(37) (74) (52) 

ob9 773 697 

(387) (415) (490) 
34 38 3.1 
(46) (59) (23) 

(399) (436) (481) 

(156) (92) (94) 

10 (23) 33 
26 85 114 

(184) (134) (158) 

95 
(146) (129) (111) 
(25) (21) (16) 
67 7 21 

(313) (307) (211) 

(43) 30 5 

73 43 38 

$ 30 $ 73 $ 43 
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CONRAIL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Industry 

Conrail Inc. ("Conrail") i s a holding company of which the 
principal sxibsidiary i s Consolidated Rail Corporation ("CRC"), a 
freight railroad which operates «rithin the northeast and midwest 
United States and the Province of Quebec. 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include Conrail and 
majority-owned subsidiaries. Investments in 20% to 50% owned 
coirpanies arc accounted for by the equity method. 

Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents consist of commercial paper, certificates of 
deposit and other liquid securities purchased with a maturity of 
three r.onths or less, and are stated at cost which approximates 
maike*. value. 

Material and Supplies 

Material and supplies consist mainly of fuel o i l and items for 
maintenance of property and equipment, and are valued at the 
lower of cost, principally weighted average, or market. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation i s 
provided using the composite straight-line method. The cost (net 
of salvage) of depreciable property retired or replaced in the 
ordinary cc rse of business i s charged to accumulated 
depreciation and no gain or loss i s recognized. 

Asset laqpairment 

Long-lived assets are reviewed for itt^airmert whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable. Expected future cash flows from 
the use and disposition of long-lived assets are compared to the 
current carrying amounts to determine the potential in^airment 
loss. 

Revenue Recognition 

y Revenue i s recognized proportionally as a shipment moves on the 
Conrail system from origin to destination, 

Eamings Per Shares 

Primary eamings per share are based on net income adjusted for 
the effects of preferred dividends net of income tax benefits, 
divided by the weighted average nuu.^er cf shares outstanding 
during the period, including the dilutive effect of stock 
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options, r'ully d i l u t e d earnings per share assume conversion of 
Series A ESOP Convertible Junior Preferred Stock ("ESOP Stock") 
i n t o Conrail common stock. Net income amounts applicable ^o 
f u l l y d i l u t e d eamings per share have been adjusted by the" 
increase, net of income tax benefits, i n ECOp-related expenses 
assuming conversion of a l l ESOP Stock to common stock. Shares i n 
the Conrail Employee Benefits Trust are not considered 
outstanding f o r computing earnings per share. The weighted 
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each 
of the most recent three years are as follows: 

Primary weighted 
average shares 

Fully d i l u t e d weighted 
average shares 

1996 1995 1994 

77,628,825 78,733,947 79,674,781 

87,325,575 88,702,712 89,562,721 

Ratio of Eamings to Fixed Charges 

Eamings used i n computing the r a t i o of earnings to f i x e d charges 
represent income before income taxes plus f i x e d charges, less 
equity i n undistributed eamings of 20% to 50% owned companies 
Fixed charges represent i n t e r e s t expense together w i t h i n t e r e s t 
c a p i t a l i z e d and a p o r t i o n of rent under long-term operating 
leases representative of an i n t e r e s t f a c t o r . 

Hew Accounting Standards 

During 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 121 
"Accounting f o r the Impairment of Long-Lived >.ssets and f o r Long-
Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of" (SFAS 121) anj SFAS No. 123, 
"Accounting f o r Stock-Based Compensation" fS:-AS 123), which are 
both e f f e c t i v e i n 1996. The Company has decided t o adopt only 
the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123 i n 1996 and continues t o 
apply APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting f o r S'ock Issued to 
Employees" (APB 25) and related i n t e r p r e t a t i o n s i n accounting f o r 
i t s stock-based compensation plans. The Company adopted SFAS 121 
i n the f i r s t quarter of 1996 and determined that i t d i d not hav*:> 
a material e f f e c t cn i t s f i n a n c i a l statements. 

Use of EstiTAfcs 

The preparation of f i n a n c i a l statements i n conformity w i t h 
general .Ty accepted accounting p r i n c i p l e s requires management to 
make estimates and assuTiptions that a f f e c t the reported amounts 
of assets and l i a b i l i t i e s and disclosure of contingent assets 
and l i a b i l i t i e s at the date of the f i n a n c i a l statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the rep o r t i n g 
period. Actual r e s u l t s could d i f f e r from those estimates 
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Proposed IMerger 

On October 14, 1996, Conrail, CSX Corporation ("CSX") and a 
subsidiary of CSX entered i n t o an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as 
amended, the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which Conrail was to 
be merged with a subsidiary of CSX i n a merger-of-equals 
transaction, 

On October 24, 1996, Norfolk Southern Corporation ("Norfolk") 
commenced an u n s o l i c i t e d tender o f f e r f o r a l l outstanding Conrail 
voting stock at $100 per share i n cash. Norfolk has since 
increased i t s o f f e r to $115 per share i n cash. 

On November 20, 1996, CSX concluded i t s f i r s t tender o f f e r and 
purchased approximately 19.9% of Ĉ  t r a i l ' s outstanding shares for 
$110 per share. 

On December 18, 1996, CSX and Conrail entered i n t o a second 
amendment to the Merger Agreement (the "Second Amendment") that 
would, among other things, ( i ) increase the consideration payable 
pursuant to the merger, ( i i ) accelerate the consummation of the 
merger to immediately following the receipt of applicable 
shareholder approvals and p r i o r to the Surface Transportation 
Board ("STB") approval and ( i i i ) extend u n t i l December 31, 1998 an 
e x c l u s i v i t y period during which the Conrail Board agreed not tc 
withdraw or modify i t s recommendations of the CSX transactions, 
approve or recommend any takeover proposal or cause Conrail to 
enter i n t o any agreement related to any takeover proposal. 

On January 13, 1997, Norfolk issued a press release announcing 
that i t would offer to purchase shares representing 9.9% of the 
outstanding shares for $115 per share, i n the event that Conrail 
shareholders did not approve a proposal to opt out of a 
Pennsylvania statute (the "Opt Out Proposal") at the meeting of 
shareholders to be held on January 17, 1997 (the "Special 
Shareholders Meeting"). 

On January 17, 1997, Conrail sharehcxders voted at the Special 
Shareholders Meeting against the Opt Out Proposal. 

On February 4, 1997, the amended Norfolk tender o f f e r expired, and 
Norfolk subsequently purchased approximately 8.2 m i l l i o n shares 
pursuant thereto. 

On March 7, 1997, Conrail and CSX entered i n t o a Third Amendment 
(the "Tnird Amendment") to the Merger Agreement. Pursuant to the 
Third Amendment, ( i ) the price per share has been increased from 
$110 to $115, and the number of shares to be purchased i n the 
tender o f f e r has been increased to a l l outstanding shares. The 
tender o f f e r i s scheduled to close A p r i l 18, 1997 (subject to 
extension by CSX to June 2, 1997 whether or not the conditions 
have been s a t i s f i e d ) , ( i i ) the consideration paid per share i n the 
merger f o r a l l remaining outstanding shares following consummation 
of the o f f e r has been increased to $215 i n cash and ( i i i ) the 
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conditions tc the o f f e r r e l a t i n g to c e r t a i n provisions of 
Pennsylvania law becoming inapplicable to Conrail and r e l a t i n g 
pending governmental actions or proceedings have been deleted. 

The Third Amendment also provides that CSX w i l l have sole control 
over the regulatory approval process and w i l l be free to conduct 
by i t s e l f discussions with other r a i l r o a d s , including Norfolk, 
r e l a t i n g to competitive issues raised by the CSX transactions, and 
to enter i n t o any r e s u l t i n g agreement. I t i s anticipated that CSX 
and Norfolk w i l l negotiate an appropriate d i v i s i o n of Conrail's 
assets; however, neither the pending CSX tender o f f e r nor the 
merger i s conditioned on CSX's reaching an agreement wit h Norfolk. 

Pursuant to the Third Amendment, three members of Conrail's Board 
of Directors approved by CSX s h a l l be i n v i t e d to j o i n the CSX 
Board of Directors and a t r a n s i t i o n team w i l l be established, the 
leadership of which w i l l include senior executive o f f i c e r s of CSX 
and Conrail to ensure the orderly operation of Conrail during the 
regulatory approval process and an orderly t r a n s i t i o n t hereafter. 

Under the Third Amendment, Conrail and CSX agreed to reduce from 
December 31, 1998 to December 31, 1997 the period of time during 
which the Conrail Board i s p r o h i b i t e d from ( i ) withdrawing or 
modifying, or p u b l i c l y proposing to withdraw or modify, i t s 
approval or recommendation of the CSX transactions, i n a manner 
adverse to CSX, ( i i ) approving or recommending, or p u b l i c l y 
proposing to approve or recommend, any com.peting proposal or ( i i i ) 
causing Conrail to enter i n t o any agreement r e l a t e d to any such 
competing proposal. 

Under the Merger Agreement as amended, Conrail may terminate the 
Merger Agreement i n the event that a f t e r June 2, 1997, CSX f a i l s 
to consummate the tender o f f e r f o r any reason other than the non­
occurrence of any condition to the tender o f f e r . In the event 
that CSX f a i l s to consuTimate the tender o f f e r under such 
circumstances, Conrail w i l l be e n t i t l e d to exercise any additional 
remedies i t may have. 

The f u l l terms and conditions of the CSX and Norfolk o f f e r s and 
Conrail's p o s i t i o n with respect to the CSX and Norfolk o f f e r s are 
set f o r t h i n documents f i l e d by Conrail with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. 

Pending approval by the Surface Transportation Board ("STB"), 
100% of Conrail's voting stock w i l l be held by CSX i n a voting 
t r u s t . The combination of the r a i l r o a d operations of the two 
companies i s contingent upon the approval of the merger by the 
STB. 
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Voluntary Separation Programs 
During the second quarter of 1996, the Company recorded a charge 
of $135 m i l l i o n (before tax benefits of $52 m i l l i o n ) consisting 
of $102 m i l l i o n i n termination benefits to be paid t o non-union 
en^jloyees p a r t i c i p a t i n g i n the voluntary retirement and 
separation programs ("voluntary separation programs") and losses 
of $33 m i l l i o n on non-cancelable leases f o r o f f i c e space no 
longer required as a r e s u l t of the reduction i n the Company't 
worJcforce. Over 840 applications were accepted from e l i g i b l e 
enployees under the voluntary separation programs. 
Approximately $90 m i l l i o n of the termination benefits are being 
paid from the Coti?>any's overfunded pension plan. 

Property and Equipment 
Dec«inber 31, 

Roadway 
Equipment 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Allowamce f o r d i s p o s i t i o n 

Capital leases (p r i m a r i l y equipment) 
Accumulated amortization 

1996 1995 

(In Millions) 
$ 7,021 $ 6,828 

1,231 1,213 
(1,654) (1,572) 

(408) (439) 

6,190 6, 030 

908 908 
(508) (530) 

400 378 

$ 6,590 
s s s s s = = 

$ 6,408 

Conrail acquired equipment and incurred related long-term debt 
under various c a p i t a l leases of $82 m i l l i o n i n 1996, $71 m i l l i o n 
i n 1995 and $8 m i l l i o n i n 1994. In 1995 (Note 10) and 1991, the 
Conpany recorded allowances f o r d i s p o s i t i o n f o r the sale or 
abandonment of c e r t a i n under-utilized r a i l l i n e s and other 
f a c i l i t i e s . 

Accrued and Other Current L i a b i l i t i e s 

Freight settlements due others 
Equipment rents (primarily car hire) 
Unearned f r e i g h t revenue 
Property and corporate taxes 
Other 

December 31, 

1996 1995 

(In Millions) 
$48 $ 54 

74 71 
79 S€ 
49 66 

194 247 

$444 $494 

90 
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Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt outstanding, including the weighted average 
interest rates at December 31, 1996, i s conposed of the 
following: 

December 31, 

1996 1995 
(In Millions) 

Capital leases $ 491 $ 489 
Medium-term notes payable. 

6.70%, due 1997 t o 1999 109 208 
Notes payable, 9.75%, due 2000 250 250 
Debentures payable, 7.88%, due 2043 250 250 
Debentures payable, 9.75%, due 2020 544 544 
Equipment and other obligations, 6. 55% 262 251 
Commercial paper, 5.53% 100 100 

2,006 2,092 
Less current p o r t i o n (130) (181 

$1,876 $1,911 

Using current market prices when available, or a valuation based 
on the y i e l d t o maturity of comparable debt instruments having 
sim i l a r c h a r a c t e r i s t i c s , c r e d i t r a t i n g and maturity, the t o t a l 
f a i r value of the Company's long-term debt, •'ncluding the current 
portion, but excluding c a p i t a l leases, i s $1,685 m i l l i o n and 
$1,870 m i l l i o n at December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively, 
con?>ared with carrying values of $1,515 m i l l i o n and $1,603 
m i l l i o n at December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively. 

The Conpany's noncancelable long-term leases generally include 
options to purchase at f a i r value and to extend the terms. 
Capital leases have been discounted at rates ranging from 3.09% 
to 14.26% and are c o l l a t e r a l i z e d by assets w i t h a net book value 
of $400 m i l l i o n at December 31, 1996. 

Minimum commitments, exclusive of executory costs bome by the 
Coiiqpauiy, are: 

Capital Opex'ating 
Leases Leases 

(In Millions) 
1997 $ 107 $115 
1998 96 104 
1999 86 87 
2000 64 76 
2001 57 68 
2002 - 2017 273 523 

Total 683 $973 

Less i n t e r e s t p o r t i o n (192) 
Present value $ 491 

X s s = s 
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Operating lease rent expense was $127 m i l l i o n i n 1996, $130 
m i l l i o n i n 1995 and $118 m i l l i o n i n 1994. 

In June 1993, the Company and CRC f i l e d a shelf r e g i s t r a t i o n 
statement on Form S-3 to enable CRC to issue up to $500 m i l l i o n i n 
debt s e c u r i t i e s or the Company to issue up to $500 m i l l i o n i n 
convertible debt and equity sec u r i t i e s . The remaining balance 
under t h i s shelf r e g i s t r a t i o n was $312 m i l l i o n at December 31, 
1996, 

In A p r i l 1996, CRC issued $50 m i l l i o n of Pass-Through 
C e r t i f i c a t e s at a rate of 6.96% to finance equipment. Although 
the c e r t i f i c a t e s are not d i r e c t obligations of, or guaranteed by 
CRC, amounts payable under related c a p i t a l leases w i l l be 
s u f f i c i e n t to pay p r i n c i p a l and i n t e r e s t on the c e r t i f i c a t e s 

I n July 1996, CRC issued $26 m i l l i o n of 1996 Equipment Trust 
C e r t i f i c a t e s , Series A, with i n t e r e s t rates ranging from 6.0% to 
7 48%, maturing annually from 1997 to 2011. The c e r t i f i c a t e s were 
used to finance approximately 85% of the purchase p r i c e of twenty 
locomotives. 

In June 1996, CRC borrowed $69 m i l l i o n against the cash surrender 
value of the company-owned l i f e insurance p o l i c i e s which i t 
maintains on ce r t a i n of i t s non-union employees. 

Equipment and other obligations mature i n 1997 through 2043 and 
are c o l l a t e r a l i z e d by assets with a net book value of $253 m i l l i o n 
at December 31, 1996. Maturities of long-term debt other than 
c a p i t a l leases and commercial paper are $65 m i l l i o n i n 1997, $46 
m i l l i o n i n 1998, $46 m i l l i o n i n 1999, $266 m i l l i o n i n 2000, $17 
m i l l i o n i n 2001 and $975 m i l l i o n i n t o t a l from 2002 through 2043. 

CRC had $199 m i l l i o n of commercial paper outstanding at December 
31, 1996. Of the t o t a l amount outstanding, $100 m i l l i o n i s 
c l a s s i f i e d as long-term since i t i s expected t o be refinanced 
through subseq^aent issuances of commercial paper and i s supported 
by the long-term c r e d i t f a c i l i t y mentioned below. 

CRC maintains a $500 m i l l i o n u n c o l l a t e r a l i z e d bank c r e d i t agree­
ment with a group of banks which i s used f o r general corporate 
purposes and to support CRC's commercial paper program. The 
acjreement matures i n 20C0 and requires i n t e r e s t t o be paid on 
amounts borrowed at rates based on various defined short-term 
rat«s and an annual maximum fee of .125% of the f a c i l i t y amounts. 
The agreement contains, among other conditions, r e s t r i c t i v e 
covenants r e l a t i n g to a debt r a t i o and consolidated tangible net 
worth. During 1996, CRC had no borrowings under t h i s agreement. 

Inte r e s t payments were $170 m i l l i o n i n 1996, $177 m i l l i o n i n 1995 
and $174 m i l l i o n i n 1994. 
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7. Income Taxes 

The provisions for income taxes are composed of the following: 

1996 1995 1994 
(In Millions) 

Current 
Federal $ 90 $ 78 $104 
State 10 15 ig 

100 93 120 
Deferred 

Federal 151 HQ 2̂5 
State 32 (2) 25 

_183 108 150 

Special income tax obligation 
Federal (80) (61) (53) 
State U4) (12) (9) 

_(94) __(73) J62) 
$189 $128 $208 
ssBZ BSKB mmmm 

In conjunction with the public sale in 1987 of the 85% of the 
Coirpany's common stock then owned by the U.S. Government, federal 
legislation was enacted which resulted in a reduction of the tax 
basis of certain of the Company's assets, particularly property 
and equipment, thereby substantially decreasing tax depreciation 
deductions and increasing future federal income tax payments. 
Also, net operating loss and investment tax credit carryforwards 
were canceled As a result of the sale-related transactions, a 
special income tax obligation was recorded in 1987 based on an 
estimated effective federal and state income tax rate of 37.0%. 

S As a result of a decrease in a state income tax rate enacted 
V during I9f'5, income tax expense for that year was reduced by $21 

million representing the effects of adjusting deferred income 
taxes and the special income tax obligation for the rate decrease 
as required by SFAS 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes", 

In November 1996, the Company reached a set :lement with the 
Internal Revenue Service related to the audit of the Conpany's 
consolidated federal income ta.K returns for the fiscal years 1990 
through 1992. The Company made a payment of $39 million pending 
resolution of the final interejst determination related to the 
settlement. Federal and state income tax payments were $145 
million in 1996 (excluding tax settlwment), $109 million in 1995 
and $80 million in 1994. 
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Reconciliations of the U.S. statutory tax rates with the 
effective tax rates are as follows: 

1996 1995 1994 
Statutory tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 
State income taxes. 

net of federal benefit 3.4 3.5 3,9 
Effect of state tax decrease 

on deferred taxes (5.3) 
Other (2.8) ( .5) .2 

Effective tax rate 35.6% 32.7% 39 .1% 
S S K S 

Significant components of the Conpany's special 
obligation and deferred income tax l i a b i l i t i e s 
as follows: 

income tax 
and (assets) are 

December 31, 

1996 1995 

Current assets (primarily accounts 
receivcible) 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s ( p r i m a r i l y accrued 
l i e U j i l i t i e s and casualty reserves) 

Tax benefits related t o d i s p o s i t i o n of 
subsidiary 

Net opeiating loss carryforwards 

(In Millions) 

$ (f) $ (27) 

(245) (265) 

(30) (30) 
(9) (11) 

Current deferred tax asset, net $ (293) $ (333) 
Noncurrent l i a b i l i t i e s : 
Property and equipment 
Other long-term assets ( p r i m a r i l y prepaid 
pension asset) 

Miscellaneous 

V ac s s c s 

1,939 

92 
98 

X K SE S X X 

1, 936 

67 
66 

2,129 2, 069 
Noncurrent assets: 
Nondeductible reserves and other 
l i a b i l i t i e s 

Tax benefit transfer receivable 
A l t e m a t i v e minimum tax cr e d i t s 
Miscellaneous 

(174) 
(36) 

(95) 

(144) 
(33) 
(38) 
(21) 

(305) (236, 
Special income tax obligation and 
deferred income tax l i a b i l i t i e s , net $1,824 

B B S S S S 

$1,833 
S S S S B B 
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8, &q>loyee Benefits 

Pension Plans 

The Company and ce r t a i n subsidiaries maintain defined benefit 
pension plans which are noncontributory f o r a l l non-union 
employees and generally contributory f o r p a r t i c i p a t i n g union 
employees. Benefits are based p r i m a r i l y on credited years of 
service and the l e v e l of compensation near retirement. Funding 
i s based on the minimum amount reqpiired by the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

Pension c r e d i t s include the fol l o w i n g components: 

1996 1995 1994 

(In Millions) 

Service cost - benefits eamed during the period $ 9 $ 8 $ 8 
Interest cost on projected benefit o b l i g a t i o n 51 51 48 
Return on plan assets - actual (138) (254) (10) 

- deferred 47 167 (77) 
Net amortization and deferral ..i!!'!^ .ilV .^IV 

The funded status of the pension plans and the amounts 
re f l e c t e d i n the balance sheets are as follows: 

55 

Accumulated benefit o b l i g a t i o n ($655 m i l l i o n 
and $603 m i l l i o n vested, respectively) 

Market value of plan assets 
Projected b e n e f i t o b l i g a t i o n 

Plan assets i n excess of projected 
benefit o b l i g a t i o n 

Unrecognized p r i o r service cost 
Unrecognized t r a n s i t i o n net asset 
Unrecognized net gain 

Net prepaid pension cost 

1996 1995 

(In Millions) 

$ 661 $ 609 

iri87 1, l i 8 
(734) (726) 

453 442 
36 50 
(90) (120) 

(231) (157) 

$ 168 $ 215 

The assumed weighted average discount rates used i n 1996 and 
1995 are 7.5% and 7,0%, respectively, and the rate of increase xn 
future conpensation levels used i n determining the a c t u a r i a l 
present value of the projected benefit o b l i g a t i o n as of 
December 31, 1996 and 1995 i s 6.0%. The expected long-term rate 
of return on plan assets ( p r i m a r i l y equity s e c u r i t i e s ) i n 1996 
and 1995 i s 9.0%. 
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Savings Plans 

The Company and certain subsidiaries provide 401(k) savings plans 
f o r union and non-union employees. Under the Non-union ESOP, 
100% of employee contribution5 are matched i n the form of ESOP 
Stock f o r the f i r s t 6% of a p a r t i c i p a t i n g employee's base pay. 
There i s no Company match provision under the union enployee 
plan. Savings plan expense was $4 m i l l i o n i n 1996 and 1995, and 
$5 m i l l i o n i n 1994. 

In connection wi t h the Non-union ESOP, the Conpany issued 
9,979,562 of the authorized 10 m i l l i o n shares of i t s ESOP Stock 
to the Non-union ESOP i n exchange f o r a 20 year promissory note 
with i n t e r e s t at 9.55% from the Non-union ESOP i n the p r i n c i p a l 
amount of $288 m i l l i o n . I n add i t i o n , uneamed ESOP conpensation 
of $288 m i l l i o n was recognized as a charge to stoc)cholders' 
equity coincident with the Non-union ESOP's issuance of i t s 
$288 m i l l i o n promissory note t o the Company. The debt of the 
Non-union ESOP was recorded by the Company and o f f s e t against the 
promissory note from the Non-union ESOP. Uneamed ESOP 
compensation i s charged t o expense as shares of ESOP Stock are 
allocated to pa r t i c i p a n t s . Approximately 2.7 m i l l i o n ESOP shares 
have been cumulatively allocated t o p a r t i c i p a n t s through December 
31, 1996, and a portion of these shares have been tendered to CSX 
(Note 2) . An amount equivalent to the preferred dividends 
declared on the ESOP Stock p a r t i a l l y o f f s e ts conpensation and 
int e r e s t expense related t o the Non-union ESOP. 

In 1994, the ESOP's promissory note t o the Conpany was 
refinanced. As part of the refinancing, the i n t e r e s t rate was 
decreased to 8.0%, from the o r i g i n a l 9,55%, and accrued in t e r e s t 
of $21 m i l l i o n was ca p i t a l i z e d as part of the p r i n c i p a l balance 
of the promissory note. 

The Company i s obligated t o make dividend payments at a rate of 
7,51% on the ESOP Stock and a d d i t i o n a l contributions i n an 
aggregate amount s u f f i c i e n t t o enable the Non-union ESOP to make 
the required i n t e r e s t and p r i n c i p a l payments on i t s note to the 
Company. 

Interest expense incurred by the Non-union ESOP on i t s debt to 
the Company was $24 m i l l i o n i n 1996 and 1995, and S30 m i l l i o n i n 
1994. Conpensation expense r e l a t e d t o the Non-union ESOP was $11 
m i l l i o n i n 1996, and $10 m i l l i o n i n 1995 and 1994. Preferred 
dividends of $20 m i l l i o n were declared i n 1996, and $21 m i l l i o n 
i n 1995 and 1994. Preferred dividend payments of $25 m i l l i o n , 
$21 m i l l i o n and $16 m i l l i o n were made i n 1996, 1995 and 1994, 
respectively. The Conpany received debt service payments from the 
Non-union ESOP of $40 m i l l i o n i n 1996, $31 m i l l i o n i n 1995 and 
$21 m i l l i o n i n 1994. 
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Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions 
The Company provides health and l i f e insurance benefits to 
certain retired non-union employees. Certain non-union employees 
are e l i g i b l e for retiree medical benefits, while substantially 
a l l non-union employees are eligible for retiree l i f e insurance 
benefits. Generally, com.pany-provided health care benefits 
terminate when individuals reach age 65. 

Retiree l i f e insurance plan assets consist of a retiree l i f e 
insurance reserve held i n the Company's group l i f e insurance 
policy. There are no plan assets for the retiree health benefits 
plan. 

The following sets for t h the plans' funded status reconciled with 
amounts reported i n the Company's balance sheets: 

1996 1995 
Life Life 

Medical Insurance Medical Insurance 
Plan Plan Plan Plan 

(In Millions) 
Accumu-^ated postretirement 
benefit obligation: 
Retirees $44 $20 $38 $19 
Fully e l i g i b l e active plan 
participants 1 5 1 

Other active plan participants 3 5 

Accumulated benefit obligation 45 23 43 25 
Market value of plan assets (10) (7) 

Accumulated benefit obligation 
in excess of plan assets 45 13 43 18 

Unrecognized gains and (losses) (1) 2 1 
Accrued benefit cost recognized 
i n the Consolidated Balance — — ---
Sheet $44 $15 £44 $17 

Net periodic postretirement 
benefit cost, primarily 
interest cost $̂ 3 $^1 |̂ 4 $_^l 

An 8 percent rate of increase i n per capita costs of covered 
health care benefits was assumed for 1997, gradually decreasing 
to 6 percent by the year 2007. Increasing the assumed health 
care cost trend rates by one percentage point i n each year would 
increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of 
December 31, 1996 by $2 mi l l i o n ard would have an immaterial 
effect on the net periodic pcstretirement benefit cost for 1996. 
Discount rates of 7.5% and 7.0% were used to determine the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligations for both the 
medical and l i f e insurance plans in 1996 and 1995, respectively. 

The assumed rate of compensation increase was 6.0% i n 1596 and 
5.0% i n 1995. 
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Retiree medical benefits are funded by a combination of Company and 
retiree contributions. Retiree l i f e insurance benefits are 
provided by insurance companies whose premiums are based on claims 
paid during the year. 

Capital Stock 
Preferred Stock 
The Conpany is authorized to issue 25 mi l l i o n shares of 
preferred stock with no par value. The Board of Directors has 
the authority to divide the preferred stock into series and to 
determine the rights and preferences of each. 

The Conpany cannot pay dividends on i t s common stock unlesf f u l l 
cumulative dividends have been paid on i t s ESOP Stock, and no 
distributions can be made to the holders of common stock '.pon 
liquidation or dissolution of the Company unless the holaers of 
the ESOP Stock have received a cash liquidation payment of 
$28.84''75 per share, plus unpaid dividends up to the date of 
such payment. The ESOP Stock is convertiLie into an equivaleiit 
number of shares of common stock based on their respective 
market values at the date of conversion. The ESOP Stock is 
entitled to one vote per share, voting together as a single 
class with common stock on a l l matters. 

As a result of the CSX tender offer related to the proposed 
merger (Note 2), 2.2 mill i o n shares of ESOP Stock have been 
converted to common shares as a result of being removed from 
the Non-union ESOP 401(k) savings plan. 

Enployee Benefits Trust 
In -.995, the Conpany issued approximately 4.7 mill i o n shares of 
i t s common stock to the Conrail Employee Benefits Trust (the 
"Trust") i n exchange for a promissory note of $250 mi l l i o n at an 
interest rate of 6.9%. The Trust i s being used to fund certain 
employee benefits and other forms of conpensation over i t s 
fifteen-year term. The amount representing unearned employee 
benefits is recorded as a deduction from stoc)cholders' equity 
and is reduced as benefits and compensation are paid through the 
release of shares from the Trust. The shares owned by the Trust 
are valued at the closing market price as of the end of each 
reporting period, with corresponding changes in the balance of 
the Trust reflected i n additional paid-in capital. The Trust 
has sold shares of Conrail common stock i n connection with the 
CSX and Norfolk tender offers (Note 2) and has used the proceeds 
to repurchase shares of Conrail common stock i n the open market. 
Shares held by the Trust are not considered outstanding for 
eamings per share conputations u n t i l released by the Trust, but 
do have voting and dividend rights. 

Common Stock Repurchase Program 
In April 1995, the Board of Directors approved a $250 .million 
multi-year stock repurchase program. During 1996, the Company 
acquired 2,225,738 shares for approximately $156 mi l l i o n under 
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this program. At December 31, 1996, approximately $93 m i l l i o n 
remained available from this authorization,- however as a result 
of the proposed merger with CSX Corporation (Note 2), the 
Conpany w i l l not make any additional stock repurchases under 
this program. 

The a c t i v i t y and status of treasury stock follow: 

1996 1995 1994 
Shares, beginning of year 3,297,717 1,789,164 83,745 
Acquired 2,225,738 1,508,553 1,705,419 

Shares, end of year 5,523,455 3,297,717 1,789,164 

Stock Plans 
The Conpany's stock-based compensation plans as of December 31, 
1996 are described below. The Company applies APB 25 and 
related interpretations i n accounting for i t s plans. 
Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for i t s 
fixed stock option plans. SFAS 123 was issued i n 1995 and, i f 
f u l l y adopted, would change the method of recognition of costs 
on plans similar to those of the Company. Adoption of SFAS 123 
is optional; however, the required pro forma disclosures as i f 
the Conpany had adopted the cost recognition requirements under 
SFAS 123 i n 1596 and 1995 are presented below. 

The Company's 1987 and 1991 Long-Term Incentive Plans authorize 
the granting to officers and key employees of up to 4 million 
and 6.6 m i l l i o n shares of common stock, respectively, through 
stock options, stock appreciation rights, phantom ctock and 
awards of restricted or performance shares. A stork option is 
exercisable for a specified term commencing after grant at a 
price not less than the f a i r market value of the stock on the 
date of grant. The vesting of awards made pursuant to these 
plans i s contingent upon one or more of the following: continued 
employment, passage of time or financial and other performance 
goals. 

Effective November 1996, the Company's Board of Directors 
authorized the automatic vesting of a l l unvested stock options 
outstanding i n connection with the Merger Agreement between CSX 
and the Company {Vote 2) . 
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The a c t i v i t y and status of 
plans follow: 

stock options under the incentive 

Non-qualified Stock Options 

Availc±ile for future grants 
December 31, 1995 
December 31, 1996 

Option P r i c e Shares 
Per Share Under Option 

Balance, January 1, 1994 $14 000 - $60,500 1,966,321 
Granted $52 188 - $66,938 23,988 
Exercised $14 000 - $51,375 (507,450) 
Canceled $42 625 - $60,500 (118,904) 

Balance, December 31, 1994 $14 000 - $66,938 1,363,955 
Granted $50 688 - $68,563 516,757 
Exercised $14 000 - $53,875 (200,940) 
Canceled $42 625 - $53,875 (123,560) 

Balance, December 31, 1995 $14 000 - $68,563 1,556,212 
Granted $68 .563 - $96,063 551,038 
Exercised $14 .000 - $73,250 (1,268,085) 
Canceled $42 .625 - $70,031 (3,984) 

Balance, December 31, 1996 $14 000 - $96,063 835,181 

Exercise±)le, 
December 31, 1996 $14 000 - $74,188 831.481 

1,188,193 
: S B B B S S S S = 

3,969,317 

The weighted average exercise prices of options granted during 1996 
and 1995 are $70,130 per share and $51,204 per share, respectively. 
The weighted average exercise prices cf options exercised during 
1996 and 1995 are $48.32 per share and $31.16 per share, 
respectively. The average remaining maucimum terms of options is 
not considered meaningful given the events that have occurred as a 
result of che proposed merger with CSX (Note 2). 

The f a i r value of each option granted during 1996 i s estimated on 
the date.' of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with 
the following weighted average assumptions: (1) dividend y i e l d of 
2.43%, '2) expected v o l a t i l i t y of 25,25%, (3) risk-free interest 
rate of 5.51%, and (4) expected l i f e of 4 years. The weighted 
average f a i r value of options granted during 1996 and 1995 is 
$16,00 per share and $13.12 per share, respectively. 

Had the conpensation cost for the Conpany's 1996 and 1995 grants 
for stock-based conpensation plans been determined consistent with 
SFAS 123, the Company's net income, primary earnings per share and 
f u l l y diluted earnings per share for 1996 and 1995 would 
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approximate the pro forma amounts below ($ i n millions except per 
share data): 

1996 1995 
Net income as reported $ 342 $ 264 
Net income pro forma 335 262 

Primary eamings per share $4.25 $3.19 
Primary eamings per share pro forma 4.16 3.16 

Fully diluted eamings per share $3.89 $2.94 
Fully diluted eamings per share pro forma 3.81 2.92 

The Company has granted phantom shares and restricted stock 
under i t s non-union employee bonus plans to e l i g i b l e enployees 
who elect to defer a l l or a portion of their annual bonus i n a 
given year. The number of shares granted depends on the length 
of the deferral period. Grants are made at the market price of 
the Company's common stock at the date of grant. The Company has 
granted 148,749 shares and 337,329 shares of phantom and 
restricted stock, respectively, under i t s non-union employee 
bonus plans through December 31, 1996. The Conpany has also 
granted 73,344 performance shares under i t s 1991 Long-Term 
Incentive Plan through December 31, 1996. Conpensation expense 
related to these plans was $2 mill i o n i n 1996 and $3 million i n 
1995. The weighted-average f a i r value for the phantom shares 
and restricted stock granted during 1996 and 1995 was $68.02 per 
share and $52.88 per share, respectively. 

Stock Rights 
In 1989, the Company declared a dividend of c.ne common share 
purchase right (the "Right") on each outstanding share of common 
stock. The Rights are not exercisable or transferable apart from 
the common stock u n t i l the occurrence of certain events arising 
out of an actual or potential acquisition of 10% or more of the 
Company's common stock, and would at such time provide the holder 
with certain additional entitlements. However, under the terms 
of the Merger Agreement (Note 2) the CSX tender offer does not 
constitute an event that would result i n the Rights becoming 
exercisable. In 1995. a dividend of one Right for each share of 
ESOP Stock was declared and paid. The exercise price of the 
Rights i s $205. Tlie Rights may be redeemed by the Conpany prior 
to becoming exerciseible at one-half cent ($,005) per Right and 
have no voting or dividend rights. 
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10. Asset Disposition Charge 
Included i n 1995 operating expenses i s an asset d i s p o s i t i o n 
charge of $285 m i l l i o n , which reduced net income by $176 
m i l l i o n . The asset disposition charge resulted from a review of 
the Company's route system and other operating assets to 
determine those that no longer e f f e c t i v e l y and economically 
supported current and expected operations. The Company 
i d e n t i f i e d and has committed to s e l l 1,800 miles of r a i l lines 
that are expected to provide proceeds s u b s t a n t i a l l y less than 
net book value. In addition, other assets, p r i n c i p a l l y yards 
and s.ide tracks, i d e n t i f i e d f or d i s p o s i t i o n were w r i t t e n down to 
estimated net realizable value (See Note 1 "Asset Impairment"). 

11. 1994 Early Retirement Program 

During 1994, the Conpany recorded a charge of $84 m i l l i o n , which 
reduced net income by $51 m i l l i o n , f o r a non-anion employee 
voluntary early retirement program and r e l a t e d costs. The 
majority of the cost of the early retirement program i s being 
paid from the Company's overfunded pension plan, 

12. Other Income, Net 

Interest income 
Rental income 
Property sales 
Other, net 

1996 1995 1994 

(In Millions) 
$ 29 $ 33 $ 34 

50 57 53 
23 27 18 
10 13 13 

$112 $130 $118 

13 . Commitments and Contingencies 

Environmental 

The Company i s subject to various federal, s tate and l o c a l laws 
and regulations regarding environmental matters. CRC i s a party 
to various proceedings brought by both regulatory agencies and 
private parties under federal, state and l o c a l laws, including 
Superfund laws, and ha? also received i n q u i r i e s from govern­
mental agencies with respect to other p o t e n t i a l environmental 
issues. At December 31, 1996, CRC has received, together with 
other companies, notices of i t s involvement as a p o t e n t i a l l y 
responsible party or requests f o r information under the Superfund 
laws with respect to cleanup and/or removal costs due to i t s 
status as an alleged transporter, generator or property owner at 
135 locations. However, based on c u r r e n t l y available 
information, the Conp̂ any believes CRC may have some potential 
r e s p o n s i b i l i t y at only 61 of these s i t e s . Due t o the number i f 
oarties involved at many of these s i t e s , the wide range of costs 
of possible remediation a l t e r n a t i v e s , the changing technology and 
the length of time over which these matters develop, i t i s often 
not possible to estimate CRC's l i a b i l i t y f o r the costs associated 
with the assessment and remediation of contaminated s i t e s . 
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Although the Company's operating r e s u l t s and l i q u i d i t y could be 
s i g n i f i c a n t l y affected i n any quarterly or annual reporting 
period i f CRC were held p r i n c i p a l l y l i a b l e i n certain of these 
actions, at December 31, 1996, the Company had accrued $55 
m i l l i o n , an amount i t believes i s s u f f i c i e n t to cover the 
probable l i a b i l i t y and remediation costs that w i l l be incurred at 
Superfund s i t e s and other sites based on )cnown information and 
using various estimating techniques. The Company believes the 
ultimate l i a b i l i t y f o r these matters w i l l not ma t e r i a l l y a f f e c t 
i t s consolidated f i n a n c i a l condition. 

The Company spent $11 m i l l i o n i n 1996, $14 m i l l i o n i n 1995 and 
$8 m i l l i o n i n 1994 f o r environmental remediation and rel a t e d 
costs and an t i c i p a t e s spending an amount comparad^le to that 
spent i n 1996 during 1997. In addition, the Company's c a p i t a l 
expenditures f o r environmental control and abatement projects 
were approximately $6 m i l l i o n i n 1996 and 1995, and $5 m i l l i o n 
i n 1994, and ars anticipa t e d to be approximately $10 m i l l i o n i n 
1997. 

The Environmental Quality Department i s charged w i t h promoting 
the Company's compliance with laws and regulations a f f e c t i n g 
the environment and i n s t i t u t i n g environmentally sound operating 
practices. The department monitors the status of the s i t e s 
where the Company i s alleged to have l i a b i l i t y and continually 
reviews the information available and assesses the adequacy of 
the recorded l i a b i l i t y . 

Other 

The Company i s involved i n various lega l actions, p r i n c i p a l l y 
r e l a t i n g to occupational health claims, personal i n j u r i e s , 
casualties, property damage and damage to lading. The Company 
has recorded l i a b i l i t i e s on i t s balance sheet for amounts 
s u f f i c i e n t t o cover the expected payments f o r such actions. 

The Company may be contingently l i a b l e f o r approximately $63 
m i l l i o n at December 31, 1996 under indemnification provisions 
re l a t e d t o sales of tax benefits. 

CRC had an average of 20,761 enployees i n 1996, approximately 
87% of whom are represented by 14 d i f f e r e n t labor organizations 
and are covered by 22 separate c o l l e c t i v e bargaining agreements. 
The Conpany was engaged i n c o l l e c t i v e bargaining at December 31, 
1996 w i t h labor organizations representing approximately 22% of 
i t s labor force. 

In 1994, Locomotive Management Services, a general partnership 
of which CRC holds a f i f t y percent i n t e r e s t , issued $96 m i l l i o n 
of Equipment Trust C e r t i f i c a t e s to fund the purchase p r i c e of 60 
new locomotives. While p r i n c i p a l and i n t e r e s t payments on 
c e r t i f i c a t e s w i l l be f u l l y guaranteed by CRC, through a sharing 
agreement w i t h i t s partner, CRC's po r t i o n of the guarantee i s 
reduced t o approximately $48 m i l l i o n , e f f e c t i v e January 1, 1997, 
with the Company's purchase of twenty of the locomotives. 
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CRC has received three adverse jur>- verdicts related to railroad 
crossing accidents i n Ohio that include significant punitive 
damage awards that collectively approximate $30 mi l l i o n . CRC 
believes the punitive damage awards i n those cases are improper 
and that i t has meritorious defenses, which i t plans to pursue on 
appeal. The Company is not presently sible to reasonably estimate 
the ultimate outcome of these cases, and accordingly, no expense 
for such awards has been recorded as of December 31, 1996. 

As part of the Merger Agreement (Note 2), the Company may be a 
party to certain stock purchase options or, under certain 
circumstances, be required to pay substantial termination fees. 

14. Condensed Quarterly Data (Unaudited) 

First Second Third Fourth 

1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 

(S In Millions Except Per Share) 

Revenues St89 $889 S949 S923 S933 S923 S943 $951 
Income (loss) from operations 69 114 54 180 235 208 243 (46) 
Net income floss) 31 55 26 123 138 116 147 (30) 
Net income floss) per common share 

Primar> M ,66 .30 1.52 1.74 1 44 1,86 (.43) 
Full}' diluted .35 .61 .29 1.37 1.58 1.31 1.70 (.43) 

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 1.75X 2.39x 1.57X 3.42x 4.771 402x 4.91] 
Dividends per common share .425 .375 ,425 .375 .475 .425 .475 .425 
Market pnces per common share 

(Ntr* York Stock Exchange) 
High 77 1/4 57 5/8 73 1/4 56 1/4 74 5/8 70 1/4 ICQ 7/8 74 3/8 
Low 67 5/8 50 1/2 66 1/4 5: 1/8 63 3/4 55 1/8 68 1/2 65 1/2 

During the second quarter of 1996, the Company recorded a one­
time charge of $135 m i l l i o n for the non-union employee voluntary 
early retirement and separation programs and related costs, which 
reduced net income by $83 m i l l i o n (Note 3!. Without uhis rharge, 
net income would have been $109 m i l l i o n for the quarter ($1.37 
and $1.25 per share, primary and f u l l y diluted, respectively). 

As a result of a decrease i n a state income tax rate enacted 
dur.ing the second quarter of 1995, income tax expense was reduced 
by $21 mil l i o n representing the effects of adjusting deferred 
income taxes and the special income tax obligation for the rate 
decrease as required under SFAS 109 (Note 7). Without this one­
time tax benefit, the Company's net income for the quarter would 
have been $102 million ($1.25 and $1.14 per share, primary and 
f u l l y diluted, respectively). During the fourth quarter of 1995, 
an asset disposition charge reduced income from operations by 
$285 m i l l i o n and adversely affected the quarter's net income by 
$176 m i l l i o n (Note 10). Without the asset disposition charge, 
net income would have been $146 m i l l i o n ($1.82 and $1.65 per 
share, primary and f u l l y diluted, respectively) for the fourth 
q^iarter of 1995. After the asset disposition charge, earnings 
were insufficient by $58 m i l l i o n to cover fixed charges for the 
quarter. 
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Item 9. Changes i n and Disagreements with Accountants 
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 
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PART I I I 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant. 

The information regarding executive officers called for by 
Item 401 of Regulation S-K is included i n Part I under 
"Executive Officers of the Registrant." 

CLASS I DIRECTORS - TERM EXPIRING 1^97: 

Name, Business Experience Prior Service As 
and Other Directorships Conrail Director 

H. Furlong Baldwin Since 1988 
Chairman and Chief Executive O f f i c e r of 
Mercantile Banlcshares Corporation since 
p r i o r to January 1991. Director, 
Mercantile Bankshares Corporation, 
Baltimore Gas & E l e c t r i c Company, GRC 
Int e r n a t i o n a l , Inc, and USF&G Corporation, 
Age 65. 

David M. LcVan Since 1994 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Conrail since May 1996. 
Served as President and Chief Executive 
o f f i c e r between March 1995 and May 1996. 
President and Chief Operating O f f i c e r of 
Conrail between September 1994 and March 
1995. Executive Vice President between 
November 1993 and September 1994, Senior 
Vice President - Operations between July 
1992 and November 1993, Senior Vice 
President - Operating Systems and 
strategies between November 1991 and June 
1992. Age 51. 

Call J. McGovarn Since 1996 
Executive Vice President, Consumer Mar)cets 
of ATiT since January 1997, Executive 
Vice President, Business Markets of ATiT 
between November 1995 and January 1997, 
Vice President, Business Services of ATiT 
between A p r i l 1994 and November 1995. 
Vice President, Strategy of ATiT between 
August 1993 and A p r i l 1994, Vice 
President, 800 Service of ATiT between 
January 1992 and August 1993. Age 45. 
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Name, Business Experience 
and Other Directorships 

David B. Swanson 
President ana Chief Executive O f f i c e r of 
Countrymark Cooperative, I n c , a farm 
supply and marketing cooperative, since 
December 1995. Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Off i c e r of Explorer 
N u t r i t i o n a l Group, an animal n u t r i t i o n 
company, and Chainnan of Premiere A g r i -
Technclogies, Inc., an i n t e r n a t i o n a l 
a g r i c u l t u r a l business, between January 
1995 and December 1995, Chief Executive 
Offi c e r of Premiere Agri-Technologies, 
Inc. between January 1994 and January 
1995, Chairman, President and Chief 
Executive O f f i c e r of Central Soya Company, 
Inc. between 1986 and January 1994. 
Director, Fiduciary Trust I n t e r n a t i o n a l . 
Age 54. 

CIASS I-J DIRECTORS - TERM EXPIRING 199B: 
KathiMn Fol«y Faldstain 
President of Economics Studies, Inc., a 
pr i v a t e consulting f i r m , since p r i o r t o 
January 1, 1991. Director, Bank America 
Corpor?tion, D i g i t a l Equipment Corporation 
and John Hancock Mutual L i f e Insurance 
Conpany. Age 56. 

David B, Lewis 
Chairman of Lewis, Clay i Munday, P.C, a 
law f i r m , since p r i o r t o January 1991. 
Director, LGiE Energy Corp,, Comerica 
Bank, and TRW, Inc, Lewis, Clay i Munday 
provided l e g a l services t o Conrail i n 
1996. Age 52. 

John C. Marous 
Retir'.;d i n July 1990 from Westinghouse 
E l e r c r i c Corporation where he held the 
po s i t i o n of Chairman and Chief Executive 
O f f i c e r between January 1988 and July 
19S>0. Director, Mellon Bank, N.A. Age 
71. 

Raymond T. Schuler 
Retired i n September 1990 from the 
Business Council ct New York State, Inc., 
where he held the positions of Vice 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive 
O f f i c e r . Director, Oneida, Ltd., Northeast 
Savings and NAMICVSA. Age 67, 

Pr i o r Service As 
Conrail Director 

Since 1989 

Since 1993 

Since 1989 

Since 1991 

Since 1981 
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CLASS III DIRfrCTOJ?S - TERM EXPIRING 1999: 
Name, Business Experience Prior Service As 

and Other Directorships Conrail Director 

Claud* S. Brinegar Since 1990 
Vice Chainnan of Unocal Corp., a high 
technology earth resources company, fr.m 
August 1989 to June 1995, Retired from 
Unocal Corp. i n May 1992, where he held 
the p o s i t i o n of Executive Vice President -
Administration and Planning, since 1989, 
Director, Maxicare Health Plans, Inc., and 
a v i s i t i n g scholar at Stanford University. 
Age 70. 

Daniel B, Burke 1981 to 198 6 and 
Chairman and Owner, Portland, Maine since 1987 
Baseball Inc., 1994 to present. Retired i n 
February 1994 from Capital Cities/ABC, 
Inc. where he held the p o s i t i o n s of 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
since June 1990, Director, Capital 
Cities/ABC, Inc., Rohm and Haas Co., Avon 
Products, I n c , Morgan Stanley Group 
Incorporated and Darden Restaurants. Age 
68. 

Roger S, B i l l a s Since 1981 
Retired i n January 1993 from Meritor 
Savings Bank where he held the positions 
of Chaiman and Chief Executive Officer 
between July 1988 and December 1992. 
Director, P.H. G l a t f e l t e r Company, T o l l 
Bros,, Inc., The Bon-Ton Stores, Inc, and 
VF Corporation. Age 69, 

E. Bradley Jones Since 1987 
Retired i n December 1984 from LTV Steel 
Company where he held the positions of 
Chairman and Chief Executive O f f i c e r and 
Group Vice President of LTV Corporation. 
Director, TRW, I n c , Cleveland-Cliffs, 
Inc., Birmingham Steel Corporation and 
RPM, I n c ; Trustee, F i r s t Union Real 
Estate Equity and Mortgage Investments and 
Trustee, F i d e l i t y Group ot Funds, Age 69, 
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Item 11. Executive Compensation. 

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

Direc to r s ' Compensation. Directors who are not o f f i c e r s of 
Conrail receive an annual fee of $25,000 and a fee of $1,000 for each 
Board and Board committee meeting they attend. Each such d i r e c t o r who 
is a chairman of a Board Committee receives an additional annual fee 
of $2, 000, except the chairman of the Audit Committt-e who receives an 
additional annual fee of $2,500. Directors who are o f f i c e r s of Conrail 
are not paid any fees f o r service on the Board or on any Board 
Committees. 

Conrail maintains a Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors 
that provides each d i r e c t o r who i s not an employee or former employee 
of Conrail with a retirement benefit equal to the product of 
(1) one-twelfth of his or her annual r e t a i n e r fee from. Conrail i n 
effect at the time the di r e c t o r ceases to serve as a member of the 
Board and (2) the number of f u l l months, up to 120, he or she served 
on the Board, including service on the Board of Consolidcced Rail 
Corporation p r i o r to July 1, 1993. 

Benefits are payable i n cash, from Conrail's general assets, i n 
equal monthly installments over the ten-year period beginning with the 
month following the l a t e r of (1) the month i n which the dir e c t o r 
ceases to serve on the Eoard or (2) the month i n which the di r e c t o r 
attains age 65. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (1) the benefits of 
directors who cease to serve on the Board on account of d i s a b i l i t y 
commence with the month following the month i n which the director 
ceases to serve on the Board, and (2) a f t e r a director's death, his or 
her benefits s h a l l be paid to the d i r e c t o r ' s designated beneficiary, 
or i n the absence of a w r i t t e n designation, to the director's estate, 
i n a lump sum, as soon as practicable f o l l o w i n g the director's death. 

Benefits are f o r f e i t e d i n the event the dire c t o r , before he or 
she attains age 65, i s removed from the Board f o r cause or v o l u n t a r i l y 
resigns from the Board, unless the resignation i s approved by the 
Board on account of a c o n f l i c t between the int e r e s t s of the director 
and the i n t e r e s t s of Conrail. 

Conrail also maintains a Board of Directors Charitable 
Contributions Program pursuant to which Conrail has purchased l i f e 
insurance p o l i c i e s of $1 m i l l i o n on the l i f e of each d i r e c t o r . Upon 
the death of an i n d i v i d u a l d i r e c t o r , Conrail w i l l donate $1 m i l l i o n i n 
fiv e annual installments of $200,000 each to one or more q u a l i f y i n g 
educational or charitable organizations designated by the di r e c t o r , 
and w i l l be reimbursed by the l i f e insurance proceeds. In d i v i d u a l 
directors derive no f i n a n c i a l benefit from the program; a l l charitable 
deductions accrue solely to Conrail. In 1996, a donation of $200,000 
was made under the program on behalf of the l a t e Ann F. Friedlaender. 
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Compensation o f Execu t ive O f f i c e r s . The f o l l o w i n g t a b l e provides 
certain summary information concerning compensation awarded to, earned 
by or paid i n 1996 to Conrail's Chairman, President and Chief 
Executivp O f f i c e r , David M. LeVan, and each of the four other most 
highly compensated executive o f f i c e r s of Conrail (determined as of the 
end of the l a s t f i s c a l year (December 31, 1996) and hereafter referred 
to as the "named executive o f f i c e r s " ) for a l l services rendered i n a l l 
capacities to Conrail and i t s subsidiaries during the f i s c a l years 
ended December 31, 1994, 1995 and 1996. 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 

Annual Compensation 
Long-Term Compensation 

Awarcjs 

(a) 0») (c) (d) (0 (g) (0 

Nane and 
Principal 
Position Year 

Salary 

(S) 
Bonus 
(S) 

Restricted 
Stock 
Awa rd(s) 

($) 

Securities 
Underlying 
Options/SARS 

(#> 

A l l Other 
Compensation 

;$)(1) 

D. M. LeVan 1995 594,522 
Chainnan, President J995 514 519 
( CEO ' 

0 

24,759 

0(2) 
509,976(3) 

33,000 
30,746 

9,000 
9.000 

R, J. Conway 
Sr. Vice President-
Operations 

1996 
1995 
1994 

257,031 
223,889 
166,940 

0 
101,367 
88.023 

0(2) 
27,425 (3) 

0 

9,000 
9,000 

9,000 
9,000 
9.000 

B, B. Wilson 
Sr. Vice President-
Merger 

1996 
1995 
1994 

251,840 
253,026 
245,040 

0 
114,792 
122,500 

0(2) 
27,425 (3) 

0 

9,000 
9,000 

9,000 
0,000 
9.000 

J . P . Sammon 
Sr. Vice President-
CORE Service Group 

1996 
1995 
1994 

217,720 
198,334 
135,187 

0 
90,104 
54.207 

0(2) 
27,425(3) 

0 

9,000 
9,000 

9,000 
9,000 
9,000 

T.P, Dwyer 
Sr. Vice President-
Unit Tram Service 
Gr-̂ up 

1996 
1995 
1994 

197,819 
198,882 
150,446 

0 
33,736 
65,178 

0(2) 
l'̂ 6,340(3) 

0 

9,000 
9,000 

9,000 
9,000 
9.000 

(1) These amounts represent Conrail's matching contribution i n the form of Conrail 
Preferred Stocic of amounts deferred by the named executive o f f i c e r s through a 
401 ()c) plan during 1996, 1995 and 1994. The shares are allocated based on the 
per share p r i c e set at the time the shares were purchased by the plan. 

(2) As of December 31, 1996, Messrs. LeVan, Conway, Wilson, Sammon and Dwyer 
held, respectively, 15,273, 2,061. 1,230, 0 and 2,212 r e s t r i c t e d shares of 
Conrail Common Stock worth §940,411, $146,513, $122,539, SO and S124,473, 
respectively, net of the payments which such o f f i c e r s would have been e n t i t l e d 
t o receive absent t h e i r elections to take r e s t r i c t e d shares instead of cash 
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bonuses. Valuation i s based on the closing price of Conrail Common Stock on 
December 31, 1996 ($99,625). 

(3) This figure represents the following: ( i ) f u l l market value as of the January 
31, 1996 grant date of r e s t r i c t e d shares of Conrail Common Stock awarded to 
the named executive o f f i c e r as a r e s u l t of a 1995 bonus d e f e r r a l , and i s 
conposed of the amount of the 1995 bonus which such o f f i c e r elected to defer 
($277,546 and $56,368 for Messrs. LeVan and Dwy;r, respectively) plus a 
matching contribution by Conrail i n the amount of 50%; and ( l i ) the value of 
shares of Ccnrail Common Stock awarded on January 22, 1996 i n settlement of 
performance shares granted on January 1, 1995 based on Conrail's having met 
certain predetermined f i n a n c i a l perfonnance goals (computed at a f a i r market 
value of $68.5625). The number of shares of r e s t r i c t e d stock was determined 
by the f a i r market value of Conrail Common Stock on January 31. 1996 
($70.3125). Dividends are paid on a l l r e s t r i c t e d shares. 
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The following table contaJ.ns information concerning the grant of stock 
options made to the named executive officers during the fiscal year 
ended Derember 31, 1996. 

Option/SAR Grants in Last Fiscal Year 

ladividual Grant Grant Date 
VaJue 

<s) rb. rc) 

Number of */• of Total 
Securities Opiious/SARs 
Underiying Granted to Exercise or Grant Date 
Options/SARs Employees in Base Price Present Value 

Name Granted (#) Fiscal Year (S/sh) Expiration Date (i) (2) 

D. M LeVan 33,000(1) 6.9% S70.0313 January 1, 2000 521,730 

R.J. Conwa>' 9,000(1) 1.9% $70.0313 January 1, :.006 142.290 

B E Wilson 9,000(1) 1.9% S70,0313 January 1, 2006 142,290 

J.P. Sammon 9.000(1) 1.9% S70.0313 January 1, 2006 142,290 

TP. Dû -er 9,000(1) 1.9% $70.0313 January 1,2006 142.290 

(1) Exerciseable as of November, 1996. 

(2) Based on modified Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model assuming a four year term 
and that dividends are confounded quarterly and r i s k - f r e e rates are compounded 
continuously over the expected option .erm. Dividend y i e l d for the options i s 
2.43%, and the r i s k free r a t e of return i s 5.3'%, using d a i l y v o l a t i l i t y rates 
of 25,30%, 
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The following table provides information concerning the exercise 
of stock options during the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, by 
each of the named executive officers and the value of unexercised 
stock options held by each such officer as of December 31, 1996, 

Aggregated Option/'SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year 
and Fiscal Year-End Option/SAR Values 

(«) (e) (d) 
Number of 
Securities 
Underlying 
Unexercised 
Options/SARs 
at FY-End (#) 

(t) 

Value of 
Unexercised 
In>the-Money 
Options.'SARs 
at FY-End (S) 

Shares Acquired Exercisable/ Exercisable/ 
Name On Exercise (#) Value Realized (S) Unexercisable Unexercisabled) 

D M LeVan 0 0 E 98,896 E 4,357,479 
U 0 U 0 

R J Conway 0 0 E 27,375 E 1,242,867 
U 0 U 0 

B B Wilson 65,716 3,654,824 E 0 E 0 
U 0 U 0 

J.P. Sammon 17,375 562,867 E 18,125 E 739,226 
U 0 U 0 

T P Dwyer 30,500 1,314,437 E 0 E 0 
U 0 U 0 

(1) This va lua t ion i s based on the f a i r market value of Conrai l Common Stock on 
December 31, 1996 ($99.6875). 
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Long-Term Incentive Plans —Award:; 'n Last Fiscal Year 

(«) (b) (c) 

Estimated Future Payouts 
under Non-Stock Price-Based Plans 
(d) (e) (0 

£!am£ 

Number of 
Shares, Units 
or Other 
Riehts (#Un 

Performance 
or Other 
Period Until 
Maturation 

Threshold (M) T r̂gft (#) Maximum(#) 

D M UVan 4,400 January 1999 3,960 4,400 4,400 

R J. Conway 1,200 January 1999 1,080 1,200 1,200 

B. B Wilson 1,200 January 1999 1,080 1,200 1,200 

J.P. Sammon 1,200 January 1999 1,080 1,200 1,200 

T.P. Dwyer UOO January 1999 1,080 1,200 1.200 

(1) Represents performance shares granted the named executive o f f i c e r s i n 
1996. Shares w i l l vest proportionately i . i January 1999 i f Conrail has 
met 90% or more of a three-year, cumulative cash flow goal. 
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Pension Plan Table and Related Disclosure 

The following table shows estimated annual retirement benefits 
payable under the Supplemental Pension Plan of Consolidated Rail 
Corporation. 

Years of Service 

Remuneration 15VR5 ?5Y?l$ 30YRS 35YRS 
$ 125,000 S 20,928 $ 27,905 S 34,881 $41,857 $48,833 

150,000 26,178 34,905 43,631 52,357 61,083 
175,000 31,428 41,905 52,381 62,857 73,333 
700,000 36,678 48,905 61,131 73,357 85,583 
225,000 41,928 55,905 69,881 83,857 97,833 
250,000 47,178 62,905 78,631 94,357 110,083 
300,000 57.678 76,905 96,131 115,357 134,583 
400,000 78,678 104,905 131,631 157,357 183.583 
450,000 89,178 118,905 148,631 178,357 208,083 
500,000 99,678 132,905 166,131 199,357 232,583 
600,000 120,678 160,905 201,131 241,357 281,583 
700,000 141,678 188,905 2''6,131 283,357 330,583 
750,000 152,178 202,905 253,6.̂ 1 304,357 355,083 

1,250,000 257,178 342,905 428,631 514,357 600,083 
1,500.000 309,678 412,905 516,131 619,357 722,583 

Messrs. LeVan, Conway, Wilson, Sammon and Dwyer have 18, 27, 17, 
17 and 24 years of credited service, respectively. Compensation 
covered by the Pension Plan consists of an employee's wages for 
federal income tax purposes (see column (c) to the Summary 
Compensation Table plus any bonus paid i n 1996; column (d) r e f l e c t s 
bonuses earned i n the stated year, but not paid i n such year), 
excluding reimbursements, fringe benefits, gains from the exercise of 
employee stock options, and contributions to deferred compensation 
plans other than employee deferrals under Conrail's Matched Savings 
Plan. In 1996, the covered compensation of Messrs. LeVan, Conway, 
Wilson, Sammon and Dwyer was $625,826, $260,636, $308,554, $210,455, 
and $233,707, respectively. The table above shows estimated annual 
retirement benefits, a f t e r application of the Pension Plan's r a i l r o a d 
retirement o f f s e t , payable to p a r t i c i p a n t s as a st r a i g h t l i f e annuity 
under the Pension Plan upon normal retirement at age 65 based upon 
f i n a l average compensation and ye-rs of Conrail service. The table 
does not r e f l e c t statutory l i m i t s on ben e f i t s under t a x - q u a l i f i e d 
plans. 
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Employment Agreements and Termination of Employment and 
Change in Control Arrangements 

To ensure that Conrail would have the continued dedicated service 
of certain executives notwithstanding the p o s s i b i l i t y , threat or 
occurrence of changes i n c o n t r o l , i n 1995, Conrail entered i n t o 
severance agreements with i t s o f f i c e r s and certain key employees, 
including the o f f i c e r s named i n the Summary Compensation Table 
("Change of Control Contracts"), The agreements generally provide 
that i f the executive i s Terminated other than for Cause wi t h i n three 
years a f t e r a Change i n Control, or w i t h i n two years of regulatory 
approval of such Change i n Control, each as defined i n the agreement, 
such executive i s e n t i t l e d to receive severance benefits. Such 
benefits would be equal to a lump sum payment equal to a l l previously 
accrued cash compensation, three times the sum of the then-current 
base salary and highest annual bonus earned wi t h i n the previous three 
calendar years, together with certain other payments and benefits, 
including continuation of employee welfare benefits and an a d d i t i o n a l 
payment to compensate the executive for certain excise taxes imposed 
upon payments under such agreements. In addition, such Termination 
would re s u l t i n the acceleration of vesting or lapse of r e s t r i c t e d 
periods on previously granted stock-based incentive awards. 

In connection with the proposed merger with CSX Corporation, CSX 
has agreed to pay to Mr, LeVan, i n l i e u of any stay bonus and 
severance or termination benefits, a lump sum equal to the economic 
value of the employment agreement (as reasonably determined by the 
parties i n good f a i t h ) which CSX and Mr, LeVan had entered i r l o i n 
connection with the Conrail-CSX merger as o r i g i n a l l y proposed. 
Company executives (other than Mr, LeVan) w i l l be paid the value of 
t h e i r Change of Control Contracts i n accordance with .:he terms tnereof 
i f t h e i r employment i s terminated under certain specified 
circumstances or i f they remain employed u n t i l May 31, 1598, 

CSX Corporation has agreed to honor a l l obligations under 
emploiTnent agreements and employee benefit plans, programs and 
p o l i c i e s and arrangements of Conrail i n accordance with the terms of 
the Merger Agreement and to provide benefits to tnose employees of 
Conrail transferred to CSX or another e n t i t y , 5iverance or 
supplemental retirement benefits w i l l be proviaed to non-union 
employees (other than executive l e v e l employees) who are terminated 
wit h i n three years following the regulatory approval of the merger, 
equal to between six months and 24 months of salary (depending upon an 
employee's ser v i c e ) . Medical coverage w i l l also be continued for 
these employees f o r specified periods. A stay bonus program w i l l also 
be established that provides a lump sum cash payment to non-union 
employees who remain employed u n t i l regulatory approval of the merger 
with additional payments made to those employees who remain employed 
for up to six months therea f t e r . 
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial 
Owners and Management. 

Outstanding Shares. As cf the close of business on March 3, 
1997, there were issued and outstanding 83,144,397 shares of 
Conrail Common Stock and 6,358,470 shares of Conrail Preferred 
Stock, To Conrail's knowledge, the only persons (or "group" as that 
term i s used i n Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) who, as of March 3, 1997, 
owned b e n e f i c i a l l y more than 5% of any class of Conrail's voting 
securities are l i s t e d i n the following table: 

Title of Class 
Name and Address 
of Beneficial OwTier 

Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership 

Percent 
of Class 

Conrail Common 
Stock 

Green Acquisition Corp., a wiiolly-
owned subsidiary of CSX Corp 
One James Center 
901 E Cary Suect 
Richmond. VA 23219 

17,775,124 (of whiĉ  sole voting 
power - 17,775,124, sLared voting 
power - 0, sole dispositive power -
17,775,124, shared iiipcs'tive 
power - 0) (1) 

21.4% 

Ccnrail Common 
Stock 

Atlantic Acquisition Corp , a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Norfolk Southm Corp 
Three Commercial Place 
Norfolk, VA 23510 

8,200,100 (of which: sole voting 
power 8,200,100, shared votmg 
power - 0, sole dispositive 
power - 8,200,100, shared dispositive 
power - 0) (2) 

9.9% 

Conrail Preferred 
Stock 

Fidelity Managcmem Trust Co 
82 Devonshire Street 
Boston, MA 02109 

4,825,000 shares, not individually, but 75.9% 
solely m ns capacity as Trustee of 
the ESOP (3) 

1, Held i n t r u s t by Deposit Guaranty National Bank, One Deposit Guaranty Plaza, 
Jackson, Missi s s i p p i . T.hese shares represent 19.9% cf Conrail's t o t a l voting 
s e c u r i t i e s (Common Stock and Preferred Stock voting as one class). CSX also 
b e n e f i c i a l l y owns an additional 15,955,477 shares of Conrail Common Stock 
pursuant to a Conrail Stock Option Agreement dated as of October 14, 1996 
between Conrail and CSX, pursuant t c which CSX cu r r e n t l y has the r i g h t to 
purchase up to that number of ad d i t i o n a l shares at a price of $92.50 per 
share. These option shares, together with zhe 17,775,124 shares referred to 
above, represent approximately 37.7% of Conrail's t o t a l voting s e c u r i t i e s . 

2, Held i n t r u s t by F i r s t American National Bank, 300 Union Street, 
Nashville, Tennessee. These shares represent 9,2% of Conrail's t o t a l 
voting s e c u r i t i e s . 

3, Shares of Conrail Preferred Stock are convertible i n t o shares of Conrail 
Common Stock at any time on a share-for-shar< basis, subject to ce r t a i n 
a n t i d i l u t i o n adjustments. As a r e s u l t , ownership of shares of Conrail 
Preferred Stock i s deemed to be ownership of an equal number of shares of 
Conrail Common Stock. These 4,825,000 shares of Conrail Preferred Stock 
represent 5.4% of Conrail's t o t a l voting s e c u r i t i e s . 

Ownership by Management c f E q u i t y S e c u r i t i e s . The f o l l o w i n g t a b l e 
sets f o r t h the b e n e f i c i a l ownership, as of March 3, 1997, of Conrail 
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Common Stock and Conrail Preferred Stock of each d i r e c t o r and nominee, 
each of the executive o f f i c e r s named i n the Summary Compensation Table 
and a l l directors and executive o f f i c e r s as a group. Unless otherwise 
indicated, each such person has sole voting and investment power with 
respect to such shares of Conrail Common Stock and sol'i voting power 
with respect to such shares of Conrail Preferred Stock. The ESOP 
Trustee holds sole investment power with respect to a l l shares of 
Conrail Preferred Stock. As of March 3, 1957, a l l Conrail directors 
and o f f i c e r s as a group owned less than one percent (1%) of the 
aggregate outstanding Conrail Common Stock and Conrail Preferred 
Stock. 

Amount and 

Title of Class 
Name and Title 
of Beneficial Ô Tier 

Nature of 
Beneficial 
Ownership 

Conrail Common Stock H Furlong Baldwin 
Director 

2,000 

Claude S. Bnnegar 
Director 

Daniel B Burke 
Director 

1,000 

2,000 

Kathleen Foley Feldstein 
Director 

700 

Roger S. Hillas 
Director 

E Bradley Jones 
Director 

David B Lewis 
Dirertor 

2,362 

1,000 

919 

John C. Marous 
Director 

612 

Gail I McGovem 
Director 

Raymond T. Schuler 
Director 

6,070 

David H. Swanson 
Director 

452 

71 

David M LeVan 
Director, Chairman, President and 
Chief ExecuUve Officer 138,896(1) 
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Bmce B Wilson 

Senior Vice President - Merger 28,166( 1) 

Ronald J. Conrvay 

Senior Vice President - Operations 33,481(1) 
John P. Sam-non 23,839(1) 
Soiior Vice President - CORE Service Croup 

Timothy P. Dwyer 
Senior Vice President - Unit Train Service 12,252(1) 
Group 

All Directors and Executive OfBcers 
as a group(2) 577,760 

(1) For Messrs. LeVan, Wilson, Conway, Sammon and Dwyer, respectively, 
includes options exercisable w i t h i n 60 days to acquire 98,896, 0, 27,375, 18,125 and 
0 shares of Conrail Common Stock and 1,966, 1,700, 1,903, 1,673 and 1,665 shares cf 
Conrail Preferred Stock allocated to the accounts of the named o f f i c e r s pursuant to 
the ESOP. Shares of Conrail Preferred Stock are convertible i n t o shares of Conrail 
Common Stock at any time on a share-for-share basis, subject to cer t a i n a n t i d i l u t i o n 
adjustments. As a r e s u l t , ownership of shares of Conrail Preferred Stock i s deemed 
to be ownership of an equal number of shares of Conrail Common Stock. 

(2) Includes options exercisable w i t h i n 60 days to acquire 356,560 shares of 
Conrail Common Stock and 35,842 shares of Conrail Preferred Stock allocated tc the 
accounts of i n d i v i d u a l o f f i c e r s pursuant to the ESOP. This number also includes 
shares held by a l l o f f i c e r s of Consolidated Rail Corporation. 

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations 
promulgated thereunder require that certain officers, directors and 
10% beneficial owners of Conrail Common Stock f i l e with the Securities 
and Exchange Comonission, within specified time periods, reports 
concerning transactions i n Conrail securities. Based on i t s review of 
the f i l e d forms or written representations that, in certain instances, 
no f i l i n g i s required, Conrail believes that a l l Section 16(a) f i l i n g 
requirements during 1996 were complied with, except that, due to 
administrative error, one timely-filed report of each of Bruce B. 
Wilson, Senior Vice President-Merger, and Lucy S.L. Amerman, Vice 
President-Risk Management, disclosed an incorrect number of shares 
sold i n a tender offer and stock options granted, respectively. 

and 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, 

None except as disclosed in Item 10. 
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PART IV 

Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement 

Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K. 

(a) The following documents are f i l e d as a part of t h i s report. 

1. Financial Statements: Page 

Report of Independent Accountants 41 
Consolidated Statements of Income f o r each of the 

three years i n the period ended December 31, 1996. 42 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 1996 

and 1995 43 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' 

Equity for each of the three years i n the 
peiiod ended December 31, 1996 44 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows f o r each of 
the three years i n the period ended 
December 31, 1996 45 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 46 

2. F i n a n c i i l Statement Schedules: 

The following f i n a n c i a l statement schedules should Le read 
i n connection with the f i n a n c i a l statements l i s t e d i n Item 
14 (a)1 above. 

Index to Financial Statement Schedules 

Pace 

Schedule I I Valuation and Qualifying Accounts S-1 

Schedules other than those l i s t e d above are omitted f o r 
reasons that they are not required, are not applicable, 
or the information i s included i n the f i n a n c i a l 
statements or re l a t e d notes. 

io 
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3. Exhib:.ts: 

E x p l o i t No. 

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger among Consolidated Rail 
Corporation, Conrail Inc. and Conrail Subsidiary 
Corporation dated as of February 17, 1993, f i l e d as 
Appendix A to the Proxy Statement of Consolidated Rail 
Corporation, dated A p r i l 16, 1993 and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 14, 1996 
amon;? Conrail I n c , CSX Corporation and Green 
A c q u i s i t i o n Corp. (the "Merger Agreement") 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit (c)(1) to the 
Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 
14D-1, o r i g i n a l l y f i l e d with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission ("SEC") on October 16, 1956 (the 
"CSX 14D-1")). 

2.3 F i r s t Amendment to the Merger Agreement, dated as of 
November 5, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exh i b i t 
(c)(7) to the CSX 14D-1), 

2.4 Second Amendment to the Merger Agreement, dated as of 
December 18, 1996 (the "Second Amendment") 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit (c)(10) to the 
CSX 14D-1). 

2.5 Third Amendment to the Merger Agreeme-nt, dated as of 
March 7, 1997 (the "Third Amendment") (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit (c)(12) to the CSX 14D-1). 

3.1 A r t i c l e s of Incorporation of the Registrant f i l e d as 
Appendix B to the Proxy Statement of Consolidated Rail 
Corporation, dated A p r i l 16, 1593 and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant f i l e d as 
Ex h i b i t 3 to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarterly period ended September 30, 1956 and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

4.1 A r t i c l e s of Incorporation of the Registrant f i l e d as 
Appendix B to the Proxy Statement of Consolidated Rail 
Corporation, dated T ^ r i l 16, 1993 and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

4.2 Form of C e r t i f i c a t e of Common Stock, par value $1.00 
per share, of the Registrant, f i l e d as Exhibit 
3 . 4 ( i ) ( c ) to the Registrant's Form 8-E dated July 13, 
1993 and incorporated herein by reference. 
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4.3 Form of C e r t i f i c a t e of Series A ESOP Convertible Junior 
Preferred Stock, no par value, of the Registrant f i l e d 
as Exhibit 3.4(i)(d) to the Registrant's Form 8-B dated 
July 13, 1993 and incorporated herein by reference, 

4.4 Rights Agreement dated as of July 19, 1585, between 
Consolidated Rail Corporation and F i r s t Chicago Trust 
Company of New York, together wi t h Form of Right 
C e r t i f i c a t e and Summary of Rights to Purchase Common 
Shares as exhibits thereto, f i l e d as Exhibit 1 to 
Consolidated Rail Corporation's Form 8-K dated July 31, 
1589 and incorporated herein by reference. 

4.5 Amendment to P-^ghts Agreement xted as of March 21, 
1590, f i l e d as Exhibit 4.5 to Consolidated Rail 
Corporation's Report on Form 8-K dated March 27, 1590 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

4.6 Amendment, Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated 
as of February 17, 1993, with respect to the Rights 
Agreement, f i l e d as Exh i b i t 3.4(i)(g) to the 
Registrant's Form 8-B dated July 13, 1993 and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

4.7 Amendment to Rights Agreement dated as of October 15, 
1594 f i l e d as Exhibit 4,1 to the Registrant's Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1994 and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

4.8 Amendment to Rights Agreement of the Registrant dated 
as of September 20, 1995, f i l e d as Exhibit 3.4(i) ( i ) to 
the Registrant's Form 8-B/A dated as of September 25, 
1555 a.id incorporated herein by reference. 

4.9 Form of Indenture between Consolidated Rail Corporation 
and The F i r s t National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee, 
with respect to the issuance of up to $1.25 b i l l i o n 
aggregate p r i n c i p a l amount of Consolidated Rail 
Corporation's debt s e c u r i t i e s , f i l e d as Exhibit 4 to 
Consolidated Rail Corporation's Registration Statement 
on Form S-3 (Registration No. 33-34040) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

In accordance with Item 6 0 1 ( b ) ( 4 ) ( i i i ) of Regulation S-
K, copies of instruments of the Registrant and i t s 
subsidiaries with respect to the r i g h t s of holders of 
certain long-term debt are not f i l e d herewith, or 
incorporated by reference, but w i l l be furnished to the 
Commission upon request. 

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Northeast Corridor Freight 
Operating Agreement dated October 1, 1986 between 
National Railroad Passenger Corporation and 
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Consolidate^ Rail Corporation, f i l e d as Exhibit 10.1 to 
Consolidatea Rail Corporation's Registration Statement 
on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-11955) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.2 Le t t e r agreem.ents dated September 30, 1982 and July 19, 
1986 between Consolidated Rail Corporation and The Penn 
Central Corporation, f i l e d as Exhibit 10,5 t o 
Consolidated Rail Corporation's Registration Statement 
on Form S-1 (Registration No, 33-11995) and 
incorporated herein by reference, 

10.3 Le t t e r agreement dated March 16, 1588 between Consoli­
dated Rail Corporation and Penn Central Corporation re­
l a t i n g to hearing loss l i t i g a t i o n , f i l e d as Exhibit 
15.1 to Consolidated Rail Corporation's Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 
1988 and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.4 Ccnrail Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 14, 
1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit (c)(2) ot 
the CSX 14D-1). 

Management Compensation Plans and Contracts 

10.5 Consolidated Rail Corporation 1993 Annual Performance 
Achievement Reward Plan, f i l e d as Exhibit 3.10(v) to 
the Registrant's Form 8-B dated July 13, 1553 and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.6 Consolidated Rail Corporation 1594 Annual Performance 
Achievement Reward Plan for Officers, f i l e d as Exhibit 
10,7 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 1994 and incorporated 
herein by reference, 

10.7 Consolidated Rail Corporation 1995 Annual Performance 
Achievement Reward Plan f c r Officers, f i l e d as Exhibit 
10.6 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 1995 and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.8 Consolidated Rail Corporation 1996 Annual Performance 
Achievement Reward Plan f o r Officers. 

10.9 Retirement Plan for Non-employee Directors, as amended 
February 21, 1990, f i l e d as Exhibit 10.10 to 
Consolidated Rail Corporation's Annual Report on Form 
10-K f o r the year ended December 31, 1989 and included 
herein by reference. 
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10.10 Conrail 1987 Long-Term Incentive Plan, f i l e d as Exhibit 
4.4 to Consolidated Rail Corporation's Registration 
Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 33-15155) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.11 Conrail 1591 Long-Term Incentive Plan, amended and 
restated as of May 15, 1996, f i l e d as Appendix A to the 
Registrant's Proxy Statement dated A p r i l 3, 1996 and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.12 Conrail Senior Executive Performance Plan, f i l e d as 
Appendix A to the Registrant's Proxy Statement for the 
1995 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, dated A p r i l 3, 
1995, and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.13 Form of Severance Agreement between the Registrant and 
each of the o f f i c e r s of Consolidated R a i l Corporation, 
dated as cf August 1, 1995, f i l e d as E x h i b i t 10.1 to 
the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q f o r the quarterly 
period ended September 30, 1995 and incorporated herein 
by reference. 

11 Statement of earnings per share computations. 

12 Computation of the r a t i o of earnings to f i x e d charges. 

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant, f i l e d as Exhibit 21 of 
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 1993 and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

23 Corisent of Independent Accountants. 

24 Each of the o f f i c e r s and d i r e c t o r s signing t h i s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K has signed a power of attorney, 
contained on page 86 hereof, with respect to amendments 
to t h i s Annual Report. 

27 Financial Data 5>chedule. 

(b) Peports on Form 8-K. 

October 22, 1996, i n connection with Merger Agreement between 
CSX Corporation and Consolidated Rail Corporation. 
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(c) E x h i b i t s . 

The Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K as l i s t e d i n 
Item 14(a)3 are f i l e d herewith or incorporated herein by 
reference. 

(d) Financial Statem.ent Schedules. 

Financial statement sc^.edules and separate f i n a n c i a l statements 
specified by t h i s Item are included i n Item 14 (a)2 or are 
otherwise omitted f o r reasons that they are not required or are 
not applicable. 
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

Each person whose signature appears below under "SIGNATURES" 
hereby authorizes Timothy T. O'Toole and John A. McKelvey, or eit h e r 
of them, to execute i n the name of each such person, and to f i l e , any 
amendment to t h i s report and hereby appoints Timothy T. O'Toole and 
John A, McKelvey, or either of them, as attorneys-in-fact to sign on 
his or her behalf, i n d i v i d u a l l y and i n each capacity stated below, and 
to f i l e any and a l l amendments to t h i s report. 

SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act 1934, Conrail Inc. has duly caused t h i s report 
to be signed on i t s behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized. 

CONRAIL INC. 

Date: March 19, 1997 

J 
LeVan V IN 

idenV^an 

By. 
David M. 
Chairman, PresidenV^'and Chief 
Executive O f f i c e r and Director 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, t h i s report has been signed below on t h i s 19th day of March, 
1997, by the iollowing persons on behalf of Conrail Inc. and i n the 
capacities indicated. 

SiJrnature 

tJaVid M, LeVan 

Donald W. Mattson 

T i t l e 

Chairman, President and Chief 
Executive O f f i c e r and Directo: 
(Principal Executive O f f i c e r ) 

Senior Vice President-Finance 
(Principal Financial O f f i c e r ) 

Vice President-Controller 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

mm 
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H. Furlong Baldwin 

Claude S. Brinegar 

Daniel B. Burke 

Kathieen Foley Feldstein 

Roger SJ Hillas 

E. Bradley/udnes 

Gail J. McGovern 

RaymondLT. Schuler 

David H. Swanson 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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E-1 
EXHIBIT INDEX 

Exhibit No, 

10.8 Consolidated Rail Corporation 1996 Annual Performance 
Achievement Reward Plan for Off i c e r s 

11 Statement of earnings per share 
computations 

12 Computation of the r a t i o of earnings 
to fixed charges 

23 Consent of Independent A.ccountants 

27 Financial Data Schedule 

Exhibits 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 3.1, 3.2, 4.1, 4,2, 4,3, 4,4, 4,5, 
4.6, 4.7, 4.8, 4.9, 10.1, 10.2, 10.3, 10.4, 10.5, 10,6, 10,7, 10,9, 
10,10, 10.11, 10.12, 10.13 and 21 are incorporated herein by 
reference. Powers of aLtorney with respect to amendments to t h i s 
Annual Report are contained on page 86. 
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Exhibit 10.8 

CONSOLIDATED RAIL CORPORATION 

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE ACHIEVEMENT REWARD PLAN FOR 1996 

FOR OFFICERS 

1. D e f i n i t i o n s 

When used i n t h i s document, the following terms s h a l l 
have the meanings set f o r t h below: 

Board means the Board of Directors of Conrail. 

Conrail means the Consolidated Rail Corporation. 

The Company means Conrail Inc. 

Operating Ratio means the percentage determined by d i ­
viding (a) operating expenses by (b) revenues, as shown cn 
Conrail's consolidated f i n a n c i a l statements. 

Cost of Risk Ratio means the percentage determined by 
di v i d i n g (a) the sum of the cost of r i s k elements (as 
designated by the Risk Management Department) by (b) Conrail's 
r a i l r o a d operating revenues. 

Par t i c i p a n t means an o f f i c e r of co n r a i l who p a r t i c i p a t e s 
i n the Plan i n accordance with Section 3. 

Plan means the Consolidated Rail Corporation Annual 
Performance Achievement Reward Plan f o r 1996, as set f o r t h i n 
t h i s document and as may be amended from time to time. 

Salary means the salary earned by a Participant i n 1996 
from employment with Conrail. For purposes of t h i s Plan, 
Salary s h a l l include salary earned pursuant to any holiday, 
vacation, or sick leave policy of Conrail, salary deferred 
pursuant to the Consolidated Rail Corporation Matched Savings 
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Plan, and salary contributed pursuant to the Consolidated Rail 
Corporation Flexible Benefits Plan. Except as otherwise 
provided i n the preceding sentence, Salary s h a l l not include 
any amount payable pursuant to receipt of a Spot Award or a 
1955 Selective Cash Award paid i n 1956 or to an employee bene­
f i t or incentive compensation plan. 

2. Introduction 
The Board has approved the implementation of t h i s Plan. 

The Board expects that the Plan w i l l provide an incentive for 
enhanced i n d i v i d u a l and corporate performance and aid Conrail 
i n a t t r a c t i n g and r e t a i n i n g capable employees. 

3. E l i g i b i l i t y 
Each o f f i c e r of Conrail, who i s employed during 1996, 

shal l p a r t i c i p a t e i n the Plan. 

4. Prerequisite for Award 
Anything i n t h i s Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no 

award s h a l l be payable under the Plan i n the event actual 
operating income for 1996, as shown on Conrail's consolidated 
f i n a n c i a l statements, i s less than S690 m.illion. 

5. Amount of Award 
(a) Under the Plan, a Participant may earn an award 

equal to a percentage (or percentages) of his/her Salary. 
This award may consist of two parts, the Annual Performance 
Achievement Reward ("APAR") and the Annual Performance 
Achievement Reward Plus i"APAR Plus"). The APAR percentage(s) 
shall depend upon the p o s i t i o n held by the Participant and the 
performance of Conrail, measured by the re l a t i o n s h i p of ( i ) 
the Operating Ratio f o r 1996, to ( i i ) the Operating Ratio goal 
set by the Board (or i t s delegate! for purposes of the Plan 
and the relationship of ( i i i ) the Cost of Risk Ratio f o r 1996 
to ( i v ) the Cost of Risk Ratio goal set by the Board (or i t s 
delegate) for purposes of the Plan, both as c e r t i f i e d by 
Conrail's chief f i n a n c i a l o f f i c e r , a f t e r taking i n t o account 
any amounts payable pursuant to the Plan that are not taken 
i n t o account i n the Operating Ratio goal set by the Board (or 
i t s delegate) for purposes of the Plan. The percentage(s) 
s h a l l be determined i n accordance with one of three schedules. 

The APAR Plus percentage s h a l l depend upon the 
performance of Conrail, as measured by the r e l a t i o n s h i p of ( i ) 
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the Operating Ratio for 1956 to ( i i ) the Operating Ratio goal 
set by the Board (or i t s delegate) for purposes of the Plan. 

Conrail shall furnish each Participant w i t h a copy of the 
schedule(s) of awards applicable to him/her. 

(b) A Participant's award s h a l l be pro-rated, as 
provided i n Section 8, i n the event he/she p a r t i c i p a t e s i n the 
Plan for less than a l l of 1556 or moves i n t o a p o s i t i o n cov­
ered under a d i f f e r e n t schedule of awards. The Participant's 
award s h a l l equal the sum of the p a r t i a l awards computed by 
mu l t i p l y i n g ( i ) the Salary earned by the Participant while 
covered under a schedule of awards, by ( i i ) the percentage of 
Salary determined i n accordance with such schedule. 

(c) Anything to the contrary i n t h i s Section 5 not­
withstanding, a Participant's award may be reduced by up to 50 
percent by Conrail's President and Chief Executive O f f i c e r (or 
his delegate (s)) on the basis of i n d i v i d u a l or group 
performance. 

6. Election to Defer Awards 
(a) Each Participant s h a l l be e n t i t l e d to elect 

irrevocably tc defer, for a period of one, two, three, four, 
or f i v e years, a l l or a po r t i o n of any APAR award payable to 
him/her pursuant to t h i s Plan. The minimum d e f e r r a l permitted 
i s 10 percent and a de f e r r a l may be made i n any percentage 
above t h i s minimum. A Participant who so elects s h a l l receive 
his/her APAR award i n the form of whole shares of Conrail Inc. 
r e s t r i c t e d common stock, recorded i n e l e c t r o n i c book entry at 
F i r s t Chicago Trust Company of New York which shares s h a l l be 
f o r f e i t e d (except as otherwise provided i n the Plan) i n the 
event the Participant terminates employment with Conrail 
during the applicable periods of d e f e r r a l , as described i n 
Section 7, and p r i o r to the receipt of a c e r t i f i c a t e (s) for 
the shares. Such elections must be made no l a t e r than July 
27, 1956, on forms provided by Conrail's Assistant Vice 
President-Compensation and Benefits for t h i s purpose. 

(b) A Participant who elects to receive an APAR award i n 
Conrail Inc. comjnon stock s h a l l be granted shares of such 
stock equal i n value to the amount of his/her deferred award 
(the "Deferred Shares"), plus additional shares of such stock 
equal i n value to 10 percent (10%) of his/her deferred award 
times the period of def e r r a l selected, up to a maximum of 
f i f t y percent (50%) (the "Bonus Shares"). The number of 
shares so awarded s h a l l be determined as of the date the non-
deferred portions of awards are or would have been paid, 

(c) Deferred Shares and Bonus Shares s h a l l be issued as 
r e s t r i c t e d shares pursuant to the Consolidated Rail 
Corporation 1551 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended. Each 
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such share s h a l l e n t i t l e the Participant to the same dividend 
and voting r i g h t s as one share of Conrail Inc, common stock, 

(d) The APAR Plus award sh a l l not be e l i g i b l e for defer­
r a l . 

7. Time and Form of Payments 
(a) I n the case of a Participant who has made an 

election to defer, the c e r t i f i c a t e s f o r the Participant's 
Deferred Shares and for the Participant's Bonus Shares, s h a l l 
be paid i n the form of Conrail Inc. common stock, recorded i n 
electronic book entry at F i r s t Chicago Trust Company of New 
Yo-k, the Company's transfer agent, as soon as practicable 
a f t e r e x p i r a t i o n of the de f e r r a l period chosen by the 
Participant. Any portion of an APAR award not deferred by a 
Participant s h a l l be paid to him/her i n cash during the f i r s t 
quarter of 1997. 

(b) I n the case of a Participant whc has made no 
election to defer, the Participant's award s h a l l be paid to 
him/her i n cash i n a single installment during the f i r s t 
quarter of 1997, 

6. Special Payment Rules 
Anything i n t h i s Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, a 

Participant who i s dismissed f o r cause p r i o r to receipt of any 
portion of his/her award s h a l l f o r f e i t such portion of the 
award, A Part i c i p a n t who resigns from Conrail during 1996 
shall receive a prorated portion of his/her APAR and APAR Plus 
awards. The amount of the prorated award shall be determined 
by applying a f r a c t i o n to the Participant's Salary determined 
up u n t i l his/her date of termination. The numerator of t h i s 
f r a c t i o n i s the number of days of the year u n t i l the 
termination occurred and the denominator i s 366, the number of 
days i n the year. A Participant who resigns from Conrail 
after December 31, 1996, but before the date i n the f i r s t 
quarter of 1997 on which payments are made under the Plan, 
shall receive a f u l l APAR and APAR Plus award. I f the 
Participant has elected to defer his/her award, such el e c t i o n 
is void and the prorated cr f u l l award w i l l be paid i n cash i n 
the f i r s t quarter of 1957. I f the Participant resigns during 
the d e f e r r a l period the Participant f o r f e i t s both the Deferred 
and Bonus Shares. 

I f a P a r t i c i p a n t who has elected to defer a l l or a 
portion of his/her APAR award i n the form of Deferred and 
Bonus Shares r e t i r e s with the r i g h t to an immediate p'^nsion 
under the Supplemental Pension Plan of Consolidated Rail 
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Corporation (the "Pension Plan") p r i o r to receipt of any such 
shares, the r e s t r i c t i o n on such shares s h a l l be l i f t e d and the 
Participant s h a l l receive shares of Conrail Inc. common stock 
representing the Participant's deferred APAR award recorded i n 
electronic book entry at F i r s t Chicago Trust Company of New 
York. The matching or Bonus Shares s h a l l be prorated on the 
basis of a f r a c t i o n , the denominator of which s h a l l be the 
number of days from the date of the award through the end of 
the elected d e f e r r a l period and the numerator s h a l l be the 
number of days from the date of the award through the l a s t day 
of employment. This proration factor s h a l l be m u l t i p l i e d by 
the number of Bonus Shares and the r e s u l t i n g number of Bonus 
Shares shall be d i s t r i b u t e d to the P a r t i c i p a n t . The balance 
of the Bonus Shares s h a l l be f o r f e i t e d on the l a s t day of the 
Participant's employment. 

I f during 1556, a Participant i s force reduced, goes on a 
leave of absence, becomes disabled or dies, such Participant's 
award s h a l l be prorated i n the f i r s t quarter of 1557 on the 
basis of a f r a c t i o n applied to the Participant's Salary, the 
numerator of which i s the number of days of the year u n t i l the 
event occurred and the denominator of which i s 366, the number 
of days i n the year. The amount of the award s h a l l be paid i n 
cash. 

A. Participant who i s force reduced or goes on a leave of 
absence a f t e r the end of 1596, but before payments under the 
Plan are made s h a l l receive a f u l l APAR and APAR Plus award. 
I f the Participant has elected to defer his or her A.PAR award, 
the e l e c t i o n i s void and the APAR award i s payable i n cash. A 
Participant who becomes disabled or dies a f t e r the end of 
1956, but before payments under the Plan are made sha l l 
receive a f u l l APAR and APAR Plus award. I f the Participant 
has elected to defer his/her APAR award, such award w i l l be 
paid i n cash to the Participant or his/her b e n e f i c i a r y ( i e s ) or 
estate. 

Jf, a f t e r the APAR award i s made i n the f i r s t quarter of 
1997, a Participant i s force reduced, becomes disabled or 
dies, his/her Deferred and Bonus Shares s h a l l be d i s t r i b u t e d 
i n f u l l to him/her or to his/her b e n e f i c i a r y ( i e s ) or estate i n 
the form of Conrail Inc. common stock recorded i n electronic 
book entry at F i r s t Chicago Trust Company of New York. I f 
af t e r the APAR award i s made i n the f i r s t quarter of 1557 a 
Participant goes on a leave of absence, his/her Deferred and 
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Bonus shares s h a l l be retained i n the Plan and d i s t r i b u t e d i n 
the form, of Conrail Inc. common stock recorded i n electronic 
book entry at F i r s t Chicago Trust Company of New York at the 
end of the d e f e r r a l period selected by the Participant. 

9. Acce le ra t ion of Awards Upon a Change of Control 

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the 
contrary, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, as 
defined below, a l l terms and conditions with respect to 
Deferred ana Bonus Shares then outstanding shall be deemed 
s a t i s f i e d as of the date of the Change of Control f or a l l 
purposes hereunder, and such Deferred and Bonus Shares s h a l l 
be payable to P r t i c i p a n t s as soon as practicable following 
the Change of Control. 

A Change of Control hereunder s h a l l be deemed to have 
occurred on the e a r l i e s t of the following dates: ( i ) the date 
any e n t i t y , person or group (within the meaning of Section 
13(d) (3) or Section 14(d) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended) other than the Company or any of i t s 
subsidiaries, s h a l l have become the be n e f i c i a l owner of, or 
sha l l have obtained voting control over, outstanding 
se c u r i t i e s issued by the Company e n t i t l e d to cast 20% or more 
of the votes which a l l outstanding securities issued by the 
Company are e n t i t l e d to cast i n an election of dir e c t o r s of 
the Company; ( i i ) the date the shareholders of the Company and 
the shareholders of the other constituent corporations have 
approved a d e f i n i t i v e agreement to merge or consolidate the 
Company with or i n t o another corporation other than i n ei t h e r 
case, a merger or consolidation of the Company i n which 
holders of shares of common stock of Conrail Inc. immediately 
p r i o r to the merger or consolidation, which common stock i s 
then held i n the same proportion as such holders' ownership of 
common stock of Conrail Inc. immediately before the merger or 
consolidation; ( i i i ) the date the shareholders of the Company 
approve a d e f i n i t i v e agreement to s e l l or otherwise dispose of 
s u b s t a n t i a l l y a l l the assets of the Company; or (iv) the date 
there s h a l l have been a change i n the composition of the 
Company's Board such that a majority of the Company's Board 
sh a l l have been members thereof for less than twelve (12) 
months, unless the nomination f or election of each new 
di r e c t o r who was not a director at the beginning of such 
twelve (12) month period was approved by a vote of at least 
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two-thirds of the directors then s t i l l i n o f f i c e who were 
directors at the beginning of such period. 

To the extent a Participant hereunder i s a party to an 
agreement with the Company as authorized by i t s Board on June 
21, 1995, awards hereunder s h a l l be subject to the terms of 
such agreement, i n addition to the foregoing provisions of 
t h i s Section 9. In resolving any c o n f l i c t between the terms 
of such agreement and the terms of the Plan, the provisions 
which are most favorable to the Participant s h a l l p r e v a i l . 

10. Withholding for Taxes 
Payments pursuant to t h i s Plan s h a l l be reduced by 

amounts s u f f i c i e n t to s a t i s f y any Federal, state, and/or lo c a l 
tr.x withholding requirements. With respect to payments i n the 
form of stock, an amount of stock s h a l l be withheld from the 
award that i s s u f f i c i e n t to enable Conrail to s a t i s f y any 
Federal, state, and/or l o c a l tax withholding requirements. 

11. Designation of Beneficiary 
A Participant may designate a beneficiary(ies) t o receive 

any payment pursuant to the Plan that has not been made p r i o r 
to the Participant's death. Such designation must be 
submitted to Conrail's Assistant Vice President-Compensation 
and Benefits, on a form provided f or t h i s purpose. Such form 
i s available upon request from the Administrator-APAR/APAR 
Plus, 18-B 2001 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 15101-1418, 
In the absence of such a designation, a Participant's most 
recent designation of ben e f i c i a r y ( i e s ) pursuant to a p r i o r 
annual performance achievement reward plan maintained by 
Conrail s h a l l be treated as his/her designation f or purposes 
of t h i s Plan. 

12. Duration, Amendment, and Termination of Plan 
The Plan shall take e f f e c t on January 1, 1596. Conrail, 

by action of the Board, may amend or terminate the Plan at 
any time. In addition, Conrail's President and Chief 
Executive Officer may amend the e l i g i b i l i t y requirements 
and/or the schedules of awards under the Plan, i n connection 
with a re-assessment of positions or changes i n organization 
or s t a f f i n g . The Plan s h a l l terminate automatically as of 
January 1/ 1997, unless terminated e a r l i e r by Conrail; 
provided, however, that such termination s h a l l not preclude 
the subsequent payirient of awards earned under the Plan. 
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Exhibit 11 

CONRAIL INC. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS 

($ I n M i l l i o n s Except Per Share) 

Years ended December 31, 

Primary 

Net income 

Div.idends declared on Series A ESOP 
convertible j u n i o r preferred stock 
(ESOP Stock), net of tax benefits 

Adjusted net income 

1996 

$342 

(12) 

$330 

1595 

$264 

(13) 

$251 

1994 

$324 

(13) 

$311 

Fully Diluted 

Net income 

Nondiscretionary adjustment (1) 

Adjusted net income 

342 

(2) 

$340 

264 

(3) 

$261 

324 

(5/ 

$319 

Page 1 of 3 
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Exhibit 11 

CONRAIL INC. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS 

($ In Millions Except Per Share) 

Weighted average number of shares (2) 
Primary 
Weighted average number of 
ccmmon shares outstanding 

Effect of shares issuable under 
enployee stock conpensation 
plans 

Fully diluted 
Weighted average number of 
cannon shares outstanding 

ESOP Stock 
Effect of shares issuable under 
enployee stock conpensation 
plans 

Years ended December 31, 

1996 1995 1994 

725,160 

76,903,665 
9,393,275 

1,028,635 

87,325,575 

589,253 

76,144,694 
9,799,611 

758,407 

88,702,712 

76,903,665 78,144,694 79,085,464 

585,317 

77,628,825 78,733,947 79,674,781 
mmmmmmmmms mmmicmmmmmm mmmmmvtfm K»i 

79,089, i64 
9,887,940 

585,317 

89,562,721 

Net income per cannon share 
Primary 
Fully diluted 

$4.25 
3.89 

$3.19 
2.94 

$3.90 
3.56 

Page 2 of 3 
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Exhibit 11 

CONRAIL INC, 

EARNINGS PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS 

Notes: 1. Represents the increase, net of income tax benefits, in 
ESOP-related expenses assuming conversion of a l l ESOP 
Stock to common stock. 

Shares held by the Employee Benefits Trust (the "Trust") 
are not considered outstanding for eamings per share 
con^Jutations until issued by the Trust. 

Page 3 of 3 
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Exhibit 12 

CONRAIL INC. 

COMPUTATION OF THE RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 

($ In M i l l i o n s ) 

Quarters Ended Quarters Ended Quarters Ended Quarters Ended Years Ended 
March 31, June 30, jieptember 30, December 31, December 31 

1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995(1) 1996 1995 1994 

Earnings 

Pre-tax income ( l o s s ) $ 50 $ 91 $38 $165 $216 $188 $227 $(52) $531 $392 $532 
Add: 

I n t e r e s t expense 47 48 46 50 44 49 45 47 182 194 192 
Rental expense 
i n t e r e s t f a c t o r 14 14 14 16 12 12 11 11 51 53 42 

Less e q u i t y i n 
u n d i s t r i b u t e d 
earnings of 20-50% 
owned companies (4) (5) (4) (5) (5) (4) (8) (6) •Ux'. (20) (17) 

Earnings a v a i l a b l e f o r 
f i x e d charges $107 $148 $94 $226 $267 $245 $275 $ - $74 3 $619 $749 

mmmm tex ixm B I t X E = = = = mmmm mmmm mmmm mmmm mmmm 

Fixed Charqes 
47 192 I n t e r e s t expense 47 4P 46 50 44 49 45 47 182 194 192 

Rental expense i n t e r e s t 
f a c t o r 14 14 14 16 12 12 11 11 51 53 42 

C a p i t a l i z e d i n t e r e s t 1 

Fixed charges $ 61 $ 62 
e s « B 

$60 
mmmm 

$ 66 $ 56 
mmmm 

$ 61 
mmmm 

$ 56 
mmmm 

$ 58 $233 $247 
mmmm 

$235 
mmmm 

R a t i o o f earnings t o 
f i x e d charges l,75x 2.39X I.Six 3 .42x A .nx 4 .02x 4.91X - 3 .19x 2.Six 3.19X 

mmmm mmmm = «: = mmmm mmmm mmmm mmmm 

Note: For the purpose of computing the r a t i o of earnings to fixe d charges, earnings represent income before income 
taxes plus fi x e d charges, less equity i n undistributed earnings of 20% vo 50% owned companies. Fixed charges 
represent int e r e s t expense together with i n t e r e s t c a p i t a l i z e d and a porti?n of rent under long-term operating 
leases representative of an inter e s t f a c t o r . 

(1) In the fourth quarter of i995, the Company recorded an assort d i s p o s i t i o n cha-ge of $176 m i l l i o n (after tax 
benefits of $109 m i l l i o n ) . After t h i s charge, earnings were i n s u f f i c i e n t by $58 m i l l i o n to cover fixed charges 
for the quarter. 



Exhibit 23 

Consent of Independent Accountants 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Prospectuses constituting 
part of the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 33-64670 and 33-62929) and in 
the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos 33-19155, 33-44140, 33-57717 33-
60445 and 333-6513) of Conr'U Inc. and subsidiaries of our report dated January 21 
1997, except as to Note 2, which is as of March 7, 1997, included in this Form 10-K' 

PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP 
Thirty South Seventeenth Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 
March 24 , 1997 
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E x h i b i t 27 

CONRAIL INC. 
FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDTILE 

($ In M i l l i o n s Except Per Share) 

THJS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM FORM 10-K AND IS 
QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FORM 10-K, 

<MULTIPLIER> 1, 000,000 

<FISCAL-yEAP-END> DEC-31-1996 
<PERIGD-START> JAN- 01-1996 
<PERIOD-END> DEC-31-1996 
<PERIOD-TYPE> 12-MOS 
<CASH> 30 
<SECURITIES> 0 
<RECEIVABLES> 630 
<ALLOWANCES> 0 
<INVENTORY> 139 
<CURRENT-ASSETS> 1, 117 
<PPfi.E> 6, 590 
<DEPRECIATION> 0 
<TOTAL-ASSETS> 8,402 
<(;URRENT-LIABILITIES> 1, 092 
<DONDS> 1,876 
<P?EFZRRED-MANDATORY> 0 
<PREFERRED> 211 
<C0MMON> 88 
<OTHER-SE> 1, 803 
<TOTAL-LIABILITY-AND-EQUITY> 8, 402 
<SALES> 0 
<TOTAL-REVENUES> 3, 714 
<CGS> 0 
<TOTAL-COSTS> 3,113 
<OTHER-EXPENSES> 0 
<LOSS-PROVISION> 0 
<INTEREST-EXPENSE> 182 
<INCOME-PRETAX> 531 
<INCOME-TAX> 189 
<INCOME-CONTINUING> 342 
<DISCONTINUED> 0 
<EXTRAORDINARY> 0 
<CHA1JGES> 0 
<NET-INCOME> 342 
<EPS-PRIMARY> 4.25 
<EPS-DILUTED> 3.89 
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Washington, D. C. 20549 

FORM 10-K 
(Mark One' 

AOTTOAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 [FEE REQUIRED] 

For the fiscal year ended Uj^sssiiSJLJiL^JilSi. 

OR 
I I TRANSITION REPORT FURSUA.NT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (NO FEE REQUIRED) 

For the Transition Period from to 

Commission F i l e No. 1-5064 

CONSOLIDATED RAIL CORPORATTn̂ ? 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in i t s charter) 

P e n n s y l v a n i a 23 19B90B4 
(State or other jurisdict ion (2.R.S. Employer Identi f icat ion Number) 
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Registrant's telephone nutrJser, including area code (21S) 209-<gD0 

Securities registered pursuant tc Section 12(b) cf the Act: NONE 
Securities registered pursuant tc Section 12(g) of the Act: NONE 

Infiicate by checJc mark whether the registrant (1) has f i l e d a l l reports requires tc te 
f i led by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securit ies Exchange Act of 193< durir.c the prece l ; - : 
12 Bionths (or fcr such shorter period that the registrant vas required t o ' f i i e suc.^ 
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362 



mm 
ml: 

TAP.T.F OF CONTENTS 

Pggf 

Part I 1. Business 
2. Properties 
3. Legal Proceedings 
4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security 

Holders 

Part I I 5. Market for Registrant's Cotnmon Equity and 
Related Stockholder Matters 

6. Selected Financial Data 
7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations 

8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.,,. 
9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants 

on Accounting and Financial Disclosure , 

Part I I I 10, Directors and Executive Officers of the 
Registrant 

11. Executive Compensation 
12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial 

Owners and Management 
13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions. 

Part IV 14, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and 
Reports on Form 8-K 

Power of Attomey 
Signatures 

Exhibit Index 

1 
3 
5 

11 

11 
11 

11 
14 

37 

37 
37 

37 
37 

36 

41 
41 

43 

363 



PART I 
Iter" a. Business. 

GENERAL. Consolidated Rail Corpcxation ("the Company") is a 
Pennsylvania corporation incorporated on February 10, 1976 to acquire, 
pursuant to the Regional Rail Reorganization Act of 1973, the ra i l 
properties of many of the railroads in the northeast and midwest 
region of the United States which had gone bankrupt during the early 
1970's, the largest of which was the Penn Central Transportation 
Company ("Penn Central"). 

On July 1, 1993 Conrail Inc, ("Conrail") became the holding 
con5>any of the Coitpany. The Conpany i s Conrail I n c ' s only 
significant subsidiary and pritnary asset, Conrail Inc.'s common stock 
is listed on the New York and Philadelphia Stock Exchanges, 

Reports on Form lO-K for years prior to 1993 were filed by 
Consolidated Rail Corporation, and historic data presented herein and 
therein reflect the results of Consolidated Rail Corporation for those 
time periods, 

PROPOSED MERGER. On October 14, 1996, Conrail, CSX Corporation 
("CSX") and a subsidiary of CSX entered into an Agreement and Plan of 
Merger (as amended, the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which Conrail 
was to be merged with a subsidiary of CSX in a merger-of-equals 
transaction. 

On October 24, 1996, Norfolk Southem Corporation ("Norfolk") 
coranenced an unsolicited tender offer for a l l outstanding Conrail 
voting stock at $100 per share in cash, Norfolk has since increased 
its offer to $115 per share in cash. 

On November 20, 1996, CSX concluded its first tender offer and 
purchased approximately 19,9% of Conrail's outstanding shares for $110 
per share. 

On December 18, 1996, CSX and Conrail entered into a second 
amendment to the Merger Agreement (the "Second Amendment") that would, 
among other things, (i) increase the consideration payable pursuant to 
the merger, (ii) accelerate the consunrmation of the merger to 
immediately following the receipt of applicable shareholder approvals 
and prior to the Surface Transportation Board ("STB") approval and 
(i i i ) extend until December 31, 1998 an exclusivity period during 
which the Conrail Board agreed not to withdrav or modify i t s 
recomm-̂ ndations of the CSX transactions, approve or recommend any 
takeover proposal or cause Conrail to enter into any agreement related 
to any takeover proposal. 

On January 13, 1997, Norfolk isEued a press release announcing 
that i t would offer to purchase shares representing 9.9% of the 
outstanding shares for $115 per share, in the event that Conrail 
shareholders did not approve a proposal to opt out of a Pennsylvania 
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statute (the "Opt Out Proposal") at the meeting of shareholders to be 
held on January 17, 1997 (the "Special Shareholders Meeting"). 

On Januar>' 17, 1997, Conrail shareholders voted at the Special 
Shareholders Meeting against the Opt Out Proposal. 

On February 4, 1997, the amended Norfolk tender'offer expired, 
and Norfolk subsequently purchased approximately 8,2 million shares 
pursuamt thereto. 

On March 7, 1997, Conrail and CSX entered into a Third Amendment 
(the "Third Amendment") to the Merger Agreement, Pursuant to the 
Third Amendment, (i) the price per share has been increased from $110 
to $115, and the number of shares to be purchase!? in the tender offer 
has been increased to a l l outstanding shares. Tne tender offer i s 
scheduled to close April 18, 1997 (subject to extension by CSX to June 
2, 1997 whether or not the conditions have been satisfied), ( i i ) the 
consideration paid per share in the merger for a l l remaining 
outstanding shares following consummation of the offer has been 
increased to $115 in cash and ( i i i ) the conditions to the offer 
relating to certain provisions of Pennsylvania law becoming 
inapplicable to Conrail and relating pending governmental actions or 
proceedings have been deleted. 

The Third Amendment also provides that Ĉ X will have sole control 
over the regulatory approval process and will be free to conduct by 
itself discussions with other railroads, including Norfolk, relating 
to competitive issues raised by the CSX transactions, and to enter 
into any resulting agreement. It is anticipated that CSX and Norfolk 
will negotiate an appropriate division of Conrail's assets,- however, 
neither the pending CSX tender offer nor the merger is conditioned on 
CSX's reaching an agreement with Norfolk. 

Pursuant to the Third Amendment, three members of Conrail's Board 
•of Directors approved by CSX shall be invited to join the CSX Board of 
Directors and a transition team will be established, the leadership of 
which will include senior executive officers of CSX and Conrail tc 
ensure the orderly operation of Conrail during the regulatory approval 
process and an orderly transition thereafter. 

Under the Third Amendment, Conrail and CSX agreed to reduce from 
December 31, 1998 to December 31, 1997 the period of time during which 
the Conra::; Board is prohibited from (i) withdrawing or modifying, or 
publicly proposing to withdraw or modify, i t s approval or 
recommendation of the CSX transactions, in a manner adverse to CSX, 
(ii) approving or recommending, or publicly proposing to approve or 
recommend, any competing proposal or ( i i i ) causing Conrail to enter 
into any agreement related to dro' such competing proposal. 

Under the Merger Agreement at amended, Conrail may terminate the 
Merger Agreement in the event that after June 2, 1997, CSX fails to 
consummate the tender offer for any reason other than the non­
occurrence of any condition to the tender offer. In the event that 
CSX fails to consummate the tender offer under such circum.stances. 
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Conrail will bs entitled to exercise any additional remedies i t may 
have. 

The full terms and conditions of the CSx and Norfolk offers and 
Conrail's position with respect to the CSX and Norfolk offers are set 
forth in documents filed by Conrail with the Securities and Exchange 
CORsniESion, 

RAIL OPERATIONS. The Company provides freight transportation 
services within the northeast and midwest United States. The Company 
interchanges freight with other United States and Canadian railroads 
for transport to destinations within and outside the Company's service 
region. The Company operates no significant line of business other 
than the freight railroad business and does not provide common carrier 
passenger or commuter train service. 

The Company serves a heavily industrial region that i s marked by 
dense population centers which constitute a substantial market for 
consumer durable and non-durable goods, and a market for raw materials 
used m manufacturing and by electric u t i l i t i e s . The Company's traffic 
levels are substantially affected by its ability to com.pete with 
trucks and other railroads, the economic strength of the industries 
and metropolitan areas that produce and consume the freight the 
Company hauls, and the traffic generated by the Company s connecting 
railroads. The Company remains dependent on non-bulk traffic, which 
tends to generate higher revenues than bulk commodities, but also 
involves higher costs and is more vulnerable to truck competition. 

As of December 31, 1996, the Company (excluding subsidiaries) 
maintained 16,970 miles of track including track for crossovers, 
turnouts, second main, other main, passing and switch track, on i t s 
10,543 mile route system. Of total route miles, 8,459 are owned, 87 
are leased or operated under contract and 1,997 are operated under 
trackage rights, including approximately 300 miles operated pursuant 
to an easement over Amtrak's Northeast Corridor. As of December 31, 
1996, virtually a l l track over which at least 10 million gross tons 
moved annually (5,923 track miles) was heavy-weight r a i l of at least 
127 pounds per yard, and 100% ot such track had continuous welded 
ra i l . Continuous welded ra i l reduces track maintenance costs and, in 
general, permits trains to travel at higher speeds. As of December 
31, 1996, the Company had 8,804 miles of continuous welded r a i l on 
track i t maintained. 

As of December 31, 1996, B3% of the 3,814 track miles maintained 
for fast freight traffic had a maxitmim operating speed of 50 MPH or 
more, and 70% had a maximum operating speed of at least 60 MPH, As of 
December 31, 1996, approximately 96% of the track over which at least 
10 million gross tons moved annually was govemed by automatic signal 
systems. In a l l , as of December 31, 1996, 7,656 miles of track were 
controlled by automatic signal systems. 

3 
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The Company is engaged in an ongoing process to identify certain 
xinder-utilized r a i l lines and other underperforming assets to avoid 
future capital costs and to improve its retum on assets. The Company 
recorded a $283 million charge in 1995 to cover the expected losses 
upon disposition of approximately 1,800 miles of lines and other 
assets not required to support the Company's service. See Note 11 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

The CoTipany owns (or uses subject to capitalized leases) 2,006 
locomotives with an average age of 15.6 years and 45,98£ freight cars 
of various types (including 21,435 freight cars under operating 
leases) with an average age of 22 years, 

GOVERNMENT REGULATION. The Coirpany is subject to environmental, 
safety, ar.d other reg-alations generally applicable to a l l businesses, 
and its rail operations are also regulated by the Department of 
Transportation ("DOT"), the Federal Railroad Administration ("FRA"), 
state Departments of Transportation and some state and local 
regulatory agencies. 

The DOT has jurisdiction over, among other things, rates charged 
for certain traffic movements, service levels and freight car rents. 
It also has jurisdiction over the situations and terms under which one 
railroad may gain access to another railroad's traffic or facilities, 
extension or abandonment of r a i l lines, consolidation, merger, or 
acquisition of control of ra i l common carriers and tsf other carriers 
by'rail common carriers, and labor protection provisions in connection 
with the foregoing. 

Under The Staggers Rail Act of 1980, federal regulation of rates 
and services was reduced. The regulatory scheme, now administered by 
the Surface Transportation Board, continues the ICC's prior 
deregulation of rates for intermodal traffic, most boxcar traffic and 
a series of miscellaneous commodities, including steel and 
automobiles. In addition, railroads are free to negotiate contracts 
with shippers setting rates, service standards and the terms for 
movementi; of other kinds of traffic. As a result, railroads have 
greater flexibility in adjusting rates and services to meet revenue 
needs and competitive conditions. 

The FRA has jurisdiction over safety and railroad equipment 
standards. 

The Company's r a i l operations are also subject to a variety of 
governmental laws amd regulations relating to the protection of the 
environment. In addition to being involved as a potentially 
responsible party at numerous Superfund sites (see Item 3 - "Legal 
Proceedings"), the Coirpany is subject to increasing regulation of it s 
transportation and hardling of certain hazardous and non-hazardous 
commodities and waste .>?hich has resulted in additional administrative 
and operating costs. Also, on February 11, 1997, t-.he United States 
Environmental Protection Aoe.-.cy published in the Federal Register 
Proposed Rule "Emissions Standards for Locomoti>'es and Locomotive 
Engines," According to the Proposed Rule, locomotive engines (other 
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than those defined as new or remanufactur»d) may be regulated by the 
states. Additional investments will likely be required to bring 
other than new locomotives into compliance, although the timing and 
amount of the investments will not be determinable until the 
legislation is adopted. Compliance with existing laws and regulations 
relating to the protection of the environment has not had a material 
effect on the Company's capital expenditures, earnings or competitive 
condition. (See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report,) 

ULSffi-l. Legal Proceedings. 

Occupational Disease Litiq;<t:tffp. The Company has been named as a 
defendant in lawsuits filed pursuant to the provisions of the Federal 
Employers' Liability Act ("FELA") by persons alleging (1) personal 
injury or death caused by exposure to asbestos in connertion with 
railroad employment (2) conplete or partial loss of h-iariug caused by 
exposure to excessive noise in the course of railroad employment,- (3) 
repetitive motion injury in connection with railroad employment; and 
(4) personal injury or death caused by exposure to deleterious 
substances (mixed dusts, fumes, chemicals, etc.) As of December 31, 
1996, the Company was a defendant in 559 pending asbestos suits, 545 
pending hearing loss suits, -1,318 repetitive motion injury suits and 
374 pending deleterious substance suits, and had notice of 1,293 
potential asbestosis claims, 2,734 potential hearing loss claims, 
2,112 potential repetitive motion injury claims and"56 deleterious 
substance claims. 

The Company expects to be named as a defe.idar.t. in a significant 
number of occupational disea,se cases in the future, 

Vorfolk Southern Corp.. et al. v. Ccnrail. On October 23, 1996, 
Norfolk filed a Com.plaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief (as 
amended on October 30. 1996, the "Complaint"), with respect to the 
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, in the United 
States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. 
Norfolk named CSX, Conrail and certain directors of Conrail as 
defendants. The Complaint in it s currently amended form alleges, 
among other things, violations of: (l) fiduciary duties by the 
Conrail Board; (2) Conrail's Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws; 
and (3) Pennsylvania statutory law. 

In addition, Norfolk alleges that the CSX tender offer is 
coercive and unfair to Conrail shareholders; that certain provisions 
in the Merger Agreement prohibiting Conrail from changing i t s 
recommendation of the transaction or agreeing to a com.peting 
transaction, is ultra vires and a breach of the Conrail Board's 
fiduciary duties; and that Conrail and CSX violated disclosure 
provisions of the federal securities laws relating to tender offers 
and proxy solicitations through the misrepresentation and omission of 
material facts. 

Norfolk has requested prelim.inary and permanent injunctive and 
declaratory relief including, without limitation, an injunction to 
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prevent defendants from: (i) continuing a tender offer for the 
Conrail shares, (2) taking any action to enforce certain provisions of 
the Merger Agreement, and (3; failing to take actons necessary to 
exempt Norfolk's proposal to acquire Conrail from certain provisions 
of Pennsylvania statutory law. 

Conrail believes that the claims set forth ^y Norfolk are 
entirely without merit, and November 12, 1996, Conrail filed a 
motion to dismiss Norfolk's complaint in its entirety. The Federal 
District Court and the Third Circuit Court of Appeals have denied 
Norfolk's requests for the preliminary injunctions. 

Punitive Damage Awards in Ohio Cross!̂ -,0 Accident Cas££. The 
Company has recently received adverse jury verdicts in th.. ee separate 
crossing accident cases in Ohio; Garrett and Gollihue v. Consolidated 
Rail Corp.; Wightman v. Consolidated Rail Corp.; and Moore, et al. 
V, Consolidated Rail Corp. In each case, the jury awarded substantial 
punitive damages in connection with property damage resulting from the 
accidents. Collectively, the total punitive damage awards total 
approximately $30 million, based on property damage that totals less 
than $5,000, The Company believes that, ultimately, these awards 
should not be sustainable due to their failure to bear a reasonable 
relationship to the amount of physical proo^^ty damage involved, and 
has appealed. Ohio law prohibits the aworo of punitive damages in 
co.inection with a wrongful death action. 

Structure and Crossing Removal Disputes in Connection With Lines 
Abandoned Under )TERSA. The Company may be responsible, in whole or in 
part, for the costs of removal of several hundred overhead and 
underpass crossings located on railroad lines i t has abandoned under 
NERSA (and, in some instances, responsible for the removal of the 
lines of railroad themselves as well as appurtenant structures). The 
Company's liability for the removal of such lines, crossings and 
structures will be determined on a case-by-case basis, and is 
dependent upon the circumstances under which each was constructed, the 
nature of the Company's property interest with respect to such 
structures, the existence of contracts pertaining to such crossings 
and structures, ar.d applicable federal and state law. Some states 
have imposed upon the Company the obligation to remove certain 
crossings. 
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Er.jelhart v. Conrail. in connection with the Special Voluntary 
Retirement Program offered to certain employees in late 1989 and early 
1990, the Company used surplus fundi? in i t s over-funded Supplemental 
Pension Plan ("Plan") to fund certain aspects of that program. In 
December 1992, certain former Company employees brought suit 
challenging the use of surplus Plan funds (a) to pay administrative 
Plan expenses p'-sviously paid by the Company, (b) to fund the Special 
Voluntary Retirement Program, and (c) to pay l i f e insurance and 
medical insurance premiums of former employees as improper and 
unlawful, and alleging that employees who have made contributions to 
the Plan or i t s prrdecessor plans are entitled to share in the surplus 
assets of the Plan. In August, 1993, the court granted the Company's 
Motion to Dismiss the majority of the counts in the complaint, but 
refused to dismiss the issue of the Company's use of Plan assets to 
pay administrative expenses of the Plan, which are estimated to be 
approximately $40 million at December 31, 1996. The Company believes 
that the use of surplus Plan assets for this purpose was lawful and 
proper. On September 16, 1996, the Judge granted the Company's motion 
for summary judgment on a l l of the claims except for one individual 
participant claim. P.''aintiffs have appealled those c.?aims as to which 
they received an adverse ruling. 

r.wironmental Litigation. The Company i s subject to various 
federal, state and local laws and regulations regarding environmental 
matters. In certain instances, the Company has received notices cf 
violations of such laws and regulations and either has taken or plans 
to take appropriate steps to address the problems cited or to contest 
the allegations of violation. As of December 31, 1996, the Company 
had received inqjiries from governmental agencies or h*** been 
identified, together with other com.panies, as a potentially 
responsible party for cleanup and/or removal costs due to i t s status 
as an alleged transporter, generator or property owner at 135 
locations t.hrcughout the country. However, the Company, through i t s 
own investigations and assessments, believes i t may have some 
potential responsibility at only 61 of these ©ates. The amounts the 
Company has accrued with respect tr the proceedings l i f t e d below are 
included in i t s $55 million accrual for estimated future _nvironmental 
expenses. (See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report.) The sigiiificant 
environmental proceedings, including Superfund sites, are discussed 
below. 

United States v. Scutheastem rennsvlvania Transportation 
Authority ("SEPTA"). National Railroad Passenger Corporation 
("A.Ttrak"). and Cc.nsrl idated Rail Corr-oration. In March 1986, the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") f i l e d an action 
in the United States D i s t r i c t Court for the Eastem D i s t r i c t of 
Pennsylvania for cost recovery, injunctive r e l i e f , and a declaratory 
judgment e^gainst the Company, Southeastem Pennsylvania Transpcrtation 
Authority ("SEPTA") and National Railroad Passenger Corp. ("Amtrak") 
under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and 
Lia b i l i t y Act of :980 ("CERCLA" or "Superfund Law"), as amended. In 
1990, the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Resources 
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intervened as a plaintiff. Suit is based on the release or threatened 
release at the Paoli Railrood Yard, Paoli, Chester County, 
Pennsylvania, of polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBs"), a listed 
hazardous substance under CERCLA. 

Pursuant to a series of partial preliminary con§ent decrees, 
defendants have performed a series of cleanup actions both on and off-
site and have conducted a Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study 
("RI/FS"). Those costs have been shared equally among the three 
defendants but are subject to reallocation. 

The estimated cost of the Company's portion of a remedy proposed 
by the parties was included in tne 1991 special charge and subsequent 
adjustments to accruals. EPA and the railroad parties have entered 
into a tentative settlement agreement regarding EPA's claim for past 
costs, as well as federal and state natural resource damages. As part 
of the settlement, Amtrak, SEPTA and the Company have committed to 
perform the on-site remedy for the r a i l yard. 

United States v. Conrail. The EPA has listed the Company's 
Elkhart Yard on the National Priorities List. The Ei-A contends that 
chemicals have migrated from the yard and contaminated drinking wells 
in the area. On February 14, 1990, EPA filed a c i v i l action against 
the Company in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of 
Indiana seeking recovery of approximately $345,000 for costs incurred 
in protecting the water supply. In addition, EPA seeks a declaratory 
judgment against the Company for a l l future costs incurred in 
responding to the release or threatened release of hazardous 
substances from the site. Thf Company believes i t is not the sole 
source and may not be a contri.buting source to the contamination 
alleged by EPA, 

The Company filed a third-party action joining Penn Central as a 
defendant. The Company and Penn Central have negotiated an interim, 
cost sharing arrangement for the cost of implementing the EPA's 19S2 
interim record of decision, which is substantially complete. On May 
15, 1995 EPA issued an Administrative Order to the Company and Penn 
Central requiring the extension of public water hook-up to an 
additional 700 - 1,000 residences and businesses in the site area. 
Th;» Conpany and Penn Central have agreed that each company would 
conply with the Order. The cost for providing public water to the 
remaining residencec is estimated to be in excess of $6 million, which 
will be apportioned between Penn Central and the Company according to 
the interim cost sharing arrangement that has been negotiated. The 
Company and Penn Central are attempting to negotiate a final 
settlement with EPA of the matter. 

United States v. Consolidated Rail Corp.. et al (Berks Superfund 
Site), The Company has been identified as the fifth largest generator 
of waste oil at the Berks Associates Superfund site in Douglasville, 
Pennsylvania. In addition, the Company has become aware that i t and 
its predecessor, Penn Central, owned a small portion of land that was 
lea.sed to the operator of the Berks site. As such, the Company's 
liability could increase due to its questionable status as both an 
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owner and a generator. In August 1991, the EPA issued an 
administrative order against the Company and thirty-five other 
entities mandating the implementation of an approximately $2 million 
partial remedy and filed a conplaint in the U.S. District Court for 
the recovery of approximately $8 million in costs incurred by the 
govemment. The parties have negotiated an administrafLve order with 
the EPA and have filed an answer to the c i v i l action. A group of 
potentially responsible parties (including the Company) undertook 
compliance with the administrative order. The Company and the JO 
other defendants I. ve filed a third-party complaint against 
approximately 630 entities seeking contribution for the costs of the 
remedy and govemment costs. The Conpany, along with other 
defendants, is negotiating a settlement with the EPA. On June 30, 
1993, the EPA issued another administrative order against the Company 
and 33 other entities, mandating the remediation of the southem 
portion of the site. The EPA has requested a feasibility study for 
the inplementation of a less expensive remedy for the southem portion 
of the site, which remedy would range from approximately $10-$12 
million. The Company's share of such a remedy has not yet been 
determined. In addition, the PADER has filed a complaint for the 
recovery of natural resource damages. 

United Scrap Lead - Troy. OH. The Company is a potentially 
responsible party, along with m.ore than 50 other partifs, in the 
United Scrap Lead federal Superfund action in Troy, 01.xo, where 
substantial quantities of batteries were disposed of over a period of 
several years. EPA sued the Company and nine other parties in Aug-jst 
1951 for the recovery of approximately $2,000,000 in past costs. The 
Company and other PRP's have commissioned treatability studies. The 
parties are negotiating over the nature of the remediation to be 
undertaken at the site. EPA has selected a preferred alternative with 
an estimated total cost of $33 million, which the PRP group is 
challenging. The Company's estimated share of any remedial costs is 
8%. 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts v. Conrail (Locomotive Emissior.) , 
On April 21, 1992, the Massachusetts Attorney General filed suit in 
state court alleging the Company's violation of the Massachusetts 
Cledn Air Act by allowing diesel engines to idle unnecessarily and/or 
in excess of thirty (30) minutes. On May 4, 1992, the court entered a 
preliminary injunction, the terms of which are substantially those 
embcidied in the Company's existing idling policy. The Attomey 
General has filed a complaint alleging the Company's violation of the 
preliminary injunction. On February 2, 1993, the parties entered into 
a partial settlement agreement; however, the Attorney General has 
alleged that the Company has failed to comply with certain provisions 
of the settlement. The Company continues to attempt to settle the 
matter with the Attomey General's office. 

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation Order On 
Consent (SeDcirk Yard). On July 31, 1996, the New York State 
Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) served the Company 
with a revised draft Order on Consent requiring the pa>'ment of a 
penalty of $250,000 in connection with i t s inspection of Selkirk Yard. 
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A revised Order wa's received by the Company on August 6, 1996, 
requiring the payment of fines in connection with the 1991 inspection 
and mandates assessment and remediation of the facility. The Company 
is negotiating the terms of the order with NYSDEC. 

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation Order on 
Consent (DeWitt Yard) • On November 3. 1994, NYSDEC ser'/ed the Company 
with a Consent Order in connection with the iilieged discharge of waste 
water from DeWitt Yard, Onondaga County, New York into New York state 
waters. On June 17, 1996, a revised Consent Order was issued to the 
Company which added American Financial Group (Penn Central Corp.) as a 
named responsible party for the payment of penalties and preparation 
of a Site Assessment and Remediation Plan, The Company and American 
Financial Group are negotiating the terms of the Order with NYSDEC. 

In the Matter of Conrail. Ashtabula. OH. On September 21, 1994, 
the EPA filed an Administrative Conplaint against the Conpany seeking 
civ i l penalties of $125,000 for certain alleged violations of its 
National Pollutants Discharge Emissions System permit. On November 
27, 1995, EPA filed a separate Administrative Conplaint seeking c i v i l 
penalties for alleged violations of regulatory requirements pertaining 
to on-site petroleum storage. The Com.pany has reached agreement with 
EPA to jointly settle these matters for $150,000. 

Conway Yard. Pittsburgh. In 1991, the Company received Notices 
of Violation ("NOV") from the Pennsylvania DER ("PAIIER") alleging 
violations of the Clean Stream.s Act for discharges of oil into the 
Ohio River. In September 1993, PADER sent to the Company a draft 
Ccisent Order and Agreement requiring a rorprehensive site remed.aticn 
for soil, ground water, surface waters and sediments at the Conway 
Railyard and requiring the payment of ci v i l fines in connection with 
violations at the yard. The Company and FADER continue to negotiate 
the extent of the investiga.:ion and remediation to be ur.Jertaken at 
the yard. 

Other, In addition to the above proceedings, the Company has 
been named in various legal proceedings arising out of its activities 
as an employer and as an operator of a freight railroad, including 
personal injury actions brought by i t s employees under FELA, as well 
as administrative proceedings with and investigation by government 
agencies. 

In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of 
legal proceedings, particularly in certain matters described above in 
which sub.'Jtantial damages are or may be sought, the Company cannot 
state what the eventual outcomes of such legal proceedings will be. 
Certain of these matters, i f determined adversely to the Company, 
could result in the imposition of substantial damage awards against, 
or increased costs to, the Company that could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company's results of operations and financial position. 
The Company's management believes, however, based on current 
knowledge, that such legal proceedings will not have a material 
adverse effect on the Company's financial position. 
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vofp of Security Holders. 

Information omitted i n accordance with General Instruction 
1(2) (C) . 

PART I I 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Eouitv 
and Related Stockholdgr Matters. 

A l l Of the common stock of the Company is held by Conrail. 
Accordingly, there i s no market for the Company's common stock. See 
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements elsewhere i n this 
Annual Report for information with respect to dividends paid by the 
Conpany. 

Item 6. gff?pr<"P^ Fingineial Data. 

Information omitted i n accordance with General Instruction 
1(2)(a). 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations, 

See General Instruction I (2) (a) 

Results of Operations 

19S6 Compared with 1995 

Net income for 1996 was $335 million, compared with $256 m.illion for 
1995. Results for 1996 include a one-time charge of $83 m i l l i o n (net 
of $52 million of tax benefits) related to voluntary separation 
programs and related costs and merger-related expenses of $10 m i l l i o n 
(net of $6 million of tax benefits) incurred i,'; connection with the 
proposed merger with CSX Corporation ("CSX") (see Notes 3 and 2, 
respectively, to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere i n this Annual Report), Without these charges, net income 
for 1996 would have been $428 million. 

The results for 1995 include the effects of a $283 m i l l i o n asset 
disposition charge ($175 mil l i o n after income taxes) and the 
recognition of a $21 m i l l i o n reduction i n income taxes related to a 
decrease i n a state tax rate (see Notes 11 and 8, respectively, to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere i n t h i s Annual 
Report). 

Operating revenues (primarily freight l i r e haul revenues, but also 
including switching, demurrage and incidental revenue) increased $16 
mi"!lion,'or .4%, to $3,684 million i n 1996 from $3,668 m i l l i o n i n 
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1995, A 2,1% increase in traffic volume in units (freight cars and 
intermodal trailers and containers) resulted in a $74 million increase 
in revenues. Average revenue per unit decreased revenues by $42 
million due to an unfavorable treffic mix. A traffic volume increase 
of 7.6% was experiencc-a by the Intermodal Service Group while traffic 
volume for the Unit Train Service Group remained unchanged. The 
Automotive and CORE service groups experienced traffic volume declines 
of 1,7% and 1.6%, respectively. Within the CORE Service Group, 
traffic volume declines were experienced by three of the four 
commodity groups: Forest and Manufactured Products, 5,3%; Food and 
Agriculture, 2.8%; and Petrochemicals, 2.5%. Metals experienced a 
traffic increase of 4.0%. 

Operating expenses (including one-time charges and merger-related 
costs in 1996 and the asset disposition charge in 1995) decreased $127 
million, or 4,0%, from $3,213 million in 1995 to $3,086 million in 
1996, The following table sets forth the operating expenses for the 
two years: 

Increase 
(In Millions) 1996 1995 (Decreas 

Compensation and benefits $1,204 $1,247 $ (43) 
Fuel 202 168 34 
Material and supplies 175 167 9 
Equipment rents 382 355 27 
Depreciation and amortization 282 293 (11) 
Casualties and insurance 179 178 1 
Other 527 522 5 
Voluntary separation programs 135 135 
Asset disposition charge 283 (283) 

$3,086 $3,213 $(127) 
B E S s s 

Compensation and benefits decreased $13 million, or 3.4%, as a result 
of reductions in employment levels and other employee-related costs. 
7hese decreases were partially offset by increased wage rates dv.£ to 
new labor agreements, increased train crew costs and overtime caused 
by adverse weather conditions experienced during the f i r s t quarter cf 
1996. Compensation and benefits as a percent of revenues was 32.7% in 
1996 as compared with 34,0% in 1995. 

Fuel costs increased $34 million, or '̂ 0,2%, due mostly to higher fuel 
prices. 

Equipment rents increased $27 million, or 7.6%, primarily as a result 
of declines in equipment utilization and increased car hire rates. 

The Company recorded a one-time pre-tax charge of $135 million in 1996 
for the voluntary separation program.s and related costs (see Note 3 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this 
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Annual Report) and an asset disposition charge of $283 million in 1995 
(see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere i.i this Annual Report) . 

The Company's operating ratio (operating expenses as a percent of 
revenues) was 83.8% for 1996, conpared with 87.6% for 1995. Without 
the one-time charges recorded in 1996 and 1995 and the merger-related 
costs of $16 million incurred in 1996, the operating ratios would have 
been 79,7% and 79.9%, respectively,' 

Other income decreased $19 million, or 17,1%, from $111 million in 
1995 to $92 m.illion in 1996 primarily due to decreases in rental 
income and lesser gains from sales of property. 

The Conpany's effective income tax rate for 1996 was 35,1% conpared 
with 32,8% for 1995. The lower effective rate in 1995 i s primarily 
caused by a $21 million reduction in income taxes as a result of a 
decrease in state incom.e taxes (see Note 8 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report). 
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Item 8 Financia] t̂̂ tî jrfcms and Supplementarv Data 

Report oilDdependeot Accountants 

The Stockholder and Board of Directors 
Consolidated Rail Corporation 

In our opinion, the consoBdatcd finandaJ sutements lifted in the index appearing under Item 
14 (a) 1. and 2. present fairiy, in all material respcas, the financial position of Consolidated Rail 
Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31.1996 and 1995, tnd the results of their operations 
tnd their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1996, in 
conformity wiih generally accepted accounting principles These fintncial statements tre the 
responMbility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial sutements based on our audits We conducted our audits of these statements in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perfonm the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are firee of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
dLsdosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles lised and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

Price Waterhouse LLP 
Thirty South Seventeenth Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 

January 21, 1997, 
except ts to Note 2, which is as of] 4arch 7,1997 
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CONSOLIDATED RAIL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

($ In Millions Except Per Share Data) 

Revaauas 

Oparating axpansas 
Way and structures 
Equipment 
Transportation 
General and administrative 
Voluntary separation programs (Note 3) 
Asset d i spos i t ion charge (Note 11) 
Early retirement program fNote 12) 

Tota l operating expenses 

Income from operations 
Interest expense 
Other income, net (Note 13) 

Income before income taxes 

Income taxes (Note 8) 

Met inco&e 

Ratio of •amisgs to f ixed charges 
(Not* 1) 

Yaars anded Deceaber 31, 

1996 1995 1994 

<3,€84 $3,668 $3,716 

4S3 486 500 
803 767 816 

1,361 1,311 1,366 
324 366 347 
135 

283 
84 

3,086 3,213 3,113 

598 455 603 
(174) (185) (178) 1 
92 111 101 

516 381 526 

181 125 207 ' 

$ 335 $ 256 $ 319 
S B S S E S B X S C S K « E X S S S 

3.20X 2.52X 3.29X 

See accompanying notes, 
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CONSOLIDATED RAIL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

Decaaaber 31, 

($ In Millions) 1996 1995 

ASSETS 
Curraat assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Deferred tax assets (Note 8) 
Material and supplies 
Other current assets 

$ 17 
629 
285 
139 
22 

$ 58 
624 
325 
158 
26 

Total current assets 1,092 1,191 

Property and equipsiant, net (Mot* 5) 
Other assets 

6,590 
671 

6,408 
788 

Total assets 18,353 
mmmmmm 

$8,387 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s 

Short-term borrowings 
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 7) 
Accounts payable 
Wages and em,ployee benefits 
Casualty reserves 
Accrued and ether current l i a b i l i t i e s (Note 6) 

99 
130 
160 
•143 
13 8 
445 

39 
ISI 
126 
182 
107 
492 

Total current l i a b i l i t i e s 1,115 1,177 

Losg-tcxv dabt (Note 7) 
Casualty reserves 
Deferred income taxes (Note 8) 
Special income tax obligation (Not* 8) 
Other l i a b i l i t i e s 

1,876 
190 

1,484 
346 
107 

1, 911 
217 

1,401 
440 
312 

Total l i a b i l i t i e s 5,318 5,458 

Ccanmitments and contingencies (Note 14) 
Stockholder's equity (Note 10) 

Preferred stock (no par value; 25,000,000 
shares authorized; l share issued) 

Common stoclc ($1 par value; 250,000,000 
shares authorized; 100 shares issued and 
outstanding) 

Additional paid-in capital 
Note receivable from ESOP 
Retained eamings 

2,151 
(294) 

1,178 

2,130 
(305) 

1,104 

Total stocltholder's equity 3,035 2,929 

Total l i a b i l i t i e s and stockholder's equity $C,353 $8,387 

See accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATBD RAIL CORPORATIOM 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDER'S KQaiTT 

Additional Note 
Preferred Connnon Paid-in Receivable Retained 

($ In Millions Except Per Share Data) _Stock Stock Capital Prom BSOP Earnings 

Balance, January 1, 1994 $ - $ . $2,123 $(308) $ 928 
Net income 329 
Connnon dividends (Note 4) (170) 
Other 5 (4, 

Balance, Deceodber 31, 1994 - - 128 (312) 1 077 
Net income '256 
Common dividends (Note 4) /9?o» 
Other 2 7 

Other 21 11 

s s s: s B 

17 

1,104 g Balance, December 31, 1995 - - 2,130 (305) 
Net income "'335 
Common dividends (Note 4) (261) 

:s & •; = s a 

Balance, December 31, 1996 $ - $ - $2,151 $(294) $1,178 
IB is s s s 

See accompanying notes. 



CONSOLIDATED RAIL CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OP CASH PLOWS 

Years ended Deceaber 31, 

($ I n Mil l i o n s ) 

Cash flow* from operating a c t i v i t i e s 
Net inco«ne 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to 
net cash provided by operating a c t i v i t i e s : 
Vol'ontary separation programs 
Asset d i s p o s i t i o n charge 
Early retirement program 
Depreciation and amortization 
Deferred income taxes 
Special income tax o b l i g a t i o n 
Gains from sales of property 
Pension c r e d i t 
Changes i n : 

Accounts receivable 
Accounts and vages payable 

Settlement of tax audit 
Other 

Net cash provided by operating 
a c t i v i t i e s 

Cash flows from investing a c t i v i t i e s 
Property and equipment acquisitions 
Proceeds from disposals of properties 
Other 

Net cash used i n investing a c t i v i t i e s 

Cash flows from financing a c t i v i t i e s 
Net proceeds from (repayments of) 

short-term borrowings 
Proceeds from long-term debt 
Payment of long-term debt 
Loans froin and redemptions of 

insurance p o l i c i e s 
Dividends on common stock 
Other 

Net cash used i n financing 
a c t i v i t i e s 

Increase(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Beginning of year 

End of year 

See accompanying notes. 

1996 . 1995 1994 

$ 335 $ 256 $ 319 

135 
283 

•4 
282 293 278 
180 108 150 
(94) (73) (€2) 
(24) (27) (18) 
(46) (43) (46) 

(5) 2f 1 
(5) 17 22 

(39) 
(62) (116) (94) 

657 724 634 

(387) (415) (490) 
34 37 32 

(46) (45) (18) 

(399) (423) (476) 

10 (23) 33 
26 85 114 

(184) (133) (158) 

95 
(261) (229) (170) 
15 26 26 

(299) (274) (. 53) 

(41) 27 5 

58 31 26 

t 17 $ 58 $ 31 
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